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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”). Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about our beliefs and expectations, are
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include statements preceded by, followed by or that include
the words “may,” “could,” “would,” “should,” believe,” “expect,” anticipate,” “plan,” “estimate,” “target,” “project,” “intend,” “understand,” or
similar expressions and the negative of such words and expressions, although not all forward-looking statements
contain such words or expressions.

Forward-looking statements are only predictions and are not guarantees of performance. These statements generally
relate to our plans, objectives and expectations for future operations and are based on management’s current beliefs and
assumptions, which in turn are based on its experience and its perception of historical trends, current conditions and
expected future developments as well as other factors it believes are appropriate under the circumstances. Although
we believe that the plans, objectives and expectations reflected in or suggested by the forward-looking statements are
reasonable, there can be no assurance that actual results will not differ materially from those expressed or implied in
such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements also involve risks and uncertainties. Many of these risks
and uncertainties are beyond our ability to control or predict and could cause results to differ materially from the
results discussed in such forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the
following:

·our ability to raise additional capital to fund future capital expenditures;

·our ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations, borrowings or other sources to enable us to fully develop
and produce our oil and natural gas properties;

·our ability to comply with debt covenants;

·declines or volatility in the prices we receive for our oil and natural gas;

·general economic conditions, whether internationally, nationally or in the regional and local market areas in which
we do business;

·risks associated with drilling, including completion risks, cost overruns and the drilling of non-economic wells or dry
holes;

·uncertainties associated with estimates of proved oil and natural gas reserves;

· the presence or recoverability of estimated oil and natural gas reserves and the actual future production rates and
associated costs;

·risks and liabilities associated with acquired companies and properties;

·risks related to integration of acquired companies and properties;

·potential defects in title to our properties;
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·cost and availability of drilling rigs, equipment, supplies, personnel and oilfield services;

·geological concentration of our reserves;

·environmental or other governmental regulations, including legislation of hydraulic fracture stimulation;

·our ability to secure firm transportation for oil and natural gas we produce and to sell the oil and natural gas at market
prices;

·exploration and development risks;

·management’s ability to execute our plans to meet our goals;

·our ability to retain key members of our management team;

·weather conditions;

·actions or inactions of third-party operators of our properties;

·costs and liabilities associated with environmental, health and safety laws;

·our ability to find and retain highly skilled personnel;

·operating hazards attendant to the oil and natural gas business;

·competition in the oil and natural gas industry; and

·the other factors discussed under Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in this report.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date hereof. All such forward-looking statements and any subsequent
written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf are expressly
qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section and any other cautionary
statements that may accompany such forward-looking statements. Except as otherwise required by applicable law, we
disclaim any duty to update any forward-looking statements.
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Glossary of Oil and Natural Gas Terms

The following are abbreviations and definitions of terms commonly used in the oil and natural gas industry and this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

“Bbl” One stock tank barrel or 42 U.S. gallons liquid volume of oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

“Boe” One barrel of oil equivalent, determined using the ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of oil and 42 gallons
of natural gas liquids to one Bbl of oil.

“Boe/d” Boe per day.

“Btu” A British thermal unit is a measurement of the heat generating capacity of natural gas. One Btu is the heat
required to raise the temperature of a one-pound mass of pure liquid water one degree Fahrenheit at the temperature at
which water has its greatest density (39 degrees Fahrenheit).

“completion” The process of treating a drilled well followed by the installation of permanent equipment for the
production of oil or natural gas, or in the case of a dry well, the reporting of abandonment to the appropriate agency.

“condensate” A mixture of hydrocarbons that exists in the gaseous phase at original reservoir temperature and pressure,
but that, when produced, is in the liquid phase at surface pressure and temperature.

“developed acreage” The number of acres that are allocated or assignable to productive wells or wells capable of
production.

“development costs” Costs incurred to obtain access to proved reserves and to provide facilities for extracting, treating,
gathering and storing the oil and natural gas. More specifically, development costs, including depreciation and
applicable operating costs of support equipment and facilities and other costs of development activities, are costs
incurred to:

·
gain access to and prepare well locations for drilling, including surveying well locations for the purpose of
determining specific development drilling sites, clearing ground, draining, road building, and relocating public roads,
natural gas lines, and power lines, to the extent necessary in developing the proved reserves;

·drill and equip development wells, development-type stratigraphic test wells, and service wells, including the costs of
platforms and of well equipment such as casing, tubing, pumping equipment, and the wellhead assembly;

·
acquire, construct, and install production facilities such as lease flow lines, separators, treaters, heaters, manifolds,
measuring devices, and production storage tanks, natural gas cycling and processing plants, and central utility and
waste disposal systems; and

· provide improved recovery systems.
“development well” A well drilled within the proved area of an oil or natural gas reservoir to the depth of a stratigraphic
horizon known to be productive.

“dry well” A well found to be incapable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such that proceeds from the
sale of such production exceed production expenses and taxes.

“exploration costs” Costs incurred in identifying areas that may warrant examination and in examining specific areas
that are considered to have prospects of containing oil and natural gas reserves, including costs of drilling exploratory
wells and exploratory-type stratigraphic test wells.
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“exploratory well” A well drilled for the purpose of discovering new reserves in unproven areas.

“field” An area consisting of a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs all grouped on, or related to, the same individual
geological structural feature or stratigraphic condition. The field name refers to the surface area, although it may refer
to both the surface and the underground productive formations.

“formation” A layer of rock which has distinct characteristics that differ from nearby rock.
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“gross acres” The total acres in which a working interest is owned.

“Henry Hub” The pricing point for natural gas futures contracts traded on the NYMEX.

“horizontal well” A well that is drilled vertically to a certain depth and then drilled at a right angle within a specific
interval.

“hydraulic fracturing” or “fracing” A process involving the injection of fluids, usually consisting mostly of water, but
typically including small amounts of sand and other chemicals, in order to create fractures extending from the
wellbore through the rock formation to enable oil or natural gas to move more easily through the rock pores to a
production well.

“lease operating expenses” The expenses, usually recurring, which pay for operating the wells and equipment on a
producing lease.

“MBbl” One thousand barrels of oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

“MBoe” One thousand barrels of oil equivalent.

“Mcf” One thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

“Mcf/d” One thousand cubic feet of natural gas per day.

“MMBoe” One million barrels of oil equivalent.

“MMBtu” One million British thermal units.

“MMcf” One million cubic feet of natural gas.

“natural gas” Natural gas and natural gas liquids.

“net acres” The sum of the fractional working interests owned in gross acres.

“NYMEX” The New York Mercantile Exchange.

“oil” Oil and condensate.

“overriding royalty interest” An interest in an oil and/or natural gas property entitling the owner to a share of oil and
natural gas production free of costs of production.

“PDP” Proved developed producing reserves.

“PDNP” Proved developed non-producing reserves.

“play” A term applied to a portion of the exploration and production cycle following the identification by geologists and
geophysicists of areas with potential natural gas and oil reserves.

“plugging and abandonment” Refers to the sealing off of fluids in the strata penetrated by a well so that the fluids from
one stratum will not escape into another or to the surface. Regulations of many states require plugging of abandoned
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wells.

“producing well” A well found to be capable of producing either oil or natural gas in sufficient quantities to justify
completion as an oil or natural gas well.
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“production costs” Costs incurred to operate and maintain wells and related equipment and facilities, including
depreciation and applicable operating costs of support equipment and facilities and other costs of operating and
maintaining those wells and related equipment and facilities. They become part of the cost of oil and natural gas
produced. Examples of production costs (sometimes called lifting costs) are:

· costs of labor to operate the wells and related equipment and facilities;
· repairs and maintenance;

·materials, supplies, and fuel consumed and supplies utilized in operating the wells and related equipment and
facilities;
· property taxes and insurance applicable to proved properties and wells and related equipment and facilities; and

· severance taxes.
“productive well” A well that is found to be capable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such that
proceeds from the sale of the production exceed production expenses and taxes.

“proved developed reserves” Reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing
equipment and operating methods.

“proved properties” Properties with proved reserves.

“proved reserves” Those quantities of oil and natural gas, which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible—from a given date forward, from known reservoirs,
and under existing economic conditions, operating methods, and government regulations—prior to the time at which
contracts providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain, regardless
of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for the estimation. The project to extract the hydrocarbons
must have commenced or the operator must be reasonably certain that it will commence the project within a
reasonable time. The area of the reservoir considered as proved includes (i) the area identified by drilling and limited
by fluid contacts, if any, and (ii) adjacent undrilled portions of the reservoir that can, with reasonable certainty, be
judged to be continuous with it and to contain economically producible oil or natural gas on the basis of available
geoscience and engineering data. In the absence of data on fluid contacts, proved quantities in a reservoir are limited
by the lowest known hydrocarbons, or LKH, as seen in a well penetration unless geoscience, engineering, or
performance data and reliable technology establishes a lower contact with reasonable certainty. Where direct
observation from well penetrations has defined a highest known oil, or HKO, elevation and the potential exists for an
associated gas cap, proved oil reserves may be assigned in the structurally higher portions of the reservoir only if
geoscience, engineering, or performance data and reliable technology establish the higher contact with reasonable
certainty. Reserves which can be produced economically through application of improved recovery techniques
(including, but not limited to, fluid injection) are included in the proved classification when (i) successful testing by a
pilot project in an area of the reservoir with properties no more favorable than in the reservoir as a whole, the
operation of an installed program in the reservoir or an analogous reservoir, or other evidence using reliable
technology establishes the reasonable certainty of the engineering analysis on which the project or program was based,
and (ii) the project has been approved for development by all necessary parties and entities, including governmental
entities. Existing economic conditions include prices and costs at which economic producibility from a reservoir is to
be determined. The price shall be the average price during the 12-month period prior to the ending date of the period
covered by the report, determined as an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each
month within such period, unless prices are defined by contractual arrangements, excluding escalations based upon
future conditions.

“proved undeveloped reserves” Reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage or from
existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required.
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“PUD” Proved undeveloped reserves.

“PV-10” When used with respect to oil and natural gas reserves, PV-10 means the estimated future gross revenue to be
generated from the production of proved reserves, net of estimated production and future development and
abandonment costs, using prices and costs in effect at the determination date, before income taxes, and without giving
effect to non-property-related expenses, discounted to a present value using an annual discount rate of 10% in
accordance with the guidelines of the SEC.

“reasonable certainty” If deterministic methods are used, reasonable certainty means a high degree of confidence that
the quantities will be recovered. If probabilistic methods are used, there should be at least a 90% probability that the
quantities actually recovered will equal or exceed the estimate. A high degree of confidence exists if the quantity is
much more likely to be achieved than not, and, as changes due to increased availability of geoscience (geological,
geophysical, and geochemical), engineering, and economic data are made to estimated ultimate recovery, or EUR,
with time, reasonably certain EUR is much more likely to increase or remain constant than to decrease.
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“recompletion” The process of re-entering an existing wellbore that is either producing or not producing and completing
new reservoirs in an attempt to establish or increase existing production.

“reserves” Estimated remaining quantities of oil and natural gas and related substances anticipated to be economically
producible as of a given date by application of development prospects to known accumulations. In addition, there
must exist, or there must be a reasonable expectation that there will exist, the legal right to produce or a revenue
interest in the production, installed means of delivering oil and natural gas or related substances to market, and all
permits and financing required to implement the project.

“reservoir” A porous and permeable underground formation containing a natural accumulation of producible natural gas
and/or oil that is confined by impermeable rock or water barriers and is separate from other reservoirs.

“sand” A geological term for a formation beneath the surface of the Earth from which hydrocarbons are produced. Its
make-up is sufficiently homogenous to differentiate it from other formations.

“shale” Fine-grained sedimentary rock composed mostly of consolidated clay or mud. Shale is the most frequently
occurring sedimentary rock.

“spacing” The distance between wells producing from the same reservoir. Spacing is often expressed in terms of acres,
e.g., 40-acre spacing, and is often established by regulatory agencies.

“standardized measure” The present value of estimated future cash inflows from proved oil and natural gas reserves,
less future development, abandonment, production and income tax expenses, discounted at 10% per annum to reflect
the timing of future cash flows and using the same pricing assumptions as were used to calculate PV-10. Standardized
measure differs from PV-10 because standardized measure includes the effect of future income taxes.

“stratigraphic test well” A drilling effort, geologically directed, to obtain information pertaining to a specific geologic
condition. Such wells customarily are drilled without the intention of being completed for hydrocarbon production.

“undeveloped acreage” Lease acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that would permit
the production of commercial quantities of oil and natural gas regardless of whether such acreage contains proved
reserves.

“vertical well” An oil or natural gas wellbore that is drilled from the surface to the depth of interest without directional
deviation.

“wellbore” The hole drilled by the bit that is equipped for oil or natural gas production on a completed well. Also called
well or borehole.

“working interest” The right granted to the lessee of a property to explore for and to produce and own oil, natural gas, or
other minerals. The working interest owners bear the exploitation, development, and operating costs on either a cash,
penalty, or carried basis.
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PART I

Item 1.	Business

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, references to “we,” “us,” “our,” or the “Company” refer to Cross Border Resources, Inc.
and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

Our Company

We are an oil and gas exploration company.  We currently own over 865,893 gross (approximately 146,922 net)
mineral and lease acres in New Mexico. Approximately 12,825 of these net acres exist within the Permian Basin. A
significant majority of our acreage consists of either owned mineral rights or leases held by production, allowing us to
hold lease rental payments to under $5,000 annually. The majority of our acreage interests consists of non-operated
working interests except for certain core San Andres properties which we operate.

Current development of our acreage is focused on our prospective Bone Spring acreage located in the heart of the 1st
and 2nd Bone Spring play. This play encompasses approximately 4,390 square miles across both New Mexico and
Texas. We currently own varying, non-operated working interests in both Eddy and Lea Counties, New Mexico, along
with our working interest partners that include Cimarex, Apache, Oxy Permian, Occidental, Oxy USA and,
Mewbourne; all having significant footprints within this play.

History 

We were originally formed on October 25, 2005 under the name “Language Enterprises Corp.” We subsequently
changed our name to Doral Energy Corp.  On July 29, 2008, we acquired a working interest in 66 producing oil fields
and approximately 186 wells (the “Eddy County Properties”) in and around Eddy County, New Mexico. As a result of
our acquisition of the Eddy County Properties, we changed our business focus to the acquisition, exploration,
operation and development of oil and gas projects, and we ceased being a “shell company.” On August 4, 2008, we filed
our Form 8-K that included the information that would be required if we were filing a general form for registration of
securities on Form 10 as a smaller reporting company.

 Effective January 3, 2011, we completed the acquisition of Pure Energy Group, Inc. as contemplated pursuant to the
Pure Merger Agreement among our company, Doral Sub, Pure L.P. and Pure Sub, a wholly owned subsidiary of Pure
L.P.  Pursuant to the provisions of the Pure Merger Agreement, all of Pure L.P.’s oil and gas assets and liabilities were
transferred to Pure Sub. Pure Sub was then merged with and into Doral Sub, with Doral Sub continuing as the
surviving corporation. Upon completion of the Pure Merger, the outstanding shares of Pure Sub were converted into
an aggregate of 9,981,536 shares of our common stock. Since the Pure Merger, Pure L.P. has distributed all of its
shares of our common stock to the partners of Pure L.P. so that Pure L.P. is no longer a shareholder of our company.
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Effective January 4, 2011, following closing of the Pure Merger, Doral Sub was merged with and into our company,
with our company continuing as the surviving corporation. Upon completing the merger of Doral Sub with and into
our company, we changed our name to “Cross Border Resources, Inc.”

On April 21, 2015, we entered into a purchase and sale agreement (the “PSA”) with RMR Operating, LLC (“RMR
Operating”), Black Rock Capital, Inc. (“Black Rock”), RMR KS Holdings, LLC (“RMR KS”) and Black Shale Minerals,
LLC (“Buyer”). Each of us, RMR Operating, Black Rock and RMR KS is an operating subsidiary (together, the
“Operating Subsidiaries”) of Red Mountain Resources, Inc. (“RMR,” and together with the Operating Subsidiaries, the
“Companies”).

Pursuant to the PSA the Operating Subsidiaries sold, assigned, transferred and conveyed to Buyer, effective as of
April 1, 2015, fifty percent (50%) of their right, title, and interest in and to certain oil and natural gas assets and
properties (the “Assets”), including their oil and natural gas leasehold interests, wells, contracts, and oil and natural gas
produced after April 1, 2015 (the “Sale”). The aggregate purchase price for the Assets under the PSA was $25.0 million,
subject to certain adjustments, including post-closing adjustments for any title or environmental benefits or title or
environmental defects resulting from Buyer’s title and environmental reviews. 

1
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Our Strengths

Large Acreage Position Consisting of Mineral Ownership and Leasehold Held by Production.  Our acreage consists
of more than 146,922 net mineral acres within the Permian Basin region of New Mexico and Southwest New Mexico. 
The majority of our acreage is made up of mineral ownership which carries no drilling commitments or leasehold
obligations.  We own minerals in both the Permian Basin region and Southwest New Mexico.  Cross Border’s
producing leasehold acreage is located entirely within the active Permian Basin region and is currently held by
existing production.  The combination of perpetual mineral ownership and unexpired leasehold held by production
uniquely positions us as a strong Permian Basin exploration and production company with continued growth
potential.  

Existing Infrastructure.  All of our producing Permian properties are located within established oil and natural gas
producing areas or existing fields. We seek to enhance existing production in these properties by using engineering
and geological expertise. These areas also have a fully developed transportation infrastructure, which allows us to
transport our oil and natural gas to market without long-term delay or significant investment.

Our Properties

Currently, substantially all of our producing oil and natural gas properties are concentrated in the Permian Basin. The
Permian Basin covers an area approximately 250 miles wide and 300 miles long in West Texas and Southeast New
Mexico. The Permian Basin is one of the most prolific onshore oil and natural gas producing regions in the United
States. It is characterized by an extensive production history, mature infrastructure, long reserve life and hydrocarbon
potential in multiple producing formations.

Planned Operations

At the end of fiscal 2014, we elected to participate in the drilling of three wells (0.2 net) that remained in progress at
December 31, 2014 and two wells (0.1 net) that are planned for fiscal 2015. Due to the asset sale on April 21, 2015,
the Company is reassessing its planned operations for fiscal 2015 other than the aforementioned wells in which the
Company has already elected to participate.

Competition

The oil and natural gas industry is highly competitive and we compete with a substantial number of other companies
that have greater resources than we do. The largest of these companies explore for, produce and market oil and natural
gas, carry on refining operations and market the resultant products on a worldwide basis. The primary areas in which
we encounter substantial competition are in our drilling and development operations, locating and acquiring
prospective oil and natural gas properties and reserves and attracting and retaining highly skilled personnel. There is
also competition between producers of oil and natural gas and other industries producing alternative energy and fuel.
Furthermore, competitive conditions may be substantially affected by various forms of energy legislation and/or
regulation considered from time to time by the United States government; however, it is not possible to predict the
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nature of any such legislation or regulation that may ultimately be adopted or its effects upon our future operations.
Such laws and regulations may, however, substantially increase the costs of exploring for, developing or producing oil
and natural gas and may prevent or delay the commencement or continuation of a given operation. The effect of these
risks cannot be accurately predicted.

2
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Insurance

We currently maintain oil and gas commercial general liability protection relating to all of our oil and gas operations
(including environmental and pollution claims) with a total limit of coverage in the amount of $2,000,000 (with no
deductible) and excess liability protection with a total limit of $3,000,000 (with a deductible of $10,000).

As is common in the oil and gas industry, we will not insure fully against all risks associated with our business either
because such insurance is not available or because premium costs are considered prohibitive. In addition, pollution
and environmental risks generally are not fully insurable. A loss not fully covered by insurance could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had no employees. We engage the services of our Interim President and Chief
Accounting Officer on a consulting or contract basis. We engage additional part-time consultants on an as-needed
basis. We are not a party to any collective bargaining agreements and have not experienced any strikes or work
stoppages.

Hydraulic Fracturing Policies and Procedures

We contract with third parties to conduct hydraulic fracturing as a means to maximize the productivity of our oil and
natural gas wells in almost all of our wells. Hydraulic fracturing involves the injection of water, sand, gel and
chemicals under pressure into formations to fracture the surrounding rock and stimulate production.

Although average drilling and completion costs for each area will vary, as will the cost of each well within a given
area, on average approximately 50% of the drilling and completion costs for our wells are associated with hydraulic
fracturing activities. These costs are treated in the same way that all other costs of drilling and completing our wells
are treated and are built into and funded through our normal capital expenditures budget. A change to any federal and
state laws and regulations governing hydraulic fracturing could impact these costs and adversely affect our business
and financial results. See “Risk Factors — Federal and state legislative and regulatory initiatives as well as governmental
reviews relating to hydraulic fracturing could result in increased costs and additional operating restrictions or delays
as well as adversely affect our level of production.”

The protection of groundwater quality is important to us. Our policy and practice is to ensure our service providers
follow all applicable guidelines and regulations in the areas where we have hydraulic fracturing operations.

We believe that the hydraulic fracturing operations on our properties are conducted in compliance with all state and
federal regulations and in accordance with industry standard practices for groundwater protection. These protective
measures include setting surface casing at a depth sufficient to protect fresh water zones as determined by applicable
state regulatory agencies, and cementing the casing to create a permanent isolating barrier between the casing pipe and
surrounding geological formations. The casing plus the cement are intended to prevent contact between the fracturing
fluid and any aquifers during the hydraulic fracturing or other well operations. For recompletions of existing wells, the
production casing is pressure tested prior to perforating the new completion interval. Injection rates and pressures are
monitored at the surface during our hydraulic fracturing operations. Pressure is monitored on both the injection string
and the immediate annulus to the injection string.

The vast majority of hydraulic fracturing treatments are made up of water and sand or other kinds of man-made
propping agents. Our service providers track and report chemical additives that are used in the fracturing operation as
required by the applicable governmental agencies.
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Hydraulic fracturing requires the use of a significant amount of water. All produced water, including fracture
stimulation water, is disposed of in a way that does not impact surface waters. All produced water is disposed of in
permitted and regulated disposal facilities.

Environmental Matters and Regulation

Our exploration, development and production operations are subject to various federal, state and local laws and
regulations governing health and safety, the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise relating to
environmental protection. These laws and regulations may, among other things: require the acquisition of permits to
conduct exploration, drilling and production operations; govern the amounts and types of substances that may be
released into the environment in connection with oil and natural gas drilling and production; restrict the way we
handle or dispose of our wastes or of naturally occurring radioactive materials generated by our operations; cause us to
incur significant capital expenditures to install pollution control or safety related equipment operating at our facilities;
limit or prohibit construction or drilling activities in sensitive areas such as wetlands, wilderness areas or areas
inhabited by endangered or threatened species; impose specific health and safety criteria addressing worker protection;
require investigatory and remedial actions to mitigate pollution conditions caused by our operations or attributable to
former operations; impose obligations to reclaim and abandon well sites and pits and impose substantial liabilities on
us for pollution resulting from our operations. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the
assessment of administrative, civil and criminal penalties, the imposition of remedial obligations and the issuance of
orders enjoining some or all of our operations in affected areas.

3
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Additionally, the United States Congress and federal and state agencies frequently revise environmental, health and
safety laws and regulations, and their interpretations thereof, and any changes that result in more stringent and costly
operational requirements or waste handling, disposal, cleanup and remediation requirements for the oil and natural gas
industry could have a significant impact on our operating costs. The trend in environmental regulation is to place more
restrictions and limitations on activities that may affect the environment, and thus, any changes in environmental laws
and regulations or new interpretations of enforcement policies that result in more stringent and costly waste handling,
storage, transport, disposal or remediation requirements could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations. We may be unable to pass on such increased compliance costs to our customers.

We have been notified by the Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) that environmental deficiencies exist on our Tom
Tom Tomahawk field in Chaves and Roosevelt counties in New Mexico. We have submitted a plan to remediate such
activities to the BLM and the plan has been accepted. Before work can commence, we have to perform certain
procedures such as sampling the soil. For the year ending December 31, 2012, we recorded a non-cash charge of
$2,100,000 which is management’s best estimate of the costs to remediate the environmental deficiencies. This
estimate could materially differ from actual expenditures. We cannot assure you that the passage of more stringent
laws and regulations in the future will not have a further negative impact on our business, financial condition or
results of operations.

The following is a summary of the more significant existing environmental, health and safety laws and regulations to
which our business is subject and for which compliance may have a material adverse impact on our capital
expenditures, financial condition or results of operations.

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), also known as the “Superfund”
law, and comparable state statutes impose joint and several liability for costs of investigation and remediation and for
natural resource damages without regard to fault or legality of the original conduct, on certain classes of persons with
respect to the release into the environment of substances designated under CERCLA as hazardous substances. These
classes of persons, or so–called potentially responsible parties (“PRPs”) include the current and past owners or operators
of a site where the release occurred and anyone who transported or disposed or arranged for the transport or disposal
of a hazardous substance found at the site. CERCLA also authorizes the Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”)
and, in some instances, third parties to take actions in response to threats to public health or the environment and to
seek to recover from the PRPs the costs of such action. Many states have adopted comparable or more stringent state
statutes.

Although CERCLA generally exempts “petroleum” from the definition of hazardous substance, in the course of our
operations, we will generate, transport and dispose or arrange for the disposal of wastes that may fall within
CERCLA’s definition of hazardous substances. Comparable state statutes may not contain a similar exemption for
petroleum. We may also be the owner or operator of sites on which hazardous substances have been released.

Solid and Hazardous Waste Handling

The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”) and comparable state statutes regulate the generation,
transportation, treatment, storage, disposal and cleanup of solid and hazardous waste. Although oil and natural gas
waste generally is exempt from regulations as hazardous waste under RCRA, we will generate waste as a routine part
of our operations that may be subject to RCRA and not all state and local laws contain a comparable exemption.
Further, there is no guarantee that the EPA or individual states will not adopt more stringent requirements for the
handling of non–hazardous waste or categorize some non–hazardous waste as hazardous in the future. Any such change
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could result in an increase in our costs to manage and dispose of waste, which could have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition and results of operations.

It is also possible that our oil and natural gas operations may require us to manage naturally occurring radioactive
materials, or NORM. NORM is present in varying concentrations in sub-surface formations, including hydrocarbon
reservoirs, and may become concentrated in scale, film and sludge in equipment that comes in contract with crude oil
and natural gas production and processing streams. Some states have enacted regulations governing the handling,
treatment, storage and disposal of NORM.

4
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Clean Water Act

The Clean Water Act and analogous state laws impose restrictions and strict controls with respect to the discharge of
pollutants, including spills and leaks of produced water and other oil and natural gas wastes, and fill materials into
state waters and waters of the United States. The discharge of pollutants into regulated waters is prohibited, except in
accordance with the terms of certain permits issued by the EPA or an analogous state agency. Spill prevention, control
and countermeasure (“SPCC”) requirements under federal law require appropriate containment berms and similar
structures to help prevent the contamination of navigable waters in the event of a petroleum hydrocarbon tank spill,
rupture or leak. In addition, the Clean Water Act and analogous state laws require individual permits or coverage
under general permits for discharges of storm water runoff from certain types of facilities. The Clean Water Act also
prohibits the discharge of dredge and fill material in regulated waters, including wetlands, unless authorized by a
permit issued by the United States Army Corps of Engineers. Federal and state regulatory agencies can impose
administrative, civil and criminal penalties, as well as require remedial or mitigation measures, for non–compliance
with discharge permits or other requirements of the Clean Water Act and analogous state laws and regulations. In the
event of an unauthorized discharge of wastes, we may be liable for penalties and costs of remediation.

The Oil Pollution Act of 1990 (“OPA 90”) and its regulations impose requirements on “responsible parties” related to the
prevention of oil spills and liability for damages resulting from oil spills into or upon navigable waters, adjoining
shorelines or in the exclusive economic zone of the United States. A “responsible party” under the OPA 90 may include
the owner or operator of an onshore facility. The OPA 90 subjects responsible parties to strict, joint and several
financial liability for removal costs and other damages, including natural resource damages, caused by an oil spill that
is covered by the statute. It also imposes other requirements on responsible parties, such as the preparation of an oil
spill contingency plan. Failure to comply with the OPA 90 may subject a responsible party to civil or criminal
enforcement action. We may conduct operations on acreage located near, or that affects, navigable waters subject to
the OPA 90. We believe that compliance with applicable requirements under the OPA 90 will not have a material and
adverse effect on us.

Safe Drinking Water Act

The Safe Drinking Water Act (the “SDWA”) regulates, among other things, underground injection operations. Hydraulic
fracturing continues to be under intense regulatory scrutiny both at the federal level and at the state level. In past
legislative sessions, the United States Congress considered two companion bills that if passed would have imposed on
our hydraulic fracturing operations significantly more stringent requirements. In addition to subjecting the injection of
hydraulic fracturing to the SDWA regulatory and permitting requirements, the proposed legislation would require the
disclosure of the chemicals within the hydraulic fluids, which could make it easier for our competition to copy our
operations and for third parties opposing hydraulic fracturing to initiate legal proceedings based on allegations that
specific chemicals used in the process could adversely affect ground water. If this or similar legislation is enacted, we
could incur substantial compliance costs and the requirements could negatively impact our ability to conduct
fracturing activities on our assets.

Many states have considered or adopted legislation or regulations requiring the disclosure of the chemicals used in
hydraulic fracturing. Texas has adopted such a program, which is administered by the Railroad Commission of Texas.
The Wyoming Oil and Gas Conservation Commission also passed a rule requiring disclosure of hydraulic fracturing
fluid. In addition, a number of states in which we plan to conduct, are currently conducting, or may in the future
conduct, hydraulic fracturing operations regulatory reviews hydraulic fracturing and new regulations from such
reviews could restrict or limit our access to shale formations or could delay our operations or make them more costly.
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The BLM has released its final rule regulating hydraulic fracturing on federal and certain tribal lands in March 2015,
which will be effective on June 24, 2015. The rules impose disclosure requirements on the use of hydraulic fracturing
chemicals. These rules also require BLM approval prior to hydraulic fracturing. BLM also will require operators to
meet other substantive requirements relating to well integrity and recordkeeping.
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In March 2015, lawmakers in the United States Congress introduced a package of bills intended to improve the
regulation and safeguards for hydraulic fracturing. This includes the Fracturing Responsibility and Awareness of
Chemicals Act (S. 785), which is intended to increase environmental protections for communities where natural gas
drilling takes place. The bill would require drillers to disclose the chemicals that go into the ground during the
hydraulic fracturing process. Also included is the Safe Hydration is an American Right in Energy Development Act
(H.R. 1515). The legislation would require testing of water contamination near hydraulic fracturing sites and public
disclosure of the testing results.

In February 2014, the EPA issued revised guidance under the SDWA, providing direction about how it will address
the use of diesel in hydraulic fracturing activities. The revised guidance provides a definition of diesel fuels and
discusses how the EPA’s Underground Injection Control rules will be applied to hydraulic fracturing. Further, in
March 2010, the EPA announced that it would conduct a wide-ranging study on the effects of hydraulic fracturing on
drinking water resources. An update of the study was released in December 2012, with final results expected in 2016.
This additional regulatory scrutiny could make it difficult to perform hydraulic fracturing and increase our costs of
compliance and doing business.

Air Emissions

Our operations are subject to federal, state and local regulations for the control of emissions from sources of air
pollution under the Clean Air Act (“CAA”) and analogous state and local programs. Federal and state laws require new
and modified sources of air pollutants to obtain permits prior to commencing construction and also impose various
monitoring and reporting requirements. Major sources of air pollutants are subject to more stringent, federally
imposed requirements including additional permits. Federal and state laws designed to control hazardous or toxic air
pollutants may require installation of additional controls. Administrative enforcement actions for failure to comply
strictly with air pollution regulations or permits are generally resolved by payment of monetary fines and correction of
any identified deficiencies. Alternatively, regulatory agencies could bring lawsuits for civil penalties or require us to
forego construction, modification or operation of certain air emission sources.

On April 17, 2012, the EPA signed final rules under the CAA regarding emissions from oil and natural gas operations.
The EPA rule subjects oil and natural gas operations to regulation under the New Source Performance Standards
(“NSPS”) and National Emissions Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (“NESHAPS”), programs under the CAA, and
imposes new and amended requirements under both programs. The new rules, among other things, amend standards
applicable to natural gas processing plants and would expand the NSPS to include all oil and natural gas operations,
imposing requirements on those operations. The EPA also imposed NSPS standards for completions of hydraulically
fractured natural gas wells, requiring the use of reduced emission completion techniques. The adopted rules allowed in
most circumstances, until January 1, 2015, facilities to combust natural gas that would escape during completion
activities as an alternative to the reduced emission completion techniques. The NESHAPS proposal includes
maximum achievable control technology standards for certain glycol dehydrators and storage vessels, and revises
applicability provisions, alternative test protocols and the availability of the startup, shutdown and maintenance
exemption. These new requirements may result in increased operating and compliance costs, increased regulatory
burdens and delays in our operations. Compliance with such rules could result in significant costs, including increased
capital expenditures and operating costs, and could adversely impact our business.

Climate Change Legislation

In response to certain scientific studies suggesting that emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and other greenhouse
gases (“GHGs”) are contributing to the warming of the Earth’s atmosphere and other climatic changes, the United States
Congress has considered legislation to reduce such emissions. To date, the United States Congress has failed to enact
a comprehensive GHG program. Some states, either individually or on a regional level, have considered or enacted
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legal measures to reduce GHG emissions. Although most of the state-level initiatives have to date focused on large
sources of GHG emissions, it is possible that smaller sources of emissions could become subject to GHG emission
limitations. The cost of complying with these programs could be significant.

The EPA published finding that emissions of GHGs presented an endangerment to public health and the environment.
These findings by the EPA allowed the agency to proceed through a rule-making process with the adoption and
implementation of regulations that would restrict emissions of GHGs under existing provisions of the CAA.
Consequently, the EPA adopted two sets of regulations that would require a reduction in emissions of GHGs from
motor vehicles and could trigger permit review for GHG emissions from certain stationary sources. On June 3, 2010,
the EPA published its final rule to address permitting of GHG emissions from stationary sources under the prevention
of significant deterioration (“PSD”) and Title V permitting programs. The final rule tailors the PSD and Title V
permitting programs to apply to qualifying stationary sources of GHG emissions in a multi-step process, beginning
January 2, 2011, with the largest sources first subject to permitting.
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On June 23, 2014, the U.S. Supreme Court issued its decision in Utility Air Regulatory Group v. EPA (No. 12-1146).
 The Court said that the EPA may not treat GHGs as an air pollutant for purposes of determining whether a source is a
major source required to obtain a PSD or Title V permit. The Court also said that PSD permits that are otherwise
required (based on emissions of other pollutants) may continue to require limitations on GHG emissions based on the
application of Best Available Control Technology (BACT). The EPA is currently evaluating the implications of the
Court’s decision and awaiting further action by the U.S. Courts. 

In addition, the EPA has adopted a rule requiring the reporting of GHG emissions from specified large GHG emission
sources in the United States. On November 8, 2010, the EPA finalized its regulations to expand its final rule on GHG
emissions reporting to include onshore and offshore oil and natural gas production facilities and onshore oil and
natural gas processing, transmission, storage and distribution facilities. Reporting of GHG emissions from such
facilities is required on an annual basis beginning in 2012 for emissions occurring in 2011. While we believe that we
will be able to substantially comply with such reporting requirements without any material adverse effect to our
financial condition, since such reporting requirements with respect to GHG emissions are new in the oil and natural
gas industry, there can be no assurance that our reports will initially be in substantial compliance or that such
requirements will not develop into more stringent and costly obligations that may have a significant impact on our
operating costs. The adoption and implementation of any regulations imposing reporting obligations on, or limiting
emissions of GHGs from, our equipment and operations could require us to incur costs to reduce emissions of GHGs
associated with our operations or could adversely affect demand for the oil and natural gas we produce. Any one of
these climate change regulatory and legislative initiatives could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Finally, it should be noted that some scientists have concluded that increasing concentrations of GHGs in the Earth’s
atmosphere may produce climate changes that have significant physical effects, such as increased frequency and
severity of storms, droughts and floods and other climatic events; if any such effects were to occur, they could have a
material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

OSHA and Other Laws and Regulations on Employee Health and Safety

To the extent not preempted by other applicable laws, we are subject to the requirements of the Occupational Safety
and Health Act (“OSHA”) and comparable state statutes, where applicable. These laws and the implementing
regulations strictly govern the protection of the health and safety of employees. The OSHA hazard communication
standard, the EPA community right–to–know regulations under the Title III of CERCLA and similar state statutes,
where applicable, require us to organize and maintain information about hazardous materials used or, as applicable,
produced in our operations and that this information be provided to employees, state and local government authorities
and, where applicable, citizens. OSHA may enforce workplace safety regulations through issuance of citations for
violations of its standards, which include, but are not limited to, those regarding hazard communication, personal
protective equipment, general environmental controls, and materials handling and storage. We believe that we are in
substantial compliance with these requirements where applicable and with other applicable OSHA and comparable
requirements.

National Environmental Policy Act

Oil and natural gas exploration and production activities on federal lands may be subject to the National
Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”) which requires federal agencies, including the U.S. Department of the Interior, to
evaluate major agency actions having the potential to significantly impact the environment. In the course of such
evaluations, an agency will prepare an Environmental Assessment that assesses the potential direct, indirect and
cumulative impacts of a proposed project and, if necessary, will prepare a more detailed Environmental Impact
Statement that may be made available for public review and comment. All of our current exploration and production
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activities, as well as proposed exploration and development plans, on federal lands require governmental permits that
are subject to the requirements of NEPA. This process has the potential to delay or impose additional conditions upon
the development of oil and natural gas projects.
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Endangered Species Act

TheEndangered Species Act, as amended (the “ESA”), and analogous state statutes restrict activities that may affect
endangered and threatened species or their habitats. While some of our facilities may be located in areas that are
designated as habitat for endangered or threatened species, we believe that we are in substantial compliance with the
ESA. However, the designation of previously unidentified endangered or threatened species could cause us to incur
additional costs or become subject to operating restrictions or bans in the affected areas.

Other Regulation of the Oil and Natural Gas Industry

The oil and natural gas industry is extensively regulated by numerous federal, state and local authorities. In particular,
oil and natural gas production and related operations are, or have been, subject to price controls, taxes and numerous
other laws and regulations. These laws and regulations may also restrict the rate of oil and natural gas production
below the rate that would otherwise be possible. The regulatory burden on the oil and natural gas industry increases
the cost of doing business in the industry and consequently affects profitability.

Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations can result in substantial penalties and possibly cessation of
drilling and production operations. The regulatory burden on the industry increases the cost of doing business and
affects profitability. We believe that we are in substantial compliance with existing requirements and such compliance
will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, cash flows or results of operations. Nevertheless,
such laws and regulations are frequently amended or reinterpreted. Therefore, we are unable to predict the future costs
or impact of compliance. Additional proposals and proceedings that affect the oil and natural gas industry are
regularly considered by the United States Congress, the states, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”)
and the courts. We cannot predict when or whether any such proposals may become effective.

Drilling and Production

Our operations are subject to various types of regulation at the federal, state and local levels. These types of regulation
include requiring permits for the drilling of wells, drilling bonds and reports concerning operations. The states and
some counties and municipalities in which we operate also regulate one or more of the following:

· the location of wells;
· the method of drilling and casing wells;

· the surface use and restoration of properties upon which wells are drilled; and
· the plugging and abandonment of wells.

State laws, including Texas, regulate the size and shape of drilling and spacing units or proration units governing the
pooling of oil and natural gas properties. Some states allow forced pooling or integration of tracts to facilitate
exploitation while other states rely on voluntary pooling of lands and leases. In some instances, forced pooling or
unitization may be implemented by third parties and may reduce our interest in the unitized properties. In addition,
state conservation laws establish maximum rates of production from oil and natural gas wells, generally prohibit the
venting or flaring of natural gas and impose requirements regarding the ratability of production. These laws and
regulations may limit the amount of oil and natural gas we can produce from our wells or limit the number of wells or
the locations at which we can drill. Moreover, each state generally imposes a production or severance tax with respect
to the production and sale of oil and natural gas within its jurisdiction.

8

Edgar Filing: CROSS BORDER RESOURCES, INC. - Form 10-K

29



In addition, 11 states have enacted surface damage statutes (“SDAs”). These laws are designed to compensate for
damage caused by mineral development. Most SDAs contain entry notification and negotiation requirements to
facilitate contact between operators and surface owners and users. Most also contain bonding requirements and
specific expenses for exploration and producing activities. Costs and delays associated with SDAs could impair
operational effectiveness and increase development costs.

We do not control the availability of transportation and processing facilities used in the marketing of our production.
For example, we may have to shut-in a productive natural gas well because of a lack of available natural gas gathering
or transportation facilities.

If we conduct operations on federal, state or Indian oil and natural gas leases, these operations must comply with
numerous regulatory restrictions, including various non-discrimination statutes, royalty and related valuation
requirements, and certain of these operations must be conducted pursuant to certain on-site security regulations and
other appropriate permits issued by the Bureau of Land Management, the Bureau of Ocean Energy Management,
Regulation and Enforcement or other appropriate federal or state agencies.

Transportation of Oil

Sales of oil are not currently regulated and are made at negotiated prices. Nevertheless, the United States Congress
could reenact price controls in the future.

Our sales of oil are affected by the availability, terms and cost of transportation. The transportation of oil in common
carrier pipelines is also subject to rate and access regulation. The FERC regulates interstate oil pipeline transportation
rates under the Interstate Commerce Act. In general, interstate oil pipeline rates must be cost-based, although
settlement rates agreed to by all shippers are permitted and market based rates may be permitted in certain
circumstances. Effective January 1, 1995, the FERC implemented regulations establishing an indexing system (based
on inflation) for transportation rates for oil that allowed for an annual increase or decrease in the cost of transporting
oil to the purchaser, effective July 1 of each year. The FERC reviews the indexing methodology every five years. In
its latest order on the methodology, issued in December 2010, the FERC concluded that an index level of the Producer
Price Index for Finished Goods plus 2.65 percent should be established for the five-year period commencing July 1,
2011.

Intrastate oil pipeline transportation rates are subject to regulation by state regulatory commissions. The basis for
intrastate oil pipeline regulation, and the degree of regulatory oversight and scrutiny given to intrastate oil pipeline
rates, varies from state to state. Insofar as effective interstate and intrastate rates are equally applicable to all
comparable shippers, we believe that the regulation of oil transportation rates will not affect our operations in any way
that is of material difference from those of our competitors who are similarly situated.

Further, interstate and intrastate common carrier oil pipelines must provide service on a non-discriminatory basis.
Under this open access standard, common carriers must offer service to all similarly situated shippers requesting
service on the same terms and under the same rates. When shipper nominations exceed full capacity, access is
governed by prorationing provisions set forth in the pipelines’ published tariffs. Accordingly, we believe that access to
oil pipeline transportation services generally will be available to us to the same extent as to our similarly situated
competitors.

Transportation and Sales of Natural Gas

Historically, the transportation and sale for resale of natural gas in interstate commerce has been regulated by the
FERC under the Natural Gas Act of 1938 (the “NGA”), the Natural Gas Policy Act of 1978 (the “NGPA”), and regulations
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issued under those statutes. In the past, the federal government has regulated the prices at which natural gas could be
sold. While sales by producers of natural gas can currently be made at market prices, the United State Congress could
reenact price controls in the future. Deregulation of wellhead natural gas sales began with the enactment of the NGPA
and culminated in adoption of the Natural Gas Wellhead Decontrol Act which removed all price controls affecting
wellhead sales of natural gas effective January 1, 1993.
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FERC regulates interstate natural gas transportation rates, and terms and conditions of service, which affects the
marketing of natural gas that we produce, as well as the revenues we receive for sales of our natural gas. Since 1985,
the FERC has endeavored to make natural gas transportation more accessible to natural gas buyers and sellers on an
open and non-discriminatory basis. The FERC has stated that open access policies are necessary to improve the
competitive structure of the interstate natural gas pipeline industry and to create a regulatory framework that will put
natural gas sellers into more direct contractual relations with natural gas buyers by, among other things, unbundling
the sale of natural gas from the sale of transportation and storage services. Beginning in 1992, the FERC issued a
series of orders, beginning with Order No. 636, to implement its open access policies. As a result, the interstate
pipelines’ traditional role of providing the sale and transportation of natural gas as a single service has been eliminated
and replaced by a structure under which pipelines provide transportation and storage service on an open access basis
to others who buy and sell natural gas. Although the FERC’s orders do not directly regulate natural gas producers, they
are intended to foster increased competition within all phases of the natural gas industry.

The price at which we sell natural gas is not currently subject to federal rate regulation and, for the most part, is not
subject to state regulation. However, with regard to our physical sales of these energy commodities, we are required to
observe anti-market manipulation laws and related regulations enforced by the FERC and/or the Commodity Futures
Trading Commission (the “CFTC”). See “—Other Federal Laws and Regulations Affecting Our Industry—Energy Policy Act
of 2005.” Should we violate the anti-market manipulation laws and regulations, we could also be subject to related
third party damage claims by, among others, sellers, royalty owners and taxing authorities. In addition, pursuant to
Order No. 704, some of our operations may be required to annually report to the FERC on May 1 of each year for the
previous calendar year. Currently, Order No. 704 requires certain natural gas market participants to report information
regarding their reporting of transactions to price index publishers and their blanket sales certificate status, as well as
certain information regarding their wholesale, physical natural gas transactions for the previous calendar year
depending on the volume of natural gas transacted. See “—Other Federal Laws and Regulations Affecting Our
Industry—FERC Market Transparency Rules.”

Gathering services, which occur upstream of jurisdictional transmission services, are regulated by the states. In
addition, intrastate natural gas transportation and facilities are also subject to regulation by state regulatory agencies,
and certain transportation services provided by intrastate pipelines are also regulated by the FERC. The basis for
regulation of intrastate natural gas transportation and gathering the degree of regulatory oversight and scrutiny given
to intrastate natural gas pipeline and gathering pipeline rates and services varies from state to state. Insofar as such
regulation within a particular state will generally affect all intrastate natural gas shippers within the state on a
comparable basis, we believe that the regulation of similarly situated intrastate natural gas transportation in any states
in which we operate and ship natural gas on an intrastate basis will not affect our operations in any way that is of
material difference from those of our competitors. Like the regulation of interstate transportation rates, the regulation
of intrastate transportation rates affects the marketing of natural gas that we produce, as well as the revenues we
receive for sales of our natural gas.

State Natural Gas Regulation

Various states, including Texas, regulate the drilling for, and the production, gathering and sale of, natural gas,
including imposing severance taxes and requirements for obtaining drilling permits. States also regulate the method of
developing new fields, the spacing and operation of wells and the prevention of waste of natural gas resources. States
may regulate rates of production and may establish maximum daily production allowables from natural gas wells
based on market demand or resource conservation, or both. States do not regulate wellhead prices or engage in other
similar direct economic regulation, but there can be no assurance that they will not do so in the future. The effect of
these regulations may be to limit the amounts of natural gas that may be produced from our wells and to limit the
number of wells or locations we can drill.
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Other Federal Laws and Regulations Affecting Our Industry

Energy Policy Act of 2005

On August 8, 2005, President Bush signed into law the Energy Policy Act of 2005 (the “EPAct 2005”). The EPAct 2005
is a comprehensive compilation of tax incentives, authorized appropriations for grants and guaranteed loans, and
significant changes to the statutory policy that affects all segments of the energy industry. Among other matters, the
EPAct 2005 amends the NGA to add an anti-manipulation provision which makes it unlawful for any entity to engage
in prohibited behavior to be prescribed by the FERC, and furthermore provides the FERC with additional civil penalty
authority. The EPAct 2005 provides the FERC with the power to assess civil penalties of up to $1.0 million per day
for violations of the NGA and increases the FERC’s civil penalty authority under the NGPA from $5,000 per violation
per day to $1.0 million per violation per day. On January 19, 2006, the FERC issued Order No. 670, a rule that
implements the anti-manipulation provision of the EPAct 2005 and makes it unlawful for any entity, directly or
indirectly, in connection with the purchase or sale of natural gas subject to the jurisdiction of the FERC, or the
purchase or sale of transportation services subject to the jurisdiction of the FERC: (1) to use or employ any device,
scheme or artifice to defraud; (2) to make any untrue statement of material fact or omit to make any such statement
necessary to make the statements made not misleading; or (3) to engage in any act, practice, or course of business that
operates as a fraud or deceit upon any person. The anti-manipulation rules and enhanced civil penalty authority reflect
an expansion of the FERC’s NGA enforcement authority. Should we fail to comply with all applicable FERC
administered statutes, rules, regulations and orders, we could be subject to substantial penalties and fines.
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FERC Market Transparency Rules

On April 19, 2007, the FERC issued a final rule on the annual natural gas transaction reporting requirements, as
amended by subsequent orders on rehearing, or Order No. 704. Under Order No. 704, wholesale buyers and sellers of
more than 2.2 million MMBtu of physical natural gas in the previous calendar year, including interstate and intrastate
natural gas pipelines, natural gas gatherers, natural gas processors, natural gas marketers and natural gas producers are
required to report, on May 1 of each year, aggregate volumes of natural gas purchased or sold at wholesale in the prior
calendar year to the extent such transactions utilize, contribute to or may contribute to the formation of price indices.
It is the responsibility of the reporting entity to determine which individual transactions should be reported based on
the guidance of Order No. 704. Order No. 704 also requires market participants to indicate whether they report prices
to any index publishers and, if so, whether their reporting complies with the FERC’s policy statement on price
reporting. In 2011, a federal appellate court determined that FERC does not have legal authority to impose reporting
requirements on wholly-intrastate pipelines.

Additional proposals and proceedings that might affect the natural gas industry are pending before the United State
Congress, the FERC and the courts. We cannot predict the ultimate impact of these or the above regulatory changes to
our natural gas operations. We do not believe that we would be affected by any such action materially differently than
similarly situated competitors.

Item 1A.	Risk Factors

Risks Related to Our Business

We may not have sufficient capital to operate our business as presently contemplated.

The oil and natural gas industry is capital intensive. We make and expect to continue to make significant capital
expenditures in our business for the exploration, development, production and acquisition of oil and natural gas
reserves. Improvement in commodity prices may result in an increase in our actual capital expenditures.

At the end of fiscal 2014, we elected to participate in the drilling of three wells (0.2 net) that remained in progress at
December 31, 2014 and two wells (0.1 net) that are planned for fiscal 2015. Due to the asset sale on April 21, 2015,
the Company is reassessing its planned operations for fiscal 2015 other than the aforementioned wells in which the
Company has already elected to participate.

Our cash flows from operations and access to capital are subject to a number of variables, including:

· our proved reserves;
· the level of oil and natural gas we are able to produce from existing wells;
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· the prices at which our oil and natural gas are sold;
· our ability to acquire, locate and produce new reserves; and

· the ability of our banks to lend.
Debt financing could lead to:

· a substantial portion of operating cash flow being dedicated to the payment of principal and interest;
· us being more vulnerable to competitive pressures and economic downturns; and

· restrictions on our operations, including our ability to pay dividends.
If sufficient capital resources are not available, we might be forced to cease operations entirely, curtail developmental
and exploratory drilling and other activities or be forced to sell some assets on an untimely or unfavorable basis,
which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our outstanding debt contains covenants restricting certain actions we may take.

Our credit agreement with Independent Bank contains various covenants restricting certain actions we may take,
including, but not limited to, incurring additional indebtedness, entering into any merger, selling any of our assets,
making certain investments and paying dividends. The credit agreement also contains various financial covenants
requiring us to maintain a certain ratio of debt compared to EBITDAX (as defined in the credit agreement). These
restrictions and covenants may adversely effect our operations.

We may have difficulty managing growth in our business, which could adversely affect our financial condition and
results of operations.

Growth in accordance with our business plan, if achieved, could place a significant strain on our financial, technical,
operational and management resources. As we expand our activities and increase the number of projects we are
evaluating or in which we participate, there will be additional demands on our financial, technical, operational and
management resources. The failure to continue to upgrade our technical, administrative, operating and financial
control systems or the occurrences of unexpected expansion difficulties, including the failure to recruit and retain
experienced managers, geologists, engineers and other professionals in the oil and natural gas industry, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to timely execute
our business plan.

A decline in oil and natural gas prices may adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition or ability
to meet our capital expenditure obligations and financial commitments.

Our revenues, operating results and future rate of growth are substantially dependent upon the prevailing prices of,
and demand for, oil and natural gas. Oil prices have declined substantially in recent months and may remain at or
below current levels in the near future. The market price of crude oil has decreased approximately 50% since June
2014 as a result of market uncertainties over the supply and demand of oil due to increased production in certain
regions, decisions made by OPEC, the current state of the global economy and concerns over future global oil
demand.  Lower oil and natural gas prices, such as the recent substantial decline in oil prices, may reduce the amount
of oil and natural gas that we can produce economically, make some wells uneconomical to drill or operate, reduce
our ability to develop our properties, reduce our ability to offset the natural decline in production from producing
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wells through new development and result in lower reserves. Historically, oil and natural gas prices and markets have
been volatile, and they are likely to continue to be volatile in the future.

A decrease in oil or natural gas prices will not only reduce revenues and profits, but will also reduce the quantities of
reserves that are commercially recoverable and may result in charges to earnings for impairment of the value of these
assets. The recent substantial decline in oil prices may adversely impact the ultimate development of the quantity of
reserves that we reported at December 31, 2014.  If oil or natural gas prices continue to decline in the future, we might
not be able to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to meet our obligations and make planned capital
expenditures. Oil and natural gas prices are subject to wide fluctuations in response to relatively minor changes in the
supply of, and demand for, oil and natural gas, market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors that are beyond
our control. Among the factors that could cause fluctuations are:
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•market expectations regarding supply and demand for oil and natural gas;

•decreased demand due to weak global economic growth;

•levels of production and other activities of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries and other oil and
natural gas producing nations;

•market expectations about future prices;

•the level of global oil and natural gas exploration, production activity and inventories;

•political conditions, including embargoes, in or affecting oil and natural gas production activities;

•increased production due to new extraction developments and improved extraction and production methods; and

•the price and availability of alternative fuels.
Our business, results of operations, future rate of growth and quantities of reserves that are commercially recoverable
depend heavily on the prices we receive for oil sales. Oil prices also affect our cash flows available for capital
expenditure obligations and financial commitments. No assurance can be given that future oil prices will be at levels
which enable us to do business profitably or at levels that make it economically viable to produce from certain wells.
A decline in oil or natural gas prices may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Properties that we acquire may not produce as projected, and we may be unable to accurately predict reserve
potential, identify liabilities associated with the properties or obtain protection from sellers against such liabilities.

We may acquire additional interests in oil and natural gas properties. Any future acquisitions will require an
assessment of recoverable reserves, title, future oil and natural gas prices, operating costs, potential environmental
hazards and liabilities, potential tax and Employee Retirement Income Security Act liabilities, and other liabilities and
other similar factors. Generally, it is not feasible for us to review in detail every individual property involved in an
acquisition, and our review efforts are normally focused on the higher-valued properties. Even a detailed review of
properties and records may not reveal existing or potential problems, nor will it permit us to become sufficiently
familiar with the properties to assess fully their deficiencies and capabilities. We do not inspect every well that we
acquire. Potential problems, such as deficiencies in the mechanical integrity of equipment or environmental conditions
that may require significant remedial expenditures, are not necessarily observable even when we inspect a well. Any
unidentified problems could result in material liabilities and costs that negatively impact our financial condition and
results of operations.

Even if we are able to identify problems with an acquisition, the seller may be unwilling or unable to provide effective
contractual protection or indemnity against all or part of these problems. Even if a seller agrees to provide indemnity,
the indemnity may not be fully enforceable and may be limited by floors and caps on such indemnity. In addition, we
may acquire oil and natural gas properties that contain commercially productive reserves which are less than
predicted. Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and reserve growth.

Our failure to successfully identify, complete and integrate future acquisitions of properties or businesses could
reduce our earnings and slow our growth.

There is intense competition for acquisition opportunities in our industry. Competition for acquisitions may increase
the cost of, or cause us to refrain from, completing acquisitions. Our ability to complete acquisitions is dependent
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upon, among other things, our ability to obtain debt and equity financing and, in some cases, regulatory approvals.
Further, these acquisitions may be in geographic regions in which we do not currently operate, which could result in
unforeseen operating difficulties and difficulties in coordinating geographically dispersed operations, personnel and
facilities. In addition, if we enter into new geographic markets, we may be subject to additional and unfamiliar legal
and regulatory requirements. Compliance with regulatory requirements may impose substantial additional obligations
on us and our management, cause us to expend additional time and resources in compliance activities and increase our
exposure to penalties or fines for non-compliance with such additional legal requirements. Completed acquisitions
could require us to invest further in operational, financial and management information systems and to attract, retain,
motivate and effectively manage additional employees. The inability to effectively manage the integration of
acquisitions could reduce our focus on subsequent acquisitions and current operations, which, in turn, could
negatively impact our earnings and growth. Our financial position and results of operations may fluctuate significantly
from period to period, based on whether or not significant acquisitions are completed in particular periods.
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We cannot control the development of the properties we do not operate, which may adversely affect our production,
revenues and results of operations.

We do not operate the majority of the properties in which we have an interest. As a result, we have limited ability to
exercise influence over, and control the risks associated with, the operation of these properties. The success and
timing of our drilling and development activities on those properties depend upon a number of factors outside of our
control, including:

· the timing and amount of capital expenditures;
· the operators’ expertise and financial resources;

· the approval of other participants in drilling wells; and
· the selection of suitable technology.

As a result of any of the above or an operator’s failure to act in ways that are in our best interest, our allocated
production revenues and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Drilling for and producing oil and natural gas are speculative activities and involve numerous risks and substantial
and uncertain costs that could adversely affect us.

Our future financial condition and results of operations will depend on the success of our acquisition, exploitation,
development and production activities. Our oil and natural gas exploration and production activities are subject to
numerous risks beyond our control, including the risk that drilling will not result in commercially productive oil or
natural gas reservoirs. Our decisions to acquire, explore, develop or otherwise exploit drilling locations or properties
will depend in part on the evaluation of data obtained through geophysical and geological analyses, production data
and engineering studies, the results of which are often inconclusive or subject to varying interpretations. In addition,
our cost of drilling, completing and operating wells is often uncertain before drilling commences. Overruns in
budgeted expenditures are common risks that can make a particular project uneconomical. Further, many factors may
curtail, delay or cancel our scheduled drilling projects, including the following:

· shortages of or delays in obtaining equipment and qualified personnel;
· facility or equipment malfunctions;

· unexpected operational events;
· pressure or irregularities in geological formations;

· adverse weather conditions, such as flooding;
· reductions in oil and natural gas prices;

· delays imposed by or resulting from compliance with regulatory requirements;
· proximity to and capacity of transportation facilities;

· title problems;
· limitations in the market for oil and natural gas; and

· costs and availability of drilling rigs, equipment, supplies, personnel and oilfield services.
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Even if drilled, our completed wells may not produce reserves of oil or natural gas that are commercially productive
or that meet our earlier estimates of economically recoverable reserves. A productive well may become uneconomic if
water or other deleterious substances are encountered, which impair or prevent the production of oil and/or natural gas
from the well. Our overall drilling success rate or our drilling success rate for activity within a particular project area
may decline. Unsuccessful drilling activities could result in a significant decline in our production and revenues and
materially harm our operations and financial condition by reducing our available cash and resources.

Reserve estimates depend on many assumptions that may turn out to be inaccurate.

Any material inaccuracies in our reserve estimates or underlying assumptions could materially affect the quantities
and present values of our reserves. This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains estimates of our proved oil and natural
gas reserves and PV-10 and standardized measure of our proved oil and natural gas reserves. The process of
estimating oil and natural gas reserves is complex. It requires interpretations of available technical data and various
assumptions, including assumptions relating to economic factors. Any significant inaccuracies in these interpretations
or assumptions could materially affect the estimated quantities of reserves and amount of PV-10 and standardized
measure that we may report. The process of preparing these estimates requires the projection of production rates and
timing of development expenditures and analysis of available geological, geophysical, production and engineering
data, and the extent, quality and reliability of this data can vary. The process also requires economic assumptions
relating to matters such as oil and natural gas prices, drilling and operating expenses, capital expenditures, taxes and
availability of funds.

Actual future production, oil and natural gas prices, revenues, taxes, development expenditures, operating expenses
and quantities of recoverable oil and natural gas reserves most likely will vary from our estimates. Any significant
variance could materially affect the estimated quantities of reserves and amount of PV-10 and standardized measure
that we may report. In addition, we may adjust estimates of proved reserves and amount of PV-10 and standardized
measure to reflect production history, results of exploration and development, prevailing oil and natural gas prices and
other factors, many of which are beyond our control. Moreover, there can be no assurance that our reserves will
ultimately be produced or that our proved undeveloped reserves will be developed within the periods anticipated. Any
significant variance in the assumptions could materially affect the estimated quantity our reserves and amount of
PV-10 and standardized measure.

Investors should not assume that the PV-10 of our proved reserves is the current market value of our estimated oil and
natural gas reserves. PV-10 is based on prices and costs in effect on the date of the estimate. Actual future prices,
costs, and the volume of produced reserves may differ materially from those used in the PV-10 estimate.

Approximately 41% of our total estimated proved reserves as of December 31, 2014 were classified as proved
undeveloped and may not be ultimately developed or produced.

As of December 31, 2014, approximately 41% of our total estimated proved reserves were undeveloped. Recovery of
proved undeveloped reserves requires significant capital expenditures and successful drilling operations. The future
drilling of proved undeveloped reserves is highly dependent upon our ability to fund our capital expenditures, which
we estimate will be approximately $1.0 million to $2.0 million for 2015. We cannot be sure that these estimated costs
are accurate, and we may be unable to obtain sufficient capital. Further, our drilling efforts may be delayed or
unsuccessful, and actual reserves may prove to be less than current reserve estimates, which could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, future cash flows and results of operations.

If we are unable to find purchasers of our natural gas, it could harm our profitability.
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There generally are only a limited number of natural gas transmission companies with existing pipelines in the vicinity
of a natural gas well or wells. In the event that producing natural gas properties are not subject to purchase contracts or
that any such contracts terminate and other parties do not purchase our natural gas production, there is no assurance
that we will be able to enter into purchase contracts with any transmission companies or other purchasers of natural
gas and there can be no assurance regarding the price which such purchasers would be willing to pay for such natural
gas. There presently exists an oversupply of natural gas in the marketplace, the extent and duration of which is not
known. Such oversupply may result in reductions of purchases by principal natural gas pipeline purchasers.
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We may be required to write down the carrying values of our oil and natural gas properties.

Oil prices have declined substantially in recent months and may remain at or below current levels in the near future.
There is a risk that due to the recent decline in oil prices or future declines in oil prices, we could be required to write
down the carrying value of our oil and natural gas properties, which would reduce our earnings and shareholders’
equity. We follow the successful efforts method of accounting for our oil and natural gas properties. Under this
method, the costs of productive wells, developmental dry holes and productive leases are capitalized. The acquisition
costs of unproved acreage are initially capitalized and are carried at cost, net of accumulated impairment provisions,
until such leases are transferred to proved properties or charged to exploration expense as impairments of unproved
properties. Exploration costs, such as exploratory geological and geophysical costs, delay rentals and exploration
overhead, are charged to expense as incurred. Exploratory drilling costs, including the cost of stratigraphic test wells,
are initially capitalized but charged to exploration expense if and when the well is determined to be non-productive.
The capitalized costs of our oil and natural gas properties may not exceed their estimated fair market value. When
evaluating our proved properties, we are required to test for potential write-downs at the lowest level for which
identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets, which is typically on a field-by-field
basis. If capitalized costs exceed future cash flows, we write down the costs of proved properties to our estimate of
fair market value, which is generally estimated using a discounted cash flow approach. When evaluating our unproved
properties, we write down the capitalized costs of the unproved properties if it is determined that the costs are not
likely to be recoverable. Any such charge will not affect our cash flow from operating activities, but will reduce our
earnings and shareholders’ equity.

Unless we replace oil and natural gas reserves, our production and cash flows will decline.

Our future success will depend on our ability to find, develop or acquire additional reserves that are commercially
productive. If we are unable to replace reserves through drilling or acquisitions, our level of production and cash flows
will be adversely affected. In general, production from oil and natural gas properties declines as reserves are depleted,
with the rate of decline depending on reservoir characteristics. Our total proved reserves decline as reserves are
produced unless we conduct other successful exploration and development activities or acquire properties containing
proved reserves, or both. Our ability to make the necessary capital investment to maintain or expand our asset base of
oil and natural gas reserves would be impaired to the extent cash flow from operations is reduced and external sources
of capital become limited or unavailable. We may not be successful in exploring for, developing or acquiring
additional reserves. We also may not be successful in raising funds to acquire, explore or develop additional reserves.

Prospects that we decide to drill may not yield oil or natural gas in commercially viable quantities.

Prospects that we decide to drill that do not yield oil or natural gas in commercially productive quantities will
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. Our prospects are in various stages of evaluation,
and may range from a prospect which is ready to drill to a prospect that will require substantial additional seismic data
processing and interpretation and other technical analysis. There is no way to predict in advance of drilling and testing
whether any particular prospect will yield oil or natural gas in sufficient quantities to recover drilling or completion
costs or to be commercially productive. The use of seismic data and other technologies and the study of producing
fields in the same area will not enable us to know conclusively prior to drilling whether oil or natural gas will be
present or, if present, whether oil or natural gas will be present in commercial quantities. We cannot assure you that
the analogies we draw from available data from other wells, more fully explored prospects or producing fields will be
applicable to our drilling prospects.

Market conditions or transportation impediments may hinder access to oil and natural gas markets or delay
production.

Edgar Filing: CROSS BORDER RESOURCES, INC. - Form 10-K

42



Market conditions, the unavailability of satisfactory oil and natural gas transportation or the remote location of our
drilling operations may restrict our access to oil and natural gas markets or delay production. The availability of a
ready market for oil and natural gas production depends on a number of factors, including the demand for and supply
of oil and natural gas, the proximity of reserves to pipelines or trucking and terminal facilities and the availability of
trucks and other transportation equipment. We may be required to shut-in wells or delay initial production for lack of
a viable market or because of inadequacy or unavailability of pipeline or gathering system capacity. When that occurs,
we will be unable to realize revenue from those wells until the production can be tied to a gathering system. This can
result in considerable delays from the initial discovery of a reservoir to the actual production of the oil and natural gas
and realization of revenues.
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Delays in obtaining permits by us for our operations could impact our business.

We are required to obtain permits from one or more governmental agencies in order to perform drilling and
completion activities, including hydraulic fracturing. Such permits are typically required by state agencies, but can
also be required by federal and local governmental agencies. As with all governmental permitting processes, there is a
degree of uncertainty as to whether a permit will be granted, the time it will take for a permit to be issued, and the
conditions which may be imposed in connection with the granting of the permit. Hydraulic fracturing activities has
been particularly scrutinized. New York, for example, previously issued a moratorium currently in effect on the
issuance of permits for inland drilling and completion activities. Subject to an Executive Order issued by Governor
Paterson on December 13, 2010, the New York Department of Environmental Conservation will not issue permits for
drilling and completion activities until it completes a final environmental impact study following public comment.
Texas is not currently considering such a measure. In addition, on May 17, 2012, the Governor of Vermont signed a
bill banning hydraulic fracturing in the state of Vermont. Additionally, on December 17, 2014, the Governor of New
York announced the state’s decision to officially ban high-volume hydraulic fracturing. If we are unable to obtain the
necessary permits for our operations, it could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and
profitability.

Our operations are subject to hazards inherent in the oil and natural gas industry.

We implement hydraulic fracturing in our operations, a process involving the injection of fluids—usually consisting
mostly of water but typically including small amounts of several chemical additives—as well as sand in order to create
fractures extending from the wellbore through the rock formation to enable oil or natural gas to move more easily
through the rock pores to a production well. Risks inherent to our industry include the potential for significant losses
associated with damage to the environment. Equipment design or operational failures, or vehicle operator error can
result in explosions and discharges of toxic gases, chemicals and hazardous substances, and, in rare cases,
uncontrollable flows of natural gas or well fluids into environmental media, as well as personal injury, loss of life,
long-term suspension or cessation of operations and interruption of our business and/or the business or livelihood of
third parties, damage to geologic formations, environmental media and natural resources, equipment and/or facilities
and property. In addition, we use and generate hazardous substances and wastes in our operations and may become
subject to claims relating to the release of such substances into the environment. In addition, some of our current
properties are, or have been, used for industrial purposes, which could contain currently unknown contamination that
could expose us to governmental requirements or claims relating to environmental remediation, personal injury and/or
property damage. These conditions could expose us to liability for personal injury, wrongful death, property damage,
loss of oil and natural gas production, pollution and other environmental damages and, in an extreme case, could
materially impair our profitability, competitive position or viability. Depending on the frequency and severity of such
liabilities or losses, it is possible that our operating costs, insurability and relationships with employees and regulators
could be materially impaired.

Our business and operations may be adversely affected by regulations affecting the oil and natural gas industry.

Our business and operations are subject to and impacted by a wide array of federal, state, and local laws and
regulations on the exploration for and development, production, and marketing of oil and natural gas, the operation of
oil and natural gas wells, taxation, and environmental and safety matters. Many laws and regulations require drilling
permits and govern the spacing of wells, rates of production, prevention of waste and other matters. The technical
requirements of these laws and regulations are becoming increasingly stringent, complex and costly to implement. The
high cost of compliance with applicable regulations may cause us to limit or discontinue our operation and
development activities.

Changes in regulations and laws relating to the oil and natural gas industry could result in our operations being
disrupted or curtailed by government authorities. For example, oil and natural gas exploration and production may
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become less cost effective and decline as a result of increasingly stringent environmental requirements (including land
use policies responsive to environmental concerns and delays or difficulties in obtaining environmental permits). A
decline in exploration and production, in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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The unavailability or high cost of drilling rigs, equipment, supplies, personnel and oilfield services could adversely
affect our ability to execute exploration plans on a timely basis and within budget.

We are highly dependent upon third-party services. The cost of oilfield services typically fluctuates based on demand
for those services. There is no assurance that we will be able to contract for such services on a timely basis or that the
cost of such services will remain at a satisfactory or affordable level. Shortages or the high cost of drilling rigs,
equipment, supplies or personnel could delay or adversely affect our exploration operations, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Production of oil and natural gas could be materially and adversely affected by natural disasters or severe or
unseasonable weather.

Production of oil and natural gas could be materially and adversely affected by natural disasters or severe weather.
Repercussions of natural disasters or severe weather conditions may include:

· evacuation of personnel and curtailment of operations;
· damage to drilling rigs or other facilities, resulting in suspension of operations;

· inability to deliver materials to worksites; and
· damage to pipelines and other transportation facilities.

In addition, our hydraulic fracturing operations require significant quantities of water. Texas recently has experienced
drought conditions. Any diminished access to water for use in hydraulic fracturing, whether due to usage restrictions
or drought or other weather conditions, could curtail our operations or otherwise result in delays in operations or
increased costs.

Operating hazards, natural disasters or other interruptions of our operations could result in potential liabilities,
which may not be fully covered by our insurance.

The oil and natural gas business generally, and our operations specifically, are subject to certain operating hazards
such as:

· accidents resulting in serious bodily injury and the loss of life or property;
· liabilities from accidents or damage by our equipment;

· well blowouts;
· cratering (catastrophic failure);

· explosions;
· uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas or well fluids;

· abnormally pressurized formations;
· fires;

· reservoir damage;
· oil spills;

· pollution and other damage to the environment; and
· releases of toxic gas.

In addition, our operations are susceptible to damage from natural disasters such as flooding or tornados, which
involve increased risks of personal injury, property damage and marketing interruptions. The occurrence of one of
these operating hazards may result in injury, loss of life, suspension of operations, environmental damage and
remediation and/or governmental investigations and penalties. The payment of any of these liabilities could reduce, or
even eliminate, the funds available for exploration and development, or could result in a loss of our properties. In
addition, pollution and environmental risks generally are not fully insurable. If a significant accident or other event
occurs and is not fully covered by insurance, it could materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of

Edgar Filing: CROSS BORDER RESOURCES, INC. - Form 10-K

46



operations and cash flows.
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Our insurance might be inadequate to cover our liabilities. Insurance costs are expected to continue to increase over
the next few years, and we may decrease coverage and retain more risk to mitigate future cost increases. If we incur
substantial liability, and the damages are not covered by insurance or are in excess of policy limits, then our business,
results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.

We may not be able to keep pace with technological developments in our industry.

The oil and natural gas industry is characterized by rapid and significant technological advancements and
introductions of new products and services using new technologies. As others use or develop new technologies, we
may be placed at a competitive disadvantage or competitive pressures may force us to implement those new
technologies at substantial costs. In addition, other oil and natural gas companies may have greater financial, technical
and personnel resources that allow them to enjoy technological advantages and may in the future allow them to
implement new technologies before we can. We may not be able to respond to these competitive pressures and
implement new technologies on a timely basis or at an acceptable cost. If one or more of the technologies we use now
or in the future were to become obsolete or if we are unable to use the most advanced commercially available
technology, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Competition in the oil and natural gas industry is intense, and many of our competitors have resources that are
greater than ours.

We operate in a highly competitive environment for developing and acquiring properties, marketing oil and natural
gas and securing equipment and trained personnel. As a relatively small oil and natural gas company, many of our
competitors, major and large independent oil and natural gas companies, possess and employ financial, technical and
personnel resources substantially greater than ours. Those companies may be able to develop and acquire more
prospects and productive properties than our financial or personnel resources permit. Our ability to acquire additional
prospects and discover reserves in the future will depend on our ability to evaluate and select suitable properties and
execute our exploration and development activities in a highly competitive environment. Also, there is substantial
competition for capital available for investment in the oil and natural gas industry. Larger competitors may be better
able to withstand sustained periods of unsuccessful drilling and absorb the burden of changes in laws and regulations
more easily than we can, which would adversely affect our competitive position. We may not be able to compete
successfully in the future in developing reserves, acquiring prospective oil and natural gas properties and reserves,
attracting and retaining highly skilled personnel and raising additional capital.

We may be unable to diversify our operations to avoid any downturn in the oil and natural gas industry.

Because of our limited financial resources, it is unlikely that we will be able to diversify our operations the way
companies with greater financial resources are able to do. Our inability to diversify our activities will subject us to
economic fluctuations within the oil and natural gas industry and therefore increase the risks associated with our
operations as limited to one industry.

Certain federal income tax deductions currently available with respect to oil and natural gas exploration and
development may be eliminated as a result of future legislation.

President Obama’s proposed Fiscal Year 2015 Budget includes proposed legislation that would, if enacted into law,
make significant changes to United States tax laws, including the elimination or postponement of certain key United
States federal income tax incentives currently available to oil and natural gas exploration and production companies. It
is unclear whether these or similar changes will be enacted and, if enacted, how soon any such changes could become
effective. The passage of any legislation as a result of these proposals or any other similar changes in United States
federal income tax laws could eliminate certain tax deductions that are currently available with respect to oil and
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natural gas exploration and development.
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Federal and state legislative and regulatory initiatives as well as governmental reviews relating to hydraulic
fracturing could result in increased costs and additional operating restrictions or delays as well as adversely affect
our level of production.

Hydraulic fracturing is an important and common practice that is used to stimulate production of hydrocarbons from
tight formations. The process involves the injection of water, sand and chemicals under pressure into formations to
fracture the surrounding rock and stimulate production. The process is typically regulated by state oil and gas
commissions. However, the EPA has asserted federal regulatory authority over certain hydraulic fracturing practices.
Also, legislation has been introduced, but not enacted, in Congress to provide for federal regulation of hydraulic
fracturing and to require disclosure of the chemicals used in the fracturing process. Certain states, including Texas,
and municipalities have adopted, or are considering adopting, regulations that have imposed, or that could impose,
more stringent permitting, disclosure, disposal and well construction requirements on hydraulic fracturing operations.
For example, in December 2011, the Railroad Commission of Texas finalized regulations requiring public disclosure
of all the chemicals in fluids used in the hydraulic fracturing process. Local ordinances or other regulations may
regulate or prohibit the performance of well drilling in general and hydraulic fracturing in particular. If new laws or
regulations that significantly restrict or regulate hydraulic fracturing are adopted, such legal requirements could cause
project delays and make it more difficult or costly for us to perform fracturing to stimulate production from a
formation. These delays or additional costs could adversely affect the determination of whether a well is commercially
viable. Restrictions on hydraulic fracturing could also reduce the amount of oil and natural gas that we are ultimately
able to produce in commercial quantities.

In addition, a number of federal agencies have analyzed, are analyzing, or have been requested to review, a variety of
environmental issues associated with hydraulic fracturing. The White House Council on Environmental Quality is
coordinating an administration-wide review of hydraulic fracturing practices, and a committee of the United States
House of Representatives has conducted an investigation of hydraulic fracturing practices. The EPA commenced a
study of the potential environmental effects of hydraulic fracturing on drinking water and groundwater, with initial
results released in December 2012. Moreover, the EPA announced on October 20, 2011 that it was also launching a
study regarding wastewater resulting from hydraulic fracturing activities. On August 16, 2012, the EPA published
final rules under the CAA that, among other things, imposed NSPS standards for completions of hydraulically
fractured natural gas wells, requiring the use of reduced emission completion techniques.

In addition, the U.S. Department of Energy is conducting an investigation into hydraulic fracturing practices the
agency could recommend to better protect the environment from drilling using hydraulic fracturing completion
methods. Also, the U.S. Department of the Interior is considering disclosure requirements or other mandates for
hydraulic fracturing on federal lands. Additionally, certain members of Congress have called upon the U.S.
Government Accountability Office to investigate how hydraulic fracturing might adversely affect water resources; the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) to investigate the natural gas industry and any possible misleading of
investors or the public regarding the economic feasibility of pursuing natural gas deposits in shales by means of
hydraulic fracturing; and the U.S. Energy Information Administration to provide a better understanding of that
agency’s estimates regarding natural gas reserves, including reserves from shale formations, as well as uncertainties
associated with those estimates. These ongoing or proposed studies, depending on their degree of pursuit and any
meaningful results obtained, could spur initiatives to further regulate hydraulic fracturing under the SDWA or other
regulatory mechanisms.

Our business exposes us to liability and extensive regulation on environmental matters, which could result in
substantial expenditures.
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Our operations are subject to numerous U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of
the environment, including those governing the discharge of materials into the water and air, the generation,
management and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes and the clean-up of contaminated sites. We could incur
material costs, including clean-up costs, fines and civil and criminal sanctions, injunctive relief and third-party claims
for property damage and personal injury as a result of violations of, or liabilities under, environmental laws and
regulations. Such laws and regulations not only expose us to liability for our own activities, but may also expose us to
liability for the conduct of others or for actions by us that were in compliance with all applicable laws at the time
those actions were taken. In addition, we could incur substantial expenditures complying with environmental laws and
regulations, including future environmental laws and regulations which may be more stringent, for example, the
regulation of GHG emissions under the federal CAA, or state or regional regulatory programs. Regulation of GHG
emissions by the EPA, or various states in the United States in areas in which we conduct business, could have an
adverse effect on our operations and demand for our oil and natural gas production. Moreover, the EPA has shown a
general increased scrutiny on the oil and gas industry through its GHG, CAA and SDWA regulations.
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On August 16, 2012, the EPA published final rules under the CAA regarding emissions from oil and natural gas
operations. The EPA rule subjects oil and natural gas operations to regulation under the NSPS and NESHAPS,
programs under the CAA, and imposes new and amended requirements under both programs. The new rules, among
other things, amend standards applicable to natural gas processing plants and would expand the NSPS to include all
oil and natural gas operations, imposing requirements on those operations. The EPA also imposed NSPS standards for
completions of hydraulically fractured natural gas wells, requiring the use of reduced emission completion techniques.
The adopted rules allow facilities, in most circumstances until January 1, 2015, to combust natural gas that would
escape during completion activities as an alternative to the reduced emission completion techniques. The NESHAPS
rules includes MACT standards for certain glycol dehydrators and storage vessels, and revises applicability
provisions, alternative test protocols and the availability of the startup, shutdown and maintenance exemption. These
new requirements may result in increased operating and compliance costs, increased regulatory burdens and delays in
our operations.

Additionally, we have been notified by the BLM that environmental deficiencies exist on our Tom Tom Tomahawk
field in Chaves and Roosevelt counties in New Mexico.  We have submitted a plan to remediate such activities to the
BLM and the plan has been accepted.  Before work can commence, we have to perform certain procedures such as
sampling the soil. For the year ended December 31, 2012, we recorded a non-cash charge of $2,100,000 which is
management’s best estimate of the costs to remediate the environmental deficiencies. This estimate could materially
differ from actual expenditures. If this occurs on any of our other properties, it could have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition and results of operations.

The EPA’s implementation of climate change regulations could result in increased operating costs and reduced
demand for our oil and natural gas production.

Although federal legislation regarding the control of emissions of GHGs, for the present, appears unlikely, the EPA
has been implementing regulatory measures under existing CAA authority and some of those regulations may affect
our operations. GHGs are certain gases, including carbon dioxide, a product of the combustion of natural gas, and
methane, a primary component of natural gas, that may be contributing to the warming of the Earth’s atmosphere,
resulting in climatic changes. These GHG regulations could require us to incur increased operating costs and could
have an adverse effect on demand for our oil and natural gas production.

On June 3, 2010, the EPA published its so-called GHG tailoring rule that will phase in federal prevention of
significant deterioration permit requirements for new sources and modifications, and Title V operating permits for all
sources, that have the potential to emit specific quantities of GHGs. Those permitting provisions, should they become
applicable to our operations, could require controls or other measures to reduce GHG emissions from new or modified
sources, and we could incur additional costs to satisfy those requirements. On November 30, 2010, the EPA published
a rule establishing GHG reporting requirements for sources in the petroleum and natural gas industry, requiring those
sources to monitor, maintain records on, and annually report their GHG emissions, with the first annual report for
2011 being due in September 2012. Although this rule does not limit the amount of GHGs that can be emitted, it
requires us to incur costs to monitor, record keep and report GHG emissions associated with our operations.
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We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. These material
weaknesses, if not corrected, could affect the reliability of our financial statements and have other adverse
consequences.

Under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are required to furnish a report by our management on
internal control over financial reporting. This report must contain, among other matters, an assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, including a statement as to whether or not our internal
control over financial reporting is effective. This assessment must include disclosure of any material weaknesses in
our internal control over financial reporting identified by our management.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014
relating primarily to the fact that we have a limited number of internal and external staff and therefore are not able to
implement proper segregation of duties and review procedures. Failure to have effective internal controls could lead to
a misstatement of our financial statements. If, as a result of deficiencies in our internal controls, we cannot provide
reliable financial statements, our business decision process may be adversely affected, our business and operating
results could be harmed, investors could lose confidence in our reported financial information, the price of our
common shares could decrease and our ability to obtain additional financing, or additional financing on favorable
terms, could be adversely affected. In addition, failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting
could result in investigations or sanctions by regulatory authorities.

We intend to take further action to remediate the material weaknesses and improve the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting. However, we can give no assurances that the measures we may take will remediate
the material weaknesses identified or that any additional material weaknesses will not arise in the future due to our
failure to implement and maintain adequate internal control over financial reporting. In addition, even if we are
successful in strengthening our controls and procedures, those controls and procedures may not be adequate to prevent
or identify irregularities or ensure the fair presentation of our financial statements included in our periodic reports
filed with the SEC.

Our officers and directors are engaged in other business activities and conflicts of interest may arise in their daily
activities which may not be resolved in our favor.

Certain conflicts of interest may exist between us and our officers and directors.  Our officers and directors have other
business interests to which they devote their attention, and we expect they will continue to do so.  As a result, conflicts
of interest or potential conflicts of interest may arise from time to time that can be resolved only through the officers
or directors exercising such judgment as is consistent with fiduciary duties to their other business interests and to
us.  These conflicts of interest may not be resolved in our favor.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure will result in additional
expenses and pose challenges for our management.

Changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including the
Dodd-Frank Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and SEC regulations,
have created uncertainty for public companies and significantly increased the costs and risks associated with accessing
the U.S. public markets. Our management team will need to devote significant time and financial resources to comply
with both existing and evolving standards for public companies, which will lead to increased general and
administrative expenses and a diversion of management time and attention from revenue generating activities to
compliance activities.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
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We may raise additional capital in the future through issuances of securities and such additional funding may be
dilutive to shareholders or impose operational restrictions.

We may raise additional capital in the future to help fund our operations through sales of shares of our common stock
or securities convertible into shares of our common stock, as well as issuances of debt. Such additional financing may
be dilutive to our shareholders, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants which may limit our
operating flexibility, including the ability to pay dividends. If additional capital is raised through the issuances of
shares of our common stock or securities convertible into shares of our common stock, the percentage ownership of
existing shareholders will be reduced. These shareholders may experience additional dilution in net book value per
share and any additional equity securities may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of the holders of
our common stock.
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We do not intend to pay dividends in the future.

We have not paid dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. The
payment of cash dividends in the future will be dependent on our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements
and general financial condition and will be entirely within the discretion of our board of directors at such time. It is the
present intention of our board of directors to retain earnings, if any, to fund our future growth, and there is no
assurance we will ever pay dividends in the future. As a result, any gain you will realize on our securities will result
solely from the appreciation of such securities.

Because we are quoted on the pink sheets instead of an exchange or national quotation system, our investors may
have more difficulty selling their stock or may experience negative volatility in the market price of our stock.

Our common stock is traded on the pink sheets, which is subject to greater volatility than a national exchange or
quotation system. This volatility may be caused by a variety of factors, including the lack of readily available price
quotations, the absence of consistent administrative supervision of bid and ask quotations, lower trading volume, and
market conditions. Investors in our common stock may experience high fluctuations in the market price and volume of
the trading market for our securities. These fluctuations, when they occur, have a negative effect on the market price
for our common stock. Accordingly, our stockholders may not be able to realize a fair price from their shares when
they determine to sell them or may have to hold them for a substantial period of time until the market for our common
stock improves.

Trading in our common stock has been limited, and our stock price could potentially be subject to substantial
fluctuations.

Trading in our common stock has been limited. Historically, our stock price has been affected substantially by a
relatively modest volume of transactions and could be again so affected. If our stock price falls, our stockholders may
not be able to sell their stock when desired or at desirable prices.

The value of our common stock might be affected by matters not related to our own operating performance.

The value of our common stock may be affected by matters that are not related to our operating performance and
which are outside of our control. These matters include the following:

· general domestic and worldwide economic conditions;
· industry conditions, including fluctuations in the price of oil and natural gas;

·governmental regulation of the oil and natural gas industry, including environmental regulation and regulation of
fracture stimulation activities;

· liabilities inherent in oil and natural gas operations;
· geological, technical, drilling and processing problems;

· unanticipated operating events which can reduce production or cause production to be shut in or delayed;
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· failure to obtain industry partner and other third party consents and approvals, when required;
· stock market volatility and market valuations;

· competition for, among other things, capital, acquisition of reserves, undeveloped land and skilled personnel;
· political conditions in oil and natural gas producing regions;
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· revenue and operating results failing to meet expectations in any particular period;
· investor perception of the oil and natural gas industry;

· limited trading volume of our common stock;
· announcements relating to our business or the business of our competitors;

· the sale of assets;
· our liquidity; and

· our ability to raise additional funds.
In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the trading price of their common stock have been the
subject of securities class action litigation. We might become involved in securities class action litigation in the future.
Such litigation often results in substantial costs and diversion of management’s attention and resources and could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation.

Our common stock is subject to penny stock regulation.

Our shares are subject to the provisions of Section 15(g) and Rule 15g-9 of the Exchange Act, commonly referred to
as the “penny stock” rule, which set forth certain requirements for transactions in penny stocks. The SEC generally
defines penny stock to be any equity security that has a market price less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain
exceptions. Rule 3a51-1 provides that any equity security is considered to be penny stock unless that security is:
registered and traded on a national securities exchange meeting specified criteria set by the SEC; authorized for
quotation on the NASDAQ Stock Market; issued by a registered investment company; excluded from the definition on
the basis of price (at least $5.00 per share) or the registrant's net tangible assets; or exempted from the definition by
the SEC. Since our shares are deemed to be “penny stock”, trading in the shares will be subject to additional sales
practice requirements on broker-dealers who sell penny stock to persons other than established customers and
accredited investors.

FINRA Sales Practice requirements may also limit a stockholder's ability to buy and sell our stock.

In addition to the “penny stock” rules described above, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) has
adopted rules that require that in recommending an investment to a customer, a broker-dealer must have reasonable
grounds for believing that the investment is suitable for that customer. Prior to recommending speculative low priced
securities to their non-institutional customers, broker-dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information
about the customer's financial status, tax status, investment objectives and other information. Under interpretations of
these rules, FINRA believes that there is a high probability that speculative low priced securities will not be suitable
for at least some customers. FINRA requirements make it more difficult for broker-dealers to recommend that their
customers buy our common stock, which may limit your ability to buy and sell our stock and have an adverse effect
on the market for our shares.

Item 1B.	Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2.	Properties
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Our producing oil and natural gas properties are located in the Permian Basin of Southeastern New Mexico, in
Chaves, Eddy, Lea, and Roosevelt counties. We also have significant undeveloped acreage in Chaves, De Baca, Eddy,
Grant, Hidalgo, Lea, Sierra, Socorro, Roosevelt, and San Juan counties.
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Title to Properties

As is customary in the oil and natural gas industry, we generally conduct a preliminary title examination prior to the
acquisition of properties or leasehold interests. Prior to commencement of operations on such acreage, a thorough title
examination will usually be conducted and any significant defects will be remedied before proceeding with
operations. We believe the title to our leasehold properties is good, defensible and customary with practices in the oil
and natural gas industry, subject to such exceptions that we believe do not materially detract from the use of such
properties. With respect to our properties of which we are not the record owner, we rely instead on contracts with the
owner or operator of the property or assignment of leases, pursuant to which, among other things, we generally have
the right to have our interest placed on record.

Our properties are generally subject to royalty, overriding royalty and other interests customary in the industry, liens
incident to agreements, current taxes and other burdens, minor encumbrances, easements and restrictions. We do not
believe any of these burdens will materially interfere with our use of these properties. Substantially all of our material
properties are pledged as collateral under our line of credit with Independent Bank.

Summary of Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

Proved Reserves

The following table sets forth our estimated net proved reserves as of December 31, 2014

Reserves

Estimated Proved Reserves Data: (1)

Oil /
Condensate

(MBbls)

Natural
Gas

(MMcf)

Natural
Gas
Liquids
(MBbls)

Total

(MBoe)

Proved developed reserves	 916 2,200 82 1,364
Proved undeveloped reserves	 780 1,050 0 955
Total proved reserves	 1,696 3,250 82 2,319

(1)Prices used are based on the 12-month unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each
month in the period January 2014 through December 2014. For oil volumes, the average NYMEX posted price of
$94.99 per Bbl is adjusted for quality, transportation fees and a regional price differential. For natural gas volumes,
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the average Henry Hub spot price of $4.35 per Mmbtu is adjusted for energy content, transportation fees and a
regional price differential. The adjusted volume-weighted average product prices over the life of the properties are
$88.59 per barrel of oil, $30.47 per barrel of NGL, and $6.11 per Mcf of gas.

The following table sets forth our estimated PV-10 and standardized measure of discounted net cash flows as of
December 31, 2014.

As of
December
31, 2014

PV-10 (1)	 $56,026,473
Standardized measure	 $36,771,891

(1)

PV-10 is a non-GAAP financial measure as defined by the SEC. The closest GAAP measure to PV-10 is the
standardized measure of discounted net cash flows. The standardized measure differs from PV-10 because
standardized measure includes the effect of future income taxes. We believe that the presentation of PV-10 is
relevant and useful to our investors as supplemental disclosure to the standardized measure, or after-tax amount,
because it presents the discounted future net cash flows attributable to our proved reserves before taking into
account future corporate income taxes and our current tax structure. The following table provides a reconciliation
of our PV-10 to our standardized measure:1
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PV-10	 $56,026,473
Future income taxes	 (26,902,690)
Discount of future income taxes at 10% per annum	 7,648,108
Standardized measure	 $36,771,891

Estimates of proved developed and undeveloped reserves are inherently imprecise and are continually subject to
revision based on production history, results of additional exploration and development, price changes and other
factors. See “—Qualifications of Technical Persons and Internal Controls Over Reserves Estimation Process.”

At December 31, 2014, our estimated proved reserves were 2,319 MBoe, an increase of 13.0% compared to 2,052
MBoe at December 31, 2013. During fiscal 2014, we added estimated proved reserves of 330 MBoe through field
extensions. Revisions to previous estimates increased increased reserves by 127 MBoe. These increases in reserves
were offset by production of 190 MBoe. The revisions to previous estimates were primarily due to better than
expected production.

Proved Undeveloped Reserves

Our proved undeveloped reserves at December 31, 2014 were 955 MBoe, consisting of 780 MBbl of oil, 0 MBbl of
NGLs, and 1,050 MMcf of natural gas.  During 2014, we converted 103 MBoe of proved undeveloped reserves to
proved developed producing reserves as the result of the completion of development wells in the Turkey Track area
and in the Red Lake area.  As of December 31, 2014, estimated future development costs relating to the development
of our proved undeveloped reserves was $16.7 million. All of our currently identified proved undeveloped reserves are
scheduled to be drilled by December 31, 2019.

Qualifications of Technical Persons and Internal Controls Over Reserves Estimation Process

Our reserve reports were prepared by Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, Inc. (“CG&A”), independent petroleum
engineers. CG&A estimated 100% of our proved reserves in accordance with petroleum engineering and evaluation
principles set forth in the Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserve Information
promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engineers (“SPE Standards”) and definitions and guidelines established by the
SEC.

The technical persons responsible for preparing the reserves estimates presented herein meet the requirements
regarding qualifications, independence, objectivity and confidentiality set forth in the SPE Standards.
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The principal person at CG&A who prepared the reserve report is Mr. Zane Meekins. Mr. Meekins has been a
practicing consulting petroleum engineer at CG&A since 1989. Mr. Meekins is a Registered Professional Engineer in
the State of Texas (License No. 71055) and has over 24 years of practical experience in petroleum engineering, with
over 21 years of experience in the estimation and evaluation of reserves. He graduated from Texas A&M University in
1987 with a Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum Engineering. Mr. Meekins meets or exceeds the requirements
regarding qualifications, independence, objectivity and confidentiality set forth in the SPE Standards. He is proficient
in judiciously applying industry standard practices to engineering and geoscience evaluations as well as applying SEC
and other industry reserve definitions and guidelines.

As indicated elsewhere in this report, we have no full-time employees and instead rely on the availability of internal
staff of Red Mountain, the majority holder of our common stock, to assist us in working with our independent
petroleum engineers to ensure the integrity, accuracy and timeliness of data furnished to them in their reserves
estimation process. Our technical team consults regularly with representatives of CG&A.  We review with them our
properties and discuss methods and assumptions used in their preparation of our year-end reserves estimates. While
we have no formal committee specifically designated to review reserves reporting and the reserves estimation process,
a copy of the reserve report is reviewed with representatives of CG&A and our internal technical staff before we
disseminate any of the information. Additionally, our senior management reviews and approves the CG&A reserve
report and any internally estimated significant changes to our proved reserves on an annual basis.

26

Edgar Filing: CROSS BORDER RESOURCES, INC. - Form 10-K

62



Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves are projections based on a process involving an independent third party
engineering firm’s collection of all required geologic, geophysical, engineering and economic data, and such firm’s
complete external preparation of all required estimates and are forward-looking in nature. These reports rely upon
various assumptions, including assumptions required by the SEC, such as constant oil and natural gas prices, operating
expenses and future capital costs. The process also requires assumptions relating to availability of funds and timing of
capital expenditures for development of our proved undeveloped reserves. These reports should not be construed as
the current market value of our reserves. The process of estimating oil and natural gas reserves is also dependent on
geological, engineering and economic data for each reservoir. Because of the uncertainties inherent in the
interpretation of this data, we cannot be certain that the reserves will ultimately be realized. Our actual results could
differ materially. See “Note 13—Supplemental Information Relating to Oil and Natural Gas Producing Activities
(Unaudited)” to our audited consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding our oil and natural
gas reserves.

Under SEC rules, proved reserves are those quantities of oil and natural gas, which, by analysis of geoscience and
engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible from a given date forward,
from known reservoirs, and under existing economic conditions, operating methods, and government regulations. The
term “reasonable certainty” implies a high degree of confidence that the quantities of oil and/or natural gas actually
recovered will equal or exceed the estimate. To achieve reasonable certainty, Neal employs technologies consistent
with the standards established by the Society of Petroleum Engineers. The technologies and economic data used in the
estimation of our proved reserves include, but are not limited to, well logs, geologic maps and available downhole and
production data, seismic data and well test data.

Summary of Oil and Natural Gas Properties and Projects

Production, Price and Cost History

The following table presents net production sold, average sales prices and production costs and expenses for the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013

Revenue
Oil and natural gas sales	 $12,352,299 $13,125,960

Net production sold
Oil (Bbl)	 127,688 122,666
Natural gas (Mcf) 277,128 282,864
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Natural gas liquids(Bbl)	 16,317 9,223
Total (Boe) 	 190,193 179,033

Average sales prices
Oil ($/Bbl)	 $82.52 $93.17
Natural gas ($/Mcf 4.87 4.56
Natural gas liquids ($/Bbl	 28.49 28.11
Total average price ($/Boe)	 $64.94 $73.32

Costs and expenses (per Boe)
Production taxes	 $5.25 $6.96
Lease operating expenses 12.03 12.85
Natural gas transportation and marketing expenses 0.54 0.44
Environmental cleanup 0.00 0.00
Impairment 0.00 0.00
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 18.75 27.60
Accretion of discount on asset retirement obligation	 0.98 0.83
General and administrative expense	 3.66 6.02
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Developed and Undeveloped Acreage

The following table presents our total gross and net developed and undeveloped acreage as of December 31, 2014:

Developed
Acres Undeveloped Acres

Gross
(1) Net (2) Gross (1) Net (2)

9,277 3,834 856,616 290,009

__________________

(1)	“Gross” means the total number of acres in which we have a working interest.

(2)	“Net” means the sum of the fractional working interests that we own in gross acres.

Our developed leasehold acreage is held by production, which means that these leases are active as long as we
produce oil or natural gas from the acreage or comply with certain lease terms. Upon ceasing production, these leases
will expire. Additionally, we have significant undeveloped acreage which consists of mineral rights and, accordingly,
does not expire.

Productive Wells

The following table presents the total gross and net productive wells by oil or natural gas completion as of December
31, 2014.  We own royalty interests in 23 gross wells (average of 0.58%), which have been excluded from these well
counts:

Oil Wells Natural Gas
Wells

Gross(1) Net(2) Gross(1) Net(2)

149 56.0 37 4.4
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(1)	“Gross” means the total number of wells in which we have a working interest.

(2)	“Net” means the sum of the fractional working interests that we own in gross wells.

Drilling Activity

The following table summarizes the number of net productive and dry development wells and net productive and dry
exploratory wells we drilled during the periods indicated and refers to the number of wells completed during the
period, regardless of when drilling was initiated. At December 31, 2014, we had three wells (0.2 net) being drilled or
awaiting completion.

Development
Wells

Exploratory
Wells

Year
Ended
December
31,

ProductiveDry ProductiveDry

2014 0.86 —  —  —  
2013 1.88 —  —  —  
2012 1.91 —  0.13 —  

As of April 1, 2015, the aforementioned working interest and net revenue interest were proportionately reduced by
50% pursuant to the terms of the Sale.

Item 3.	Legal Proceedings

The information under the heading “Litigation” contained in Note 9, “Commitments and Contingencies,” of our financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Price for Our Common Stock

Our common stock is quoted on the pink sheets under the symbol “XBOR.” The following table sets forth the range of
high and low bid prices for our common stock for the periods indicated. The over-the-counter market quotations
reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not necessarily represent actual
transactions.

High Low
Fiscal Year 2014:
Fourth Quarter $1.25 $0.75
Third Quarter $1.64 $1.11
Second Quarter $1.75 $0.85
First Quarter $1.23 $0.37
Fiscal Year 2013:
Fourth Quarter $0.60 $0.27
Third Quarter $0.69 $0.30
Second Quarter $0.67 $0.35
First Quarter $0.90 $0.63

Holders

As of April 30, 2015, there were approximately 39 holders of our common stock, including nominee holders such as
bank and brokerage firms who hold shares for beneficial owners.

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock to date. The payment of any dividends is within the
discretion of our Board of Directors. However, our credit agreement with Independent Bank restricts our ability to pay
dividends. Accordingly, it is the present intention of the Board of Directors to retain all earnings, if any, for use in the
business operations and, accordingly, the Board does not anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future.
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The payment of dividends in the future, if any, will be contingent upon restrictions contained in our credit agreement,
our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements and our general financial condition.

Sales of Unregistered Securities

We have not made any sales of unregistered securities during the year ended December 31, 2014 that was not
disclosed previously in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or in a Current Report on Form 8-K.

Item 6.	Selected Financial Data

Not applicable.

Item 7.	Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes to those statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical financial information, the following discussion and
analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our results and the
timing of selected events may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result
of many factors, including those discussed under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-
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Company

We are an oil and gas exploration company.  We currently own over 865,893 gross (approximately 146,922 net)
mineral and lease acres in New Mexico and Texas. Approximately 12,825 of these net acres exist within the Permian
Basin. A significant majority of our acreage consists of either owned mineral rights or leases held by production,
allowing us to hold lease rental payments to under $5,000 annually. The majority of our acreage interests consists of
non-operated working interests except for certain core San Andres properties which we operate.

Current development of our acreage is focused on our prospective Bone Spring acreage located in the heart of the 1st
and 2nd Bone Spring play. This play encompasses approximately 4,390 square miles across both New Mexico and
Texas. We currently own varying, non-operated working interests in both Eddy and Lea Counties, New Mexico, along
with our working interest partners that include Cimarex, Apache, Oxy Permian, Occidental, Oxy USA and,
Mewbourne; all having significant footprints within this play, and are adding to those footprints through lease and
corporate acquisitions.

History

We were originally formed on October 25, 2005 under the name “Language Enterprises Corp.”  We subsequently
changed our name to Doral Energy Corp.  On July 29, 2008, we acquired a working interest in 66 producing oil fields
and approximately 186 wells (the “Eddy County Properties”) in and around Eddy County, New Mexico. As a result of
our acquisition of the Eddy County Properties, we changed our business focus to the acquisition, exploration,
operation and development of oil and gas projects, and we ceased being a “shell company.” On August 4, 2008, we filed
our Form 8-K that included the information that would be required if we were filing a general form for registration of
securities on Form 10 as a smaller reporting company.

Effective January 3, 2011, we completed the acquisition of Pure Energy Group, Inc. as contemplated pursuant to the
Pure Merger Agreement among our company, Doral Sub, Pure L.P. and Pure Sub, a wholly owned subsidiary of Pure
L.P.  Pursuant to the provisions of the Pure Merger Agreement, all of Pure L.P.’s oil and gas assets and liabilities were
transferred to Pure Sub. Pure Sub was then merged with and into Doral Sub, with Doral Sub continuing as the
surviving corporation. Upon completion of the Pure Merger, the outstanding shares of Pure Sub were converted into
an aggregate of 9,981,536 shares of our common stock. Since the Pure Merger, Pure L.P. has distributed all of its
shares of our common stock to the partners of Pure L.P. so that Pure L.P. is no longer a shareholder of our company.

Effective January 4, 2011, following closing of the Pure Merger, Doral Sub was merged with and into our company,
with our company continuing as the surviving corporation. Upon completing the merger of Doral Sub with and into
our company, we changed our name to “Cross Border Resources, Inc.”
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On April 21, 2015, we entered into a purchase and sale agreement (the “PSA”) with RMR Operating, LLC (“RMR
Operating”), Black Rock Capital, Inc. (“Black Rock”), RMR KS Holdings, LLC (“RMR KS”) and Black Shale Minerals,
LLC (“Buyer”). Each of us, RMR Operating, Black Rock and RMR KS is an operating subsidiary (together, the
“Operating Subsidiaries”) of Red Mountain Resources, Inc. (“RMR,” and together with the Operating Subsidiaries, the
“Companies”).

Pursuant to the PSA the Operating Subsidiaries sold, assigned, transferred and conveyed to Buyer, effective as of
April 1, 2015, fifty percent (50%) of their right, title, and interest in and to certain oil and natural gas assets and
properties (the “Assets”), including their oil and natural gas leasehold interests, wells, contracts, and oil and natural gas
produced after April 1, 2015 (the “Sale”). The aggregate purchase price for the Assets under the PSA was $25.0 million,
subject to certain adjustments, including post-closing adjustments for any title or environmental benefits or title or
environmental defects resulting from Buyer’s title and environmental reviews. 

Significant Fiscal 2014 Operations

During fiscal 2014, Cross Border completed seven wells (0.9 net).

Three of these wells were in the Turkey Track area. The first, Zircon 12/7 GF Federal Com 1H, a 2nd Bone Spring
completion was completed in May 2014 and achieved a 10-day average rate of 1,028 Boe/d (87% oil). Cross Border
owns an approximately 16% working interest and 13% net revenue interest in the well. Another 2nd Bone Spring
completion, Bradley 31 B2DA Fed Com 1H, was completed in September 2014 and achieved a 10-day average
production rate of 790 BOE/d (88% oil). We own 7.0% working interest 6.1% net revenue interest in the well. The
third well, Zircon 2 B1EH State 2H, was completed in July 2014 in the 1st Bone Spring sand. The well achieved a
10-day average production rate of 549 BOE/d (81% oil). We own 12.5% working interest and 10.0% net revenue
interest in the well. These three wells are operated by Mewbourne Oil Company.
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We also completed three vertical Yeso wells in the Red Lake area. Southern Union 30G State 3 and Horseshoe State 3
were both completed in June 2014. We own approximately 14.8% working interest and 11.7% net revenue interest in
Southern Union 30G State 3 and approximately 12.5% working interest and 9.7% net revenue interest in Horseshoe
State 3. Both of these wells were completed in June 2014.Early production rates from the wells were 137 Boe/d (88%
oil) and 140 Boe/d (86% oil), respectively. The third well, Horseshoe State 4, was completed in December 2014, with
early production averaging 109 Boe/d (84% oil). We own approximately 16.7% working interest and 12.5% net
revenue interest in the well. These three Red Lake area wells are operated by LRE Operating.

The seventh completion was Perla Verde 31 State 2H, a 3rd Bone Spring well operated by XTO Energy. This well
was completed in December 2014 and achieved a 10 day average rate of 853 Boe/d (90% oil). Cross Border owns
6.3% working interest and 4.7% net revenue interest in the well.

On December 31, 2014, we had three wells in progress that were either drilling or awaiting completion. They are Perla
Verde 31 State 2H, an XTO-operated 3rd Bone Spring horizontal, Zircon 12/7 B2JK Federal Com 1H, a
Mewbourne-operated 2nd Bone Spring horizontal, and Scooter Federal Com 1H, a COG-operated 2nd Bone Spring
horizontal. We own a working interest of 4.7%, 16.5%, and 0.8%, respectively, in these wells.

As of April 1, 2015, the aforementioned working interest and net revenue interest were proportionately reduced by
50% pursuant to the terms of the Sale.

Planned Operations

At the end of fiscal 2014, we elected to participate in the drilling of three wells (0.2 net) that remained in progress at
December 31, 2014 and two wells (0.1 net) that are planned for fiscal 2015. Due to the asset sale on April 21, 2015,
the Company is reassessing its planned operations for fiscal 2015 other than the aforementioned wells in which the
Company has already elected to participate.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The preparation
of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosures. Our significant accounting policies are described
in “Note 3—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We have identified below policies that are of particular importance to the portrayal of our
financial position and results of operations and which require the application of significant judgment by management.
These estimates are based on historical experience, information received from third parties, and on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Oil and Gas Properties
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We follow the successful efforts method of accounting for our oil and natural gas producing activities. Costs to
acquire mineral interests in oil and natural gas properties and to drill and equip development wells and related asset
retirement costs are capitalized. Costs to drill exploratory wells are capitalized pending determination of whether the
wells have proved reserves. If we determine that the wells do not have proved reserves, the costs are charged to
expense. There were no exploratory wells capitalized pending determination of whether the wells have proved
reserves at December 31, 2014 or 2013. Geological and geophysical costs, including seismic studies and costs of
carrying and retaining unproved properties, are charged to expense as incurred. We capitalize interest on expenditures
for significant exploration and development projects that last more than six months while activities are in progress to
bring the assets to their intended use. Through December 31, 2014, we had capitalized no interest costs because our
exploration and development projects generally lasted less than six months. Costs incurred to maintain wells and
related equipment are charged to expense as incurred.
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On the sale or retirement of a complete unit of a proved property, the cost and related accumulated depreciation,
depletion and amortization are eliminated from the property accounts, and the resultant gain or loss is recognized. On
the retirement or sale of a partial unit of proved property, the cost is charged to accumulated depreciation, depletion
and amortization, with a resulting gain or loss recognized in income.

Capitalized amounts attributable to proved oil and natural gas properties are depleted by the unit-of-production
method over proved reserves using the unit conversion ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Boe. The ratio of six Mcf
of natural gas to one Boe is based on energy equivalency, rather than price equivalency. Given current price
differentials, the price for a Boe for natural gas differs significantly from the price for a barrel of oil.

It is common for operators of oil and natural gas properties to request that joint interest owners pay for large
expenditures, typically for drilling new wells, in advance of the work commencing. This right to call for cash
advances is typically found in the operating agreement that joint interest owners in a property adopt. We record these
advance payments in prepaid and other current assets in its property account and release this account when the actual
expenditure is later billed to it by the operator.

On the sale of an entire interest in an unproved property for cash or cash equivalents, gain or loss on the sale is
recognized, taking into consideration the amount of any recorded impairment if the property had been assessed
individually. If a partial interest in an unproved property is sold, the amount received is treated as a reduction of the
cost of the interest retained.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate our long-lived assets for potential impairment in their carrying values whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate such impairment may have occurred. Oil and natural gas properties are evaluated for potential
impairment by field. Other properties are evaluated for impairment on a specific asset basis or in groups of similar
assets, as applicable. An impairment on proved properties is recognized when the estimated undiscounted future net
cash flows of an asset are less than its carrying value. If an impairment occurs, the carrying value of the impaired asset
is reduced to its estimated fair value, which is generally estimated using a discounted cash flow approach. If the
results of an assessment indicate that the properties are impaired, the amount of the impairment is added to the
capitalized costs to be amortized.

Unproved oil and natural gas properties do not have producing properties. As reserves are proved through the
successful completion of exploratory wells, the cost is transferred to proved properties. The cost of the remaining
unproved basis is periodically evaluated by management to assess whether the value of a property has diminished. To
do this assessment, management considers estimated potential reserves and future net revenues from an independent
expert, our history in exploring the area, our future drilling plans per our capital drilling program prepared by our
reservoir engineers and operations management and other factors associated with the area. Impairment is taken on the
unproved property cost if it is determined that the costs are not likely to be recoverable. The valuation is subjective
and requires management to make estimates and assumptions which, with the passage of time, may prove to be
materially different from actual results.

In the second quarter of 2012, the Company determined to sell its Wolfberry assets located in Texas.  As a result of
that decision, management conducted an impairment evaluation of those assets which resulted in a non cash
impairment charge of approximately $1,776,000.
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Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2012, management conducted an impairment evaluation of its proved and
unproved oil and natural gas properties.  As a result of the evaluation, management recorded a non cash impairment
charge of approximately $857,945, primarily related to a decline in the value of proved reserves. There were no
impairment charges in the year ended December 31, 2013. In the third quarter of 2014, the Company recorded a non
cash impairment charge of $6,500,000.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations
and Disclosures of Components of an Entity(“ASU 2014-08”). ASU 2014-08 revises the definition of discontinued
operations by limiting discontinued operations reporting to disposals of components of an entity that represent
strategic shifts that have (or will have) a major effect on an entity’s operations and financial results, removing the lack
of continuing involvement criteria and requiring discontinued operations reporting for the disposal of an equity
method investment that meets the definition ofdiscontinued operations. The update also requires expanded disclosures
for discontinued operations, including disclosure of pretax profit or loss of an individually significant component of an
entity that does not qualify for discontinued operations reporting. The update is effective prospectively to all periods
beginning after December 15, 2014. Currently, the Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2014-08 to have a
material impact on our financial statements or results of operations.

Effective January 1, 2016, the Company will be required to adopt the amended guidance of Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) Topic 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation, which seeks to resolve the diversity in practice
that exists when accounting for share-based payments. The amended guidance requires a performance target that
affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period to be treated as a performance condition.

The Company will be required to adopt the amended guidance either prospectively to all awards granted or modified
after the effective date or retrospectively to all awards with performance targets that are outstanding as of the
beginning of the earliest annual period presented in the consolidated financial statements and to all new or modified
awards thereafter. The Company does not expect the adoption of this amended guidance to impact financial results.

Effective January 1, 2016, the Company will be required to adopt the amended guidance of ASC Topic 810,
Consolidation (Topic 810), which seeks to improve targeted areas of the consolidation guidance for legal entities such
as limited partnerships, limited liability corporations, and securitization structures. The amended guidance changes the
analysis that a reporting entity must perform to determine whether it should consolidate certain types of legal entities.
The changes include, among others, modification of the evaluation whether limited partnerships and similar legal
entities are variable interest entities or voting interest entities and elimination of the presumption that a general partner
should consolidate a limited partnership. The Company will be required to adopt Topic 810 either on a full
retrospective basis to each prior reporting period presented or on a modified retrospective basis with the cumulative
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effect of initially applying the new guidance recognized at the date of initial application. The Company has not yet
completed its assessment of the impact of the amended guidance on its financial statements but does not expect the
adoption of this amended guidance to have a significant impact on financial results.

Effective January 1, 2017, the Company will be required to adopt the new guidance of ASC Topic 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which will supersede the revenue recognition requirements in ASC Topic 605,
Revenue Recognition. Topic 606 requires the Company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. The new guidance requires the Company to apply the following steps: (1)
identify the contract with a customer; (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determine the
transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognize
revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation. The Company will be required to adopt Topic
606 either on a full retrospective basis to each prior reporting period presented or on a modified retrospective basis
with the cumulative effect of initially applying the new guidance recognized at the date of initial application. If the
Company elects the modified retrospective approach, it will be required to provide additional disclosures of the
amount by which each financial statement line item is affected in the current reporting period, as compared to the
guidance that was in effect before the change, and an explanation of the reasons for significant changes. The Company
has not yet completed its assessment of the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial statements. On
April 29, 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued a proposed Accounting Standards Update (FASB) to
defer the effective date of Topic 606 to annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim
reporting periods within that reporting period. If the FASB proceeds with the deferral of the effective date as
proposed, this will mean the Company will be required to adopt the new guidance of ASC 606 effective January 1,
2018.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a
Going Concern (“ASU 2014-15”), an amendment to FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 205,
Presentation of Financial Statements. This update provides guidance on management’s responsibility in evaluating
whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related
footnote disclosures. This ASU 2014-15 is effective for annual periods ending after December 15, 2016, and for
annual and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU
2014-15 to have a material impact on our financial statements or results of operations. If events occur in future periods
that could affect our ability to continue as a going concern, we will provide the disclosures required by ASU 2014-15.

The Company has reviewed other recently issued, but not yet adopted, accounting standards in order to determine
their effects, if any, on our results of operations, financial position and cash flows. Based on that review, we believe
that none of these recent pronouncements will have a significant effect on our current or future earnings or operations.

Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2013
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The following table presents net production sold, average sales prices and production costs and expenses for the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Year ended December 31,
2014 2013

Revenue
Oil and natural gas sales	 $12,352,299 $13,125,960

Net production sold
Oil (Bbl)	 127,688 122,666
Natural gas (Mcf) 277,128 282,864
Natural gas liquids(Bbl)	 16,317 9,223
Total (Boe) 	 190,193 179,033

Average sales prices
Oil ($/Bbl)	 $82.52 $93.17
Natural gas ($/Mcf 4.87 4.56
Natural gas liquids ($/Bbl	 28.49 28.11
Total average price ($/Boe)	 $64.94 $73.32

Costs and expenses (per Boe)
Production taxes	 $5.25 $6.96
Lease operating expenses 12.03 12.85
Natural gas transportation and marketing expenses 0.54 0.44
Environmental cleanup 0.00 0.00
Depreciation, depletion, amortization, and impairment 18.75 27.60
Accretion of discount on asset retirement obligation	 0.98 0.83
General and administrative expense	 3.66 6.02
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Revenues and Production

Oil and Natural Gas Production. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we had total production sold of 190,193
Boe, compared to total production sold of 179,033 Boe during the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase in
total production sold was attributable to newly completed wells in the fiscal year. For the year ended December 31,
2014, 67.1% of our production sold was oil, 24.3% was natural gas, and 8.6% was natural gas liquids, compared to
68.5% oil, 26.3% was natural gas, and 5.2% was natural gas liquids for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Oil and Natural Gas Sales. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we had oil and natural gas sales of $12.4
million, as compared to $13.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2013. The decrease in oil and natural gas
sales was primarily attributable to lower realized prices during the fiscal year.

Costs and Expenses

Operating Costs. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we incurred operating costs of $2.3 million, as compared
to $2.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2013.

Production Taxes. Production taxes were $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to $1.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Depreciation, Depletion, Amortization, and Impairment. For the year ended December 31, 2014, depreciation,
depletion, and amortization expense was $9.1 million, as compared to $4.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2013. The increase in depreciation, depletion, amortization, and impairment was primarily attributable to a $6.5
million non cash impairment charge recorded in the third quarter of 2014.

General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense was $0.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014 as compared to $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Other Expense. Other expense was $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to $0.1 milion for
the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase in other expenses is attributable to a $0.9 million loss on settlement
of litigation, a decrease in losses of derivatives of approximately $0.3, a reduction in interest expense of
approximately $0.2 million. In the 2013 period the company incurred approximately $0.9 million related to the gain
on settlement of debt which did not recur in the 2014 period.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flow from operations and borrowings under our line of credit. Our ability to
fund planned capital expenditures and to make acquisitions depends upon our future operating performance,
availability of borrowings under our line of credit and availability of equity and debt financing, which is affected by
prevailing economic conditions in our industry and financial, business and other factors, some of which are beyond
our control. Our cash flow from operations is mainly influenced by the prices we receive for our oil and natural gas
production and the quantity of oil and natural gas we produce. Prices for oil and natural gas are affected by national
and international economic and political conditions, national and global supply and demand for hydrocarbons,
seasonal weather influences and other factors beyond our control.
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Capital Expenditures

Most of our capital expenditures are for the exploration, development, and production of oil and natural gas reserves.
For 2014, we had capital expenditures of approximately $5.0 million for the development of oil and natural gas
properties. We anticipate capital expenditures of between $0.5 million and $2.0 million for 2015. See “—Planned
Operations” for more information about our planned capital expenditures.

Liquidity

At December 31, 2014, we had $0.4 million in cash and cash equivalents and $8.2 million outstanding under our
credit facility with Independent Bank. At December 31, 2014, we had $0 of availability under the credit facility. At
December 31, 2014, we had working capital of $3.3 million as compared to a working capital deficit of $0.4 million at
December 31, 2013. Excluding assets held for sale, we would have had a working capital deficit of $10.7 million.

Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities was $8.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to net
cash provided by operating activities of $7.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased to $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 from $9.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2013 due to a decrease in capital expenditures for the continued development
of our oil and natural gas properties.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, net cash used by financing activities was $4.0 million, as compared to $2.8
million during the year ended December 31, 2013.

Indebtedness

Notes Payable- Green Shoe
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In connection with the January 4, 2011 merger discussed history above, the Company, as the accounting acquirer,
assumed an unsecured loan from Green Shoe Investments Ltd. (“Green Shoe”) in the principal amount of $487,000 at an
interest rate of 5.0%

On April 26, 2011, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with Green Shoe, and the Company executed and
delivered a Promissory Note to Green Shoe in connection therewith. The amount of the Promissory Note and the loan
from Green Shoe (the “Green Shoe Loan”) was $550,936 and the purpose of the Green Shoe Loan was to consolidate
and extend all of the loans owed by the Company and its predecessors to Green Shoe including without limitation the
following: (i) loan dated May 9, 2008 in the principal amount of $100,000, (ii) loan dated May 23, 2008 in the
principal amount of $150,000, (iii) loan dated July 18, 2008 in the principal amount of $50,000, (iv) loan dated
February 24, 2009 in the principal amount of $100,000, and (v) loan dated April 29, 2009 in the principal amount of
$87,000 plus accrued interest of $63,936. The Green Shoe Loan is unsecured.
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Beginning March 31, 2011 (the effective date of the Promissory Note), the amounts owed under the Promissory Note
began to accrue interest at a rate of 9.99%, and the Promissory Note provided that no payments of principal or interest
were due until the maturity date of September 30, 2012. The Company is obligated to pay all accrued interest and
make a principal payment equal to one-third of the principal owed upon the closing of an equity offering resulting in a
specified amount of net proceeds to the Company. In addition, Green Shoe was granted the right to convert the
principal and interest owed into shares of common stock of the Company at a conversion price of $4.00 per share. The
principal balance of the note as of September 30, 2012 was $367,309.

The debt and associated accrued interest were not repaid at maturity on September 30, 2012. On October 22, 2012, the
Company received notice from the lender’s counsel that it would be considered in default on the note beginning
November 1, 2012 if the note and accrued interest were not paid in full. From November 1, 2012, the note began to
accrue interest at the default rate of 18%. On November 30, 2012, Jackson Street Investors, LLC purchased the note
from Green Shoe Investments. Subsequently, on December 12, 2012, Red Mountain Resources, Inc. purchased the
note from Jackson Street Investors, LLC. As of December 31, 2012, the note had a principal balance of $367,309 and
an accrued interest balance of $62,924.

On February 28, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a resolution to modify the terms of the note so that
the conversion price was reduced from $4.00 to $1.50 per share. On February 28, 2013, Red Mountain Resources, Inc.
converted the principal balance of $367,309 and accrued interest balance of $73,611 into 293,947 shares of the
Company’s common stock.

Notes Payable- Little Bay

In connection with the merger, the Company, as the accounting acquirer, assumed an unsecured loan from Little Bay
Consulting SA (“Little Bay”) in the principal amount of $520,000 at an interest rate of 5%.

On April 26, 2011, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with Little Bay, and the Company executed and
delivered a Promissory Note to Little Bay in connection therewith. The amount of the Promissory Note and the loan
from Little Bay (the “Little Bay Loan”) was $595,423 and the purpose of the Little Bay Loan was to consolidate and
extend all of the loans owed by the Company and its predecessors to Little Bay including without limitation the
following: (i) loan dated March 7, 2008 in the original principal amount of $220,000, (ii) loan dated July 18, 2008 in
the original principal amount of $100,000, and (iii) loan dated October 3, 2008 in the principal amount of $200,000
plus accrued interest of $75,423. The Little Bay Loan is unsecured.
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Beginning March 31, 2011 (the effective date of the Promissory Note), the amounts owed under the Promissory Note
began to accrue interest at a rate of 9.99%, and the Promissory Note provided that no payments of principal or interest
were due until the maturity date of September 30, 2012. The Company is obligated to pay all accrued interest and
make a principal payment equal to one-third of the principal owed upon the closing of an equity offering resulting in a
specified amount of net proceeds to the Company. In addition, Little Bay was granted the right to convert the principal
and interest owed into shares of common stock of the Company at a conversion price of $4.00 per share. The principal
balance of the note as of September 30, 2012 is $396,969.

The debt and associated accrued interest were not repaid at maturity on September 30, 2012. On October 22, 2012, the
Company received notice from the lender’s counsel that it would be considered in default on the note beginning
November 1, 2012 if the note and accrued interest were not paid in full. From November 1, 2012, the note began to
accrue interest at the default rate of 18%. On November 30, 2012, Jackson Street Investors, LLC purchased the note
from Little Bay Consulting, S.A. Subsequently, on December 12, 2012, Red Mountain Resources, Inc. purchased the
note from Jackson Street Investors, LLC. As of December 31, 2012, the note had a principal balance of $396,969 and
an accrued interest balance of $68,005.

On February 28, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a resolution to modify the terms of the note so that
the conversion price was reduced from $4.00 to $1.50 per share. On February 28, 2013, Red Mountain Resources, Inc.
converted the principal balance of $396,969 and accrued interest balance of $79,555 into 317,683 shares of the
Company’s common stock.
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Line of Credit – Texas Capital Bank

As of December 31, 2011, the borrowing base on the Texas Capital Bank (“TCB”) line of credit was $4,500,000.
Effective March 1, 2012, the borrowing base was increased to $9,500,000. The interest rate was calculated at the
greater of the adjusted base rate or 4%. The line of credit was collateralized by producing wells and was to mature on
January 14, 2014. As the result of the sale of certain interests in oil and gas properties, effective August 1, 2012, the
borrowing base was reduced by $750,000 and that amount was repaid to TCB out of the sale proceeds. On February 5,
2013, this line of credit was paid off and replaced with a revolving credit facility.

Credit Facility

On February 5, 2013, the Company entered into the Credit Agreement with Red Mountain Resources, Inc., Black
Rock Capital, Inc. and RMR Operating, LLC (the Company, Red Mountain Resources, Inc., Black Rock Capital, Inc.
and RMR Operating, LLC, jointly and severally, the “Borrowers”) and Independent Bank, as Lender. The Credit
Agreement provides for an up to $100.0 million revolving credit facility (as amended, the “Credit Facility”) with an
initial commitment of $20.0 million and a maturity date of February 5, 2016.  The borrowing base under the Credit
Facility is determined at the discretion of the Lender based on, among other things, the Lender’s estimated value of the
proved reserves attributable to the Borrowers’ oil and natural gas properties that have been mortgaged to the Lender,
and is subject to regular redeterminations on September 30 and March 31 of each year, and interim redeterminations
described in the Credit Agreement and potentially monthly commitment reductions, in each case which may reduce
the amount of the borrowing base. Effective September 12, 2013, the borrowing base was increased to $30.0 million
from $20.0 million. As of December 31, 2013, the borrowing base and commitment were $30.0 million. As of
December 31, 2013, the Company had $12.2 million outstanding under the Credit Facility and had availability of
$12.6 million. As of December 31, 2014 the Company had $8.2 million outstanding under the Credit Facility and had
availability of $0.

On March 11, 2015, the Company entered into an amendment and waiver (the “Third Amendment”) to the Senior First
Lien Secured Credit Agreement, dated February 5, 2013, as amended (the “Credit Agreement”), with RMR, Black Rock
and RMR Operating (together with the Company, the “Borrowers”) and Independent Bank (“Lender”). Pursuant to the
Third Amendment, (i) the Lender waived any default or right to exercise any remedy as a result of the failure by the
Borrowers to be in compliance with the requirements of Section 6.18 of the Credit Agreement with respect to the
permitted ratio of consolidated current assets to consolidated current liabilities of Borrowers for the fiscal quarter
ended September 30, 2014; and (ii) the borrowing base was decreased from $30 million to $27.8 million, effective as
of March 1, 2015, and the commitment amount was decreased to $27.8 million, subject to monthly commitment
reductions of $350,000 beginning March 1, 2015.
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On April 21, 2015, the Company entered into an amendment (the “Fourth Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement, with
the other Borrowers and the Lender. Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, the borrowing base was decreased from
$27.8 million to $12.4 million, effective as of April 21, 2015, and the commitment amount was decreased to $12.4
million. In addition, the monthly commitment reduction amount was set to $0 as of April 1, 2015.

Amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the greater of (x) the U.S.
prime rate as published in The Wall Street Journal’s “Money Rates” table in effect from time to time and (y) 4.0%.
Interest is payable monthly in arrears on the last day of each calendar month. As of December 31, 2014, the interest
rate was 4%. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are secured by first priority liens on substantially all the property of
each of the Borrowers and are unconditionally guaranteed by Doral West Corp. and Pure Energy Operating, Inc., each
a subsidiary of Cross Border.
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The Credit Agreement also contains financial covenants, measured as of the last day of each fiscal quarter of the
Company. As of December 31, 2014, the Company received waivers from the lenders for covenants that were not in
compliance.

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, at least one of the Borrowers is required to have acceptable hedge agreements in
place at all times effectively hedging at least 50% of the oil volumes of the Borrowers. Pursuant to the terms of the
Credit Agreement, the Company has agreements hedging a portion of the future oil production of the Borrowers.

Contractual Obligations

The following table presents a summary of our contractual obligations at December 31, 2014:

Payments Due By Period

(in thousands) Less than
one year

One to
three years

Three
to
five
years

More than
five years Total

Line of credit $—  $8,200,000 $ —  $—  $8,200,000
Environmental cleanup 2,057,175 —  —  —  2,057,175
Asset retirement obligations —  —  —  1,594,710 1,594,710
Total $2,057,175 $8,200,000 $ —  $1,594,710 $11,851,885

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2014, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined by Regulation S-K.

Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Not applicable.
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Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our financial statements required by this item are included in this report beginning on page F-1 and are incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A.	Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar
functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. There are inherent limitations to the
effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and
procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December
31, 2014 and, based on that evaluation, and as a result of the material weaknesses described below, our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not
effective at the reasonable assurance level.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting is designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of our financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Internal control over financial reporting includes policies
and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of our financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with the authorizations of our management and board of directors and
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. However, these inherent limitations are known features of
the financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not
eliminate, this risk.

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal
financial and accounting officer, assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014 based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework created by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, our management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2014 because of the
identification of the material weaknesses identified below.

A material weakness (as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) is a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement in our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. During
the course of our assessment, management identified the following material weaknesses:

lack of accounting expertise to appropriately apply GAAP for complex or non-recurring transactions; and• 
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lack of sufficient accounting personnel to properly design and implement internal control over financial
reporting.

• 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public
accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting as such report is not required for non-accelerated
filers.

Management’s Plan for Remediation of Our Material Weaknesses

Management will continue to review and assess our system of internal control over financial reporting as well as the
new members of our accounting staff and their increased levels of accounting expertise. During this review and
assessment, we will continue to implement enhancements to our system of internal controls where appropriate.
Finally, we will continue to evaluate the employees and contractors involved in the preparation of our financial
statements, the need to engage outside consultants with accounting and tax expertise to assist us in accounting for
complex transactions and the hiring of additional accounting staff as necessary to timely prepare our financial
statements. Management currently believes it will be able to remedy the material weaknesses described above over the
next 12 months.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B.	Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10.	Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Directors and Executive Officers

Our current directors and executive officers are as follows:

Name Age Position
Alan W. Barksdale 37 Chairman of the Board of Directors
Earl M. Sebring 65 Interim President
Kenneth S. Lamb 39 Chief Accounting Officer, Secretary, and Treasurer
Richard F. LaRoche Jr. 69 Director
Paul N. Vassilakos 37 Director
John W. Hawkins 69 Director

Alan W. Barksdale has been Chairman of the Board of Directors since May 2012. Mr. Barksdale has been the Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Red Mountain Resources, Inc. since June 2011, its
President since July 2012, and served as its Interim Acting Chief Financial Officer from June 2011 to August 2011.
Mr. Barksdale has also been the owner and president of StoneStreet and president and manager of StoneStreet Group,
advisory and management services and merchant banking firms, since 2008. Mr. Barksdale has also been the president
of AWB Enterprises, Inc., a holding company, since November 2011. From January 2004 to April 2010, Mr.
Barksdale served as a director in the Capital Markets Group of Crews & Associates, an investment banking firm.
From August 2003 to October 2003, Mr. Barksdale served as an investment banker at Stephens Inc., an investment
banking firm. From 2002 to 2003, Mr. Barksdale was an investment banker at Crews & Associates. Mr. Barksdale’s
experience in operating, managing, financing and investing in more than 200 wells in Louisiana, New Mexico and
Texas, combined with his over ten years of capital markets experience and contacts and relationships, provides our
Board of Directors with invaluable management and operational direction.

In 2004, the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (“NASD”) alleged that Mr. Barksdale solicited an attorney
to make contributions to officials of an issuer with which Stephens Inc. was engaging in municipal securities business
when Mr. Barksdale was employed as an investment banker of Stephens Inc. Without admitting or denying the
allegations, Mr. Barksdale entered into an acceptance, waiver and consent decree that provided for a 30-day
suspension from associating with any NASD member and a $5,000 fine.
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Earl M. Sebring has been our Interim President since June 2012. Mr. Sebring is an exploration geologist with 35
years of experience. Since August 2000, Mr. Sebring has been the owner and President of Sebring Exploration Texas,
Inc., an independent exploration company. In 1982, Mr. Sebring became an exploration geologist for Wagner and
Brown, eventually becoming Exploration Manager. As Exploration Manager, Mr. Sebring was responsible for
handling all foreign and domestic exploration and production efforts. This included directing exploration efforts,
staffing those efforts as required, and securing outside industry funding. Mr. Sebring began his career at City Service
Oil Company in 1976 where his responsibilities included ascertaining petroleum commercial prospectivity in frontier
basins around the world through the use of core, log, geochemical, and out crop data. Mr. Sebring has been involved
in drilling, managing, consulting or investing in locations such as the Permian Basin, Gulf Coast, Oklahoma, Southern
France, Southern United Kingdom, Argentina, Columbia, Kodiak Shelf of Alaska, Philippines, Southern Australia,
Louisiana, New Mexico, Oklahoma and Athabasca Tar Sands. Mr. Sebring graduated from the University of Texas in
1976, where he received a Bachelor's Degree in Geology.
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Kenneth S. Lamb has been our Chief Accounting Officer, Secretary, and Treasurer since August 2012. Mr. Lamb has
significant experience in corporate accounting, financial reporting, and corporate governance. From December 2008
until May 2011, he was employed by Transatlantic Petroleum, Ltd., an international oil and gas company engaged in
the acquisition, exploration, development, and production of crude oil and natural gas, serving as its Director of
Internal Audit from December 2008 to July 2010 and its Manager of Financial Reporting and Internal Controls from
August 2010 to May 2011. From July 2007 until November 2008, Mr. Lamb was employed with the Brink's
Company, a company providing security-related services for banks, retailers and other commercial and governmental
customers, as Internal Audit Supervisor where he managed financial audits in numerous different countries. Mr. Lamb
began his career with PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2000 and worked for KPMG from 2005 to 2006. He received a
B.B.A. in Accounting and a B.A. in History from Sam Houston State University and is a licensed Certified Public
Accountant.

Richard F. LaRoche Jr was appointed as a director of the Company effective January 3, 2011, upon closing of the
Pure Merger. Mr. LaRoche served 27 years with National HealthCare Corporation (“NHC”) as Secretary and General
Counsel and 14 years as Senior Vice President, retiring from these positions in May 2002. He has served as a Board
member of NHC since 2002. Mr. LaRoche serves as a director of Lodge Manufacturing Company (privately held). He
also served on the boards of National Health Investors, Inc. from 1991 through 2008, National Health Realty, Inc.
from 1998 through 2007 and Trinsic, Inc. from 2004 through 2006. Mr. LaRoche continues to serve on NHC’s Board
of Directors and on that Board’s Audit Committee, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and
Compensation Committee.

He has a law degree from Vanderbilt University (1970) and an A.B. degree from Dartmouth College (1967).

Mr. LaRoche brings significant experience to this Board. He has served as both an independent board member to a
large publicly-held company and acted as general counsel to that company. The Company sought a director who could
provide leadership as the Company developed its policies and procedures, and Mr. LaRoche has provided that
direction and leadership. Mr. LaRoche’s legal and board experience were the primary factors considered in connection
with his election to the Board.

Paul N. Vassilakos has been a director since May 2012. From November 2011 through February 2012, Mr.
Vassilakos served as Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and director of Soton Holdings Group, Inc., a
publicly held company now known as Rio Bravo Oil, Inc. Since November 2013, Mr. Vassilakos has been the Chief
Executive Officer of Cullen Agricultural Holding Corp. (“CAH”) and served as its assistant treasurer from October 2009
to November 2013. CAH is seeking to consummate a business combination with Long Island Brand Beverages LLC, a
growth oriented company focused on the ready-to-drink tea segment in the beverage industry. In July 2007, Mr.
Vassilakos founded Petrina Advisors, Inc., a privately held advisory firm providing investment banking services, and
has served as its president since its formation. Mr. Vassilakos also founded and, since December 2006, serves as the
vice president of Petrina Properties Ltd., a privately held real estate holding company. From February 2002 through
June 2007, Mr. Vassilakos served as vice president of Elmsford Furniture Corp., a privately held furniture retailer in
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the New York area. Mr. Vassilakos brings extensive public company and capital markets experience, as well as his
professional contacts and experience, to our Board of Directors.

John W. Hawkins was appointed as a director of the Company effective January 3, 2011, effective upon closing of
the Pure Merger. Mr. Hawkins has over 30 years experience in management and accounting for NYSE listed
companies. He previously served as interim CFO of Pure L.P. and Aztec Energy Partners. In 2002, he retired as
VP-Treasurer of Dillard Department Stores after 28 years of service. As VP-Treasurer of Dillard’s, he managed the
treasury department, assisted with the annual audits, managed payroll department, tax department, accounts payable
department, worker’s compensation and general liability department, and the employee benefits department. He was
one of the 401(k) and pension plan administrators. He was heavily involved in the acquisition of 16 companies
totaling approximately $2.5 billion in revenue. Mr. Hawkins received a BBA with a major in accounting from
Midwestern University. Mr. Hawkins qualifies as an audit committee financial expert. In addition, his experience with
publicly traded companies and his historical knowledge of the Pure operations and assets prior to the Pure merger
were significant factors that led to his election to the Board. Mr. Hawkins has served on the board of directors of the
Self Insurance Institute of America, Ronald McDonald House of Little Rock, Texas,Self Insured Association, and as
chairman of the advisory board of Certergy Inc.
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Audit Committee

The primary functions of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board of Directors of the Company in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities with respect to: (i) the Company’s systems of internal controls regarding finance, accounting,
legal compliance and ethical behavior; (ii) the Company’s auditing, accounting and financial reporting processes
generally; (iii) the Company’s financial statements and other financial information provided by the Company to its
stockholders, the public and others; (iv) the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and (v) the
performance of the Company’s corporate audit department and independent auditors. Consistent with these functions,
the Committee will encourage continuous improvement of, and foster adherence to, the Company’s policies,
procedures and practices at all levels.

The members of the Audit Committee are not full-time employees of the Company and may or may not be
accountants or auditors by profession or experts in the fields of accounting or auditing and, in any event, do not serve
in such capacity. Consequently, it is not the duty of the Committee to conduct audits or to determine that the
Company’s financial statements and disclosures are complete and accurate and are in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles and applicable rules and regulations.

The members of the Audit Committee are John W. Hawkins, Paul N. Vassilakos and Richard F. LaRoche, Jr. John W.
Hawkins serves as chair of the Audit Committee and the Board has determined that he qualifies as an audit committee
financial expert. Mr. Hawkins is independent as such term as defined by both NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 5605 and
SEC Rule 10A-3(b)(1). The Audit Committee meets at least four times per year (on a quarterly basis). As part of its
job to foster open communications, the Audit Committee does meet in separate executive sessions without
management and the Company’s independent auditors to discuss any matters that the Audit Committee believes should
be discussed privately.

The charter of the Audit Committee is available on the Investor Relations section of the Company’s website
(www.xbres.com) by clicking “Investor Relations” and then “Corporate Governance.”

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The purpose of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is to provide assistance to the Board of
Directors in identifying and recommending candidates qualified to serve as directors of the Company, to review the
composition of the Board of Directors, to develop, review and recommend governance policies and principles for the
Company and to review periodically the performance of the Board of Directors.
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The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee considers candidates for Board membership suggested by its
members and other Board members as well as management and stockholders. The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee among many factors, considers qualities of high personal and professional ethics, values and
integrity It also examines the skills, diversity, backgrounds and experience with business and other organizations of
director nominees. Also, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee looks for candidates with the ability
and willingness to commit adequate time to, as well as a commitment to representing the long-term interests of Cross
Border.

The members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are John W. Hawkins, Paul N. Vassilakos,
and Richard F. LaRoche, Jr. Mr. LaRoche serves as chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee meets at least annually.

The charter of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is available on the Investor Relations section of
the Company’s website (www.xbres.com) by clicking “Investor Relations” and then “Corporate Governance.”
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The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has adopted the following procedures by which security
holders may recommend nominees to the Company’s board of directors(as well as presenting shareholder proposals for
consideration by the shareholders at the next annual meeting):

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider all nominees and shareholder proposals
presented to it in writing provided that such nominees and proposals are received by the Committee no later than the
first day of the fourth quarter (October 1) of the Company’s fiscal year for consideration for nomination by the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee at the following annual shareholders’ meeting to be held in or
around May of the following year. Written requests should be sent to the Company’s address to the attention of the
Chair of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

Compensation Committee

The purpose of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors is to discharge the responsibilities of the
Board relating to compensation of the Company’s executive officers and to review and approve senior officers’
compensation.

Under the Charter of the Compensation Committee, the Compensation Committee is required to meet at least annually
and more frequently as necessary or appropriate. Special meetings of the Committee may be called on two hours
notice by the Chairman of the Board or the Committee Chairman. A majority of the Committee constitutes a quorum
and the Committee may act only on the affirmative vote of a majority of the members present at the meeting.

The members of the Compensation Committee are John W. Hawkins, Paul N. Vassilakos, and Richard F. LaRoche, Jr.
Mr. Vassilakos serves as chair of the Compensation Committee.

The charter of the Compensation Committee is available on the Investor Relations section of the Company’s website
(www.xbres.com) by clicking “Investor Relations” and then “Corporate Governance.”

Code of Ethics
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In connection with the Pure Merger, we adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to all of our
employees and directors, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, which is a “code of
ethics” as defined by applicable rules of the SEC. A copy of the Company’s Code of Ethics can be found on the
Company’s website, under the Investor Relations- Corporate Governance tabs
(http://xbres.investorroom.com/corp-governance).

If we make any amendments to our Code of Ethics other than technical, administrative, or other non-substantive
amendments, or grant any waivers, including implicit waivers, from a provision of our Code of Ethics to our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, or certain other finance executives, we will disclose the nature of the
amendment or waiver, its effective date and to whom it applies in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act (“Section 16(a)”) requires our executive officers and directors, and persons who
beneficially own more than 10% of our equity securities, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with
the SEC. Based solely on our review of Forms 3, 4 and 5 furnished to us as required under the rules of the Exchange
Act, we have no knowledge of any failure to report on a timely basis any transaction required to be disclosed under
Section 16(a).
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Item 11.	Executive Compensation

The following table sets forth information concerning compensation of our Named Executive Officers for the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2014. The Named Executive Officers are: our Interim President and our Chief
Accounting Officer, Secretary, and Treasurer.

Summary Compensation Table

Name and Principal Position Year Ended Salary
($)

Bonus
($)

Stock
Awards
($)

All Other
Compensation

($)

Total

($)

Earl M. Sebring December 31, 2014 200,000 — — — 200,000
Interim President December 31, 2013 200,000 — — — 200,000

Kenneth S. Lamb (1) December 31, 2014 —  — — — —
Chief Accounting December 31, 2013 —  — — 20,000 20,000
Officer, Secretary, and Treasurer

_________________________________

(1)

Mr. Lamb is an employee of Red Mountain Resources, the Company’s largest shareholder, and receives no direct
remuneration from the Company.  The Company reimburses Red Mountain Resources for a portion of Mr. Lamb’s
salary, upon request.  No such reimbursement request was made in 2014.  In 2013, the Company reimbursed
$20,000.  Such amounts are reported as all other compensation in the table above.   

Employment Agreements

Nature of Services Provided by Earl Sebring and Kenneth Lamb

Neither Mr. Sebring nor Mr. Lamb are employees of the Company. Their services as officers of the Company can be
terminated at any time by the Board of Directors. The Company pays Mr. Sebring $16,667 per month for his services
as Interim President. The Company reimburses Red Mountain Resources, Inc. (the Company’s largest shareholder) for
Mr. Lamb’s services as Chief Accounting Officer, Secretary, and Treasurer, upon request from Red Mountain
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Resources. Mr. Lamb is an employee of Red Mountain Resources, Inc., and serves as Red Mountain Resources, Inc.’s
Controller.

Indemnification Agreements

The Company has indemnificatieon agreements with each of its directors and officers. These agreements, among other
things, require the Company to indemnify each director and officer to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law,
against any and all expenses of a proceeding, in the event that such person was, is or becomes a party to or witness or
other participant in such proceeding by reason of such person’s service as a member of the Company’s board of
directors or as an officer.

Director Compensation

Our Board of Directors approved a compensation program for non-employee directors, as follows:

· Each non-employee director receives an annual cash fee of $8,000;

·Each non-employee director receives a cash fee of $500 for each telephonic meeting of the Board and committee that
such director participates in;
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·Each non-employee director receives a cash fee of $1,500 for each in person meeting of the Board and committee
that such director participates in; and

·Each non-employee director receives a cash fee of $500 for each in person meeting held with management that such
director participates in.

All directors are reimbursed for their costs incurred in attending meetings of the Board of Directors or of the
committees on which they serve. Members of our Board of Directors are appointed to hold office until the next annual
meeting of our stockholders or until his or her successor is elected and qualified, or until he or she resigns or is
removed in accordance with the provisions of the Nevada Revised Statutes.

Director Compensation Table

The table below reflects compensation paid to non-employee directors for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Name Fees Earned or
Paid in Cash ($)

Alan W. Barksdale 8,000
Paul N. Vassilakos 8,000
John W. Hawkins 8,000
Richard F. LaRoche Jr 8,000

Risk Management Relating to Compensation Policies

Due to the limited nature of compensation that we currently pay, particularly performance – based compensation, we do
not believe there are any risks arising from our compensation policies and practices that are reasonably likely to have
a material adverse effect on us.

Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of May 15,
2015 by (i) each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding shares of
common stock; (ii) each of our Named Executive Officers and directors and (iii) all of our executive officers and
directors as a group.
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Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1)

Amount of
Beneficial
Ownership (2)

Percentage
of
Outstanding
Common
Stock (2)

Alan W. Barksdale —  —  
Richard F. LaRoche, Jr. 838,331 (3) 4.8 %
John W. Hawkins 10,000 *
Paul N. Vassilakos —  —  
Earl M. Sebring —  —  
Kenneth S. Lamb —  —  
All executive officers and directors as a group (6 persons) 848,331 4.8 %
Red Mountain Resources, Inc. and Subsidiaries 16,830,598(4) 84.8 %
2515 McKinney Ave, Suite 900
Dallas, TX 75201
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_______________________

* Less than one percent

(1)
Unless noted otherwise, the address for the above individuals is 2515 McKinney Ave., Suite 900, Dallas, Texas
75201. Unless noted otherwise, each of the above persons has sole voting and investment power with respect to all
shares of common stock beneficially owned by them.

(2) Based on 17,336,226 shares of common stock issued and outstanding on December 31, 2014.

(3)

Mr. LaRoche is deemed the beneficial owner of 838,331 Shares, or 4.8% of the Issuer’s outstanding common stock,
which ownership includes: (i) 94,984 Shares held by LaRoche Family, L.P., of which Mr. LaRoche is a general
partner; (ii) 485,013 Shares held by LaRoche Enterprises, L.P., of which Mr. LaRoche is a general partner; (iii)
100,000 Shares held by Bushy Forest L.P.; of which Mr. LaRoche is a general partner; (iv) warrants to purchase
133,334 Shares held by LaRoche Enterprises, L.P, of which Mr. LaRoche is general partner; and (v) stock options
to purchase 25,000 Shares held by Mr. LaRoche. As general partner of LaRoche Family, L.P., LaRoche
Enterprises, L.P. and Bushy Forest, L.P., Mr. LaRoche has sole power to vote and to dispose of the Shares;
accordingly, he is deemed to have beneficial ownership over such shares. However, Mr. LaRoche disclaims
beneficial ownership of Shares held by the limited partnerships except to the extent of his pecuniary interest
therein.

(4)

Based on Amendment No. 14 to Schedule 13D filed on May 6, 2013, each of Red Mountain Resources, Inc. and
Alan Barksdale is deemed to be the beneficial owner of 16,830,598 shares of the Issuer’s Common Stock, or
approximately 84.8% of the Issuer’s outstanding Common Stock. This represents 14,327,767 shares of Common
Stock held by Red Mountain Resolurces, Inc. This also includes: (i) warrants to purchase 366,667 shares of
Common Stock held by Red Mountain Resources, Inc. and (ii) warrants to purchase 2,136,164 shares of Common
Stock of the Issuer held by Black Rock Capital, Inc., all of which are immediately exercisable. Barksdale is the
Chief Executive Officer of Red Mountain Resources, Inc. and an officer of Black Rock Capital, Inc. As such, Alan
Barksdale has the authority to vote the shares of Common Stock on behalf of Red Mountain Resources, Inc. and
Black Rock Capital, Inc. Black Rock Capital, Inc. is deemed to be the beneficial owner of 2,136,164 shares of the
Issuer’s Common Stock, or approximately 11.0% of the Issuer’s outstanding Common Stock. This represents
immediately exercisable warrants to purchase 2,136,134 shares of Common Stock held by Black Rock Capital, Inc.

Equity Compensation Plans

Effective April 29, 2009, our Board of Directors adopted our 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan”). The purpose
of the 2009 Plan is to enhance our long-term stockholder value by offering opportunities to our directors, officers,
employees and eligible consultants (“Participants”) to acquire and maintain stock ownership in us in order to give these
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persons the opportunity to participate in our growth and success, and to encourage them to remain in our service.

The 2009 Plan allows us to grant awards to our officers, directors and employees. In addition, we may grant awards to
individuals who act as consultants to us, so long as those consultants do not provide services connected to the offer or
sale of our securities in capital raising transactions and do not directly or indirectly promote or maintain a market for
our securities.

On adoption, a total of 8,500,000 shares of our common stock were available for issuance under the 2009 Plan.
Effective July 28, 2010, we amended and restated our 2009 Plan to increase the total number of shares authorized for
issuance under the 2009 Plan to 14,500,000 shares. However, under the terms of the 2009 Plan, at any time after
August 1, 2010, the authorized number of shares available under the 2009 Plan may be increased by our Board of
Directors, provided that the total number of shares issuable under the 2009 Plan cannot exceed 15% of the total
number of shares of common stock outstanding.

Awards may be granted in the form of options to purchase shares of our common stock (“Option Awards”) or in the
form of shares of our common stock (“Stock Awards”). Option Awards granted under the 2009 Plan may be made in the
form of incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options. Incentive stock options granted under the 2009 Plan
are those intended to qualify as “incentive stock options” as defined under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code.
However, in order to qualify as “incentive stock options” under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, the 2009 Plan
must be approved by our stockholders within 12 months of its adoption. The 2009 Plan has not been approved by our
stockholders and there is no assurance that the 2009 Plan will be approved by our stockholders. Non-qualified stock
options granted under the 2009 Plan are Option Awards that do not qualify as incentive stock options under Section
422 of the Internal Revenue Code. Stock Awards may be made subject to such terms, conditions and restrictions as the
plan administrator may, in its sole discretion, decide, including transfer restrictions and vesting provisions. On May
26, 2009, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration Number 333-159480) under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), to register 8,500,000 shares of our common stock available for issuance
under the 2009 Plan.
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On August 10, 2010, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration Number 333-168724) under the
Securities Act to register an additional 6,000,000 shares of our common stock available for issuance under the 2009
Plan as amended and restated. The total registered shares available for issuance under the 2009 Plan was reduced to
263,636 shares by the 1-for-55 reverse split effective December 27, 2010. The 2009 Plan expressly provides that the
number of shares may be increased to the number of shares issued under the 2009 Plan provided that it does not
exceed 15% of the outstanding shares. The total number of shares underlying currently outstanding options issued
under the Plan is 87,500. The registration statement was terminated by the Company in April 2015.

The following table sets forth certain information concerning all equity compensation plans previously approved by
stockholders and all previous equity compensation plans not previously approved by stockholders, as of the most
recently completed fiscal year. In April 2015, the registration statements relating to the 2009 Plan were terminated by
the Company.

Plan Category

Number of
Securities
to be

Issued
Upon
Exercise of

Outstanding
Options,

Warrants,
and Rights
(a)

Weighted-

Average
Exercise

Price of

Outstanding

Options,

Warrants
and

Rights (b)

Number of
Securities

Remaining
Available for

Future
Issuance
Under
Equity

Compensation
Plans
(Excluding

Securities
Reflected in

column (a))

(c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders —    —    —    
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders 87,500 $ 4.80 2,357,792
Total 87,500 $ 4.80 2,357,792

(1)The total number of securities available for issuance under the plan cannot exceed 15% of the total number of
shares of common stock outstanding. Therefore, as of May 15, 2015, the number of securities remaining available
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is 15% of 16,301,946 (2,445,292) less outstanding options (87,500).

Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

We and RMR are party to a Technical Services Agreement under which RMR incurs costs on our behalf, primarily
related to wells in the Company's Tom Tom and Tomahawk fields. During the twelve months ended December 31,
2014, RMR incurred approximately $1,880,000 on our behalf. During the period ended December 31, 2014, we
advanced RMR $5,880,000 to use for its general and administrative and operating costs. Effective June 30, 2014 and
December 31, 2014 RMR assumed $3,000,000 and $1,000,000, respectively, of our obligation under the Credit
Facility.
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Independence of Directors

The standards relied upon the Board in determining whether a director is “independent” are those set forth in the rules of
the NYSE MKT LLC (formerly, NYSE Amex). The NYSE MKT LLC generally defines “independent directors” as a
person other than an executive officer or employee of a company, who does not have a relationship with the company
that would interfere with the director’s exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a
director. Consistent with these standards, our Board of Directors has affirmatively determined that Messrs. Hawkins,
LaRoche, and Vassilakos are our independent directors.

Item 14.	Principal Accountant Fees And Services

Aggregate fees for professional services provided to us by Darilek, Butler & Associates, PLLC, our principal
accountant for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were as follows:

Year ended
December 31,
2014 2013

Audit Fees(a) $202,300 $205,100
Audit-Related Fees(b) 30,450 84,000
Tax Fees(c) —  —  
All Other Fees —  —  
Total $232,750 $289,100
_________________

(a)Audit services billed consisted of the audits of our annual financial statements and reviews of our quarterly
condensed financial statements.

(b)Audit-related fees includes professional services in connection with procedures related to various other audit and
special reports.

(c)Tax fees include tax compliance and tax planning.

Audit Committee Approval
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The Company’s board of directors has adopted a procedure for pre-approval of all fees charged by its independent
registered public accounting firm. Under the procedure, the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors
approves the engagement letter with respect to audit, tax and review services. Other fees are subject to pre-approval by
the audit committee. The audit, audit-related fees and tax fees paid to Darilek Butler & Associates, PLLC with respect
to 2014 and 2013 were pre-approved by the audit committee.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013
Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
Notes to Financial Statements

2. Exhibits required to be filed by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

The exhibits required to be filed by this Item 15 are set forth in the Exhibit Index accompanying this report.
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Cross Border Resources, Inc.

Balance Sheets

December
31, December 31,

2014 2013

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents $356,950 $726,239
Accounts Receivable – Oil and Natural Gas Sales 1,594,990 2,086,239
Accounts Receivable – Related Party — 24,630
Prepaid Expenses & Other Current Assets 71,598 87,443
Assets Held for Sale 15,617,472 —
Current Tax Asset 19,600 19,600
Total Current Assets 17,660,610 2,944,151

Oil and Gas Properties 27,243,106 56,561,040
Less: Accumulated Depletion, Amortization, and Impairment (11,956,319) (20,941,867 )
Net Oil and Gas Properties 15,286,787 35,619,173

Other Assets
Other Property and Equipment, net of Accumulated Depreciation of $110,278 and
$95,828 in 2014 and 2013, respectively 26,258 34,641

Restricted Cash 214,751 206,087
Deferred financing costs 47,512 91,242
Other Assets 54,324 54,324
Total Other Assets 342,845 386,294

TOTAL ASSETS $33,290,242 $38,949,618

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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December
31, December 31,

2014 2013

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable - Trade $1,865,625 $1,268,257
Accrued Expenses & Other Payables 664,368 63,101
Derivative Liability — 38,109
Line of Credit 8,200,000 —
Environmental Liability – Current Portion 2,057,175 1,400,000
Liabilities Associated with Assets Held for Sale 1,594,711 —
Deferred Tax Liability 19,600 19,600
Total Current Liabilities 14,401,479 2,789,067

Non-Current Liabilities
Asset Retirement Obligations 1,594,710 3,514,898
Environmental Liability, Net of Current Portion — 687,973
Line of Credit — 12,200,000
Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,594,710 16,402,871
Total Liabilities 15,996,189 19,191,938

Commitments & Contingencies (Note 8)

Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock ($0.001 par value; 99,000,000 shares authorized and 17,336,226
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and as of December 31, 2013,
respectively)

17,336 17,336

Additional Paid in Capital 33,462,473 33,462,473
Accumulated Deficit (16,185,756) (13,722,129 ) 
Total Stockholders’ Equity 17,294,053 19,757,680

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $33,290,242 $38,949,618

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Cross Border Resources, Inc.

Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013

 Revenues
Oil and gas sales $12,352,299 $13,125,960

Expenses:
Operating costs 2,287,908 2,300,899
Natural gas marketing and transportation expenses 102,736 78,211
Production taxes 999,395 1,246,153
Depreciation, depletion, amortization, and impairment 9,154,536 4,941,614
Accretion expense 185,773 148,364
General and administrative 695,613 1,007,065
Total expense 13,425,961 9,722,306

Income (loss) from operations (1,073,662 ) 3,403,654

Other income (expense):
Gain (loss) on derivatives (3,479 ) (269,769)
Loss on settlement of litigation (900,000 ) —
Gain on settlement of debt — 858,429
Interest expense (486,488 ) (639,578 )
Miscellaneous other income (expense) — —
Total other income (expense) (1,389,967 ) (50,918 ) 

Income (loss) before income taxes (2,463,629 ) 3,352,736

Current tax benefit (— )        (— )
Deferred tax expense —        —
Income tax expense — —
Net (loss) income $(2,463,629 ) $3,352,736

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic (0.14 ) 0.20
Fully diluted $(0.12 ) $0.16
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 17,336,226 17,169,041
Fully diluted 21,023,726 20,856,541

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Cross Border Resources, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013

CASH FLOWS (LOSS) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $(2,463,629) $3,352,736
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash used by operating activities:
   Depreciation, depletion, amortization, and impairment 9,154,536 4,941,614
   Gain on settlement of creditors liability — (350,800 )
   Gain on conversion of notes payable — (485,416 )
   Settlement of environmental liability (20,798 ) (12,027 ) 
   Loss on settlement of litigation — —
   Accretion of asset retirement obligations 185,773 148,364
   Amortization of deferred financing costs 43,730 9,803
   Change in derivative instruments (38,109) 328,897
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 685,645  1,083,856
Accounts receivable – related party 24,630 —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (176,534 ) 375,666
Accounts payable 597,368 (2,245,392)
Restricted cash 8,664 (206,087)
Accrued expenses 648,846 7,527
Interest payable — (— )

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8,650,122 6, 948,741

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures - oil and gas properties (5,013,345) (9,253,152 )
Capital expenditures - other assets (6,066 ) —
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (5,019,411) (9,253,152 )

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings on line of credit — 12,200,000
Reduction of principal on line of credit (4,000,000) —
Payments on line of credit (— ) (8,750,000 ) 
Repayments to creditors (— ) (660,911 )

NET CASH (USED) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES (4,000,000) 2,789,089

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (369,289) 484,678
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period year 726,239 241,561
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $356,950 $726,239
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Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest paid $443,067 $518,756
Income taxes paid $— $—

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
Revisions of ARO $(554,287 ) $—
Issuance of common stock to settle liability $— (692,967)
Additions of ARO $46,447 $51,290

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Cross Border Resources, Inc.

Statements of Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

Common Stock

Shares Amount
Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit Total

Balance at December 31, 2012 16,301,946 $16,302 $32,770,540 $(17,074,865) $15,711,977
Issuance of shares to Red Mountain Resources,
Inc. upon conversion of unsecured liabilities 611,630 612 409,180 — 409,792

Issuance of shares to settle creditors payable
claims 422,650 422 282,753 — 283,175

Net income loss attributable to shareholders — — — 3,352,736 3,352,736
Balance at December 31, 2013 17,336,226 17,336 33,462,473 (13,722,129) 19,757,680
Net loss attributable to shareholders — — — (2,463,629 ) (2,463,629 )
Balance at December 31, 2014 17,336,226 $17,336 $33,462,473 $(16,185,758) $17,294,051`

F-5
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Cross Border Resources, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements

1.   Organization

Nature of Operations

Cross Border Resources, Inc. (the Company) is an independent natural gas and oil company engaged in the
exploration, development, exploitation, and acquisition of natural gas and oil reserves in North America.  The
Company’s area of focus is the State of New Mexico, particularly southeastern New Mexico.  The Company has two
wholly-owned subsidiaries, which are inactive: Doral West Corporation and Pure Energy Operating, Inc, and
accordingly are not consolidated in these financial statements.

2.   Going Concern

At December 31, 2014, the Company had working capital of $3,259,133 (including Assets Held for Sale of
$15,617,472) and outstanding debt of $8,200,000 (consisting of a line of credit). The company would have a working
capital deficit of $10,763,628 (excluding Assets Held for Sale, Net of ARO Liabilities associated with the Assets Held
for Sale). The Company was not in compliance with the covenants of its line of credit with Independent Bank and had
no availability under this line of credit. The Company currently does not have sufficient funds to repay these
obligations. The Company is exploring available financing options, including the sale of debt, equity, or assets. If the
Company is unable to finance its operations on acceptable terms or at all, its business, financial condition and results
of operations may be materially and adversely affected. As a result of these conditions, there is substantial doubt
regarding the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The accompanying financial statements do not
include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the
amounts and classifications of liabilities that may result from the possible inability of the Company to continue as a
going concern.

3.   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Reclassification
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Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current period presentation. The amounts reclassified did
not have an effect on the Company’s results of operations or stockholders’ equity.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less
to be cash equivalents. At times, the amount of cash and cash equivalents on deposit in financial institutions exceeds
federally insured limits. The Company monitors the soundness of the financial institutions and believes the Company’s
risk is negligible.

Financial instruments

The carrying amounts of financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt, approximate fair value as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Oil and natural gas properties

The Company follows the successful efforts method of accounting for its oil and natural gas producing
activities.  Costs to acquire mineral interests in oil and natural gas properties and to drill and equip development wells
and related asset retirement costs are capitalized. Costs to drill exploratory wells are capitalized pending determination
of whether the wells have proved reserves. If the Company determines that the wells do not have proved reserves, the
costs are charged to expense. There were no exploratory wells capitalized pending determination of whether the wells
have proved reserves at December 31, 2014 or December 31, 2013. Geological and geophysical costs, including
seismic studies and costs of carrying and retaining unproved properties, are charged to expense as incurred. The
Company capitalizes interest on expenditures for significant exploration and development projects that last more than
six months while activities are in progress to bring the assets to their intended use. Through December 31, 2014, the
Company had capitalized no interest costs because its exploration and development projects generally lasted less than
six months. Costs incurred to maintain wells and related equipment are charged to expense as incurred.

On the sale or retirement of a complete unit of a proved property, the cost and related accumulated depreciation,
depletion and amortization are eliminated from the property accounts, and the resultant gain or loss is recognized. On
the retirement or sale of a partial unit of proved property, the cost is charged to accumulated depreciation, depletion
and amortization, with a resulting gain or loss recognized in income.
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Capitalized amounts attributable to proved oil and natural gas properties are depleted by the unit-of-production
method over proved reserves using the unit conversion ratio of six Mcf of gas to one barrel of oil equivalent (“Boe”).
The ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Boe is based upon energy equivalency, rather than price equivalency. Given
current price differentials, the price for a Boe for natural gas differs significantly from the price for a barrel of oil.
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It is common for operators of oil and natural gas properties to request that joint interest owners pay for large
expenditures, typically for drilling new wells, in advance of the work commencing. This right to call for cash
advances is typically found in the operating agreement that joint interest owners in a property adopt. The Company
records these advance payments in prepaid and other current assets and release this account when the actual
expenditure is later billed to it by the operator.

On the sale of an entire interest in an unproved property for cash or cash equivalents, gain or loss on the sale is
recognized, taking into consideration the amount of any recorded impairment if the property had been assessed
individually. If a partial interest in an unproved property is sold, the amount received is treated as a reduction of the
cost of the interest retained.

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for potential impairment in their carrying values whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate such impairment may have occurred. Oil and natural gas properties are evaluated
for potential impairment by field. Other properties are evaluated for impairment on a specific asset basis or in groups
of similar assets, as applicable. An impairment on proved properties is recognized when the estimated undiscounted
future net cash flows of an asset are less than its carrying value. If an impairment occurs, the carrying value of the
impaired asset is reduced to its estimated fair value, which is generally estimated using a discounted cash flow
approach. If the results of an assessment indicate that the properties are impaired, the amount of the impairment is
added to the capitalized costs to be amortized.

Unproved oil and natural gas properties do not have producing properties. As reserves are proved through the
successful completion of exploratory wells, the cost is transferred to proved properties. The cost of the remaining
unproved basis is periodically evaluated by management to assess whether the value of a property has diminished. To
do this assessment, management considers estimated potential reserves and future net revenues from an independent
expert, the Company’s history in exploring the area, the Company’s future drilling plans per its capital drilling program
prepared by the Company’s reservoir engineers and operations management and other factors associated with the area.
Impairment is taken on the unproved property cost if it is determined that the costs are not likely to be recoverable.
The valuation is subjective and requires management to make estimates and assumptions which, with the passage of
time, may prove to be materially different from actual results.

Revenue and accounts receivable

Edgar Filing: CROSS BORDER RESOURCES, INC. - Form 10-K

118



The Company recognizes revenue for its production when the quantities are delivered to, or collected by, the
purchaser. Prices for such production are generally defined in sales contracts and are readily determinable based on
certain publicly available indices. All transportation costs are included in lease operating expense.

Accounts receivable—oil and natural gas sales consist of uncollateralized accrued revenues due under normal trade
terms, generally requiring payment within 30 to 60 days of production. Accounts receivable—other consist of amounts
owed from interest owners of the Company’s operated wells.  No interest is charged on past-due balances. Payments
made on all accounts receivable are applied to the earliest unpaid items. The Company reviews accounts receivable
periodically and reduces the carrying amount by a valuation allowance that reflects its best estimate of the amount that
may not be collectible.  There was no reserve for bad debts as of December 31, 2014 or December 31, 2013.

Other property

Furniture, fixtures and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation of furniture, fixtures and equipment is provided
using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives ranging from three to ten years. Gain or loss on retirement
or sale or other disposition of assets is included in income in the period of disposition.

Income taxes

The Company is subject to U.S. federal income taxes along with state income taxes in New Mexico. When tax returns
are filed, it is highly certain that some positions taken would be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities,
while others are subject to uncertainty about the merits of the position taken or the amount of the position that would
be ultimately sustained. The benefit of a tax position is recognized in the financial statements in the period during
which, based on all available evidence, management believes it is more likely than not that the position will be
sustained upon examination, including the resolution of appeals or litigation processes, if any. Tax positions taken are
not offset or aggregated with other positions. Tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold
are measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement with
the applicable taxing authority. The portion of the benefits associated with tax positions taken that exceeds the amount
measured as described above is reflected as a liability for unrecognized tax benefits in the accompanying balance
sheet along with any associated interest and penalties that would be payable to the taxing authorities upon
examination. Interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits are classified as additional income taxes
in the Company’s Statements of Operations. The Company accrues interest and penalties, if any, related to
unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to the
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rate in effect for the year in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and
liabilities is recognized in income in the year of the enacted tax rate change. In addition, a valuation allowance is
established to reduce any deferred tax asset for which it is determined that it is more likely than not that some portion
of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Asset retirement obligations

Asset retirement obligations (“AROs”) associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets are recognized as
liabilities with an increase to the carrying amounts of the related long-lived assets in the period incurred. The cost of
the tangible asset, including the asset retirement cost, is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. AROs are
recorded at estimated fair value, measured by reference to the expected future cash outflows required to satisfy the
retirement obligations discounted at the Company’s credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate. Accretion expense is
recognized over time as the discounted liabilities are accreted to their expected settlement value. If estimated future
costs of AROs change, an adjustment is recorded to both the ARO and the long-lived asset. Revisions to estimated
AROs can result from changes in retirement cost estimates, revisions to estimated inflation rates and changes in the
estimated timing of abandonment.

Earnings per common share

The Company reports basic earnings per common share, which excludes the effect of potentially dilutive securities,
and diluted earnings per common share, which includes the effect of all potentially dilutive securities, unless their
impact is anti-dilutive.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

In April 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations
and Disclosures of Components of an Entity(“ASU 2014-08”). ASU 2014-08 revises the definition of discontinued
operations by limiting discontinued operations reporting to disposals of components of an entity that represent
strategic shifts that have (or will have) a major effect on an entity’s operations and financial results, removing the lack
of continuing involvement criteria and requiring discontinued operations reporting for the disposal of an equity
method investment that meets the definition ofdiscontinued operations. The update also requires expanded disclosures
for discontinued operations, including disclosure of pretax profit or loss of an individually significant component of an
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entity that does not qualify for discontinued operations reporting. The update is effective prospectively to all periods
beginning after December 15, 2014. Currently, the Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2014-08 to have a
material impact on our financial statements or results of operations.

Effective January 1, 2016, the Company will be required to adopt the amended guidance of Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) Topic 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation, which seeks to resolve the diversity in practice
that exists when accounting for share-based payments. The amended guidance requires a performance target that
affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period to be treated as a performance condition.

The Company will be required to adopt the amended guidance either prospectively to all awards granted or modified
after the effective date or retrospectively to all awards with performance targets that are outstanding as of the
beginning of the earliest annual period presented in the consolidated financial statements and to all new or modified
awards thereafter. The Company does not expect the adoption of this amended guidance to impact financial results.

Effective January 1, 2016, the Company will be required to adopt the amended guidance of ASC Topic 810,
Consolidation (Topic 810), which seeks to improve targeted areas of the consolidation guidance for legal entities such
as limited partnerships, limited liability corporations, and securitization structures. The amended guidance changes the
analysis that a reporting entity must perform to determine whether it should consolidate certain types of legal entities.
The changes include, among others, modification of the evaluation whether limited partnerships and similar legal
entities are variable interest entities or voting interest entities and elimination of the presumption that a general partner
should consolidate a limited partnership. The Company will be required to adopt Topic 810 either on a full
retrospective basis to each prior reporting period presented or on a modified retrospective basis with the cumulative
effect of initially applying the new guidance recognized at the date of initial application. The Company has not yet
completed its assessment of the impact of the amended guidance on its financial statements but does not expect the
adoption of this amended guidance to have a significant impact on financial results.

Effective January 1, 2017, the Company will be required to adopt the new guidance of ASC Topic 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which will supersede the revenue recognition requirements in ASC Topic 605,
Revenue Recognition. Topic 606 requires the Company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. The new guidance requires the Company to apply the following steps: (1)
identify the contract with a customer; (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determine the
transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognize
revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation. The Company will be required to adopt Topic
606 either on a full retrospective basis to each prior reporting period presented or on a modified retrospective basis
with the cumulative effect of initially applying the new guidance recognized at the date of initial application. If the
Company elects the modified retrospective approach, it will be required to provide additional disclosures of the
amount by which each financial statement line item is affected in the current reporting period, as compared to the
guidance that was in effect before the change, and an explanation of the reasons for significant changes. The Company
has not yet completed its assessment of the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial statements. On
April 29, 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued a proposed Accounting Standards Update (FASB) to
defer the effective date of Topic 606 to annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim
reporting periods within that reporting period. If the FASB proceeds with the deferral of the effective date as
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proposed, this will mean the Company will be required to adopt the new guidance of ASC 606 effective January 1,
2018.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a
Going Concern (“ASU 2014-15”), an amendment to FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 205,
Presentation of Financial Statements. This update provides guidance on management’s responsibility in evaluating
whether there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide related
footnote disclosures. This ASU 2014-15 is effective for annual periods ending after December 15, 2016, and for
annual and interim periods thereafter. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU
2014-15 to have a material impact on our financial statements or results of operations. If events occur in future periods
that could affect our ability to continue as a going concern, we will provide the disclosures required by ASU 2014-15.

The Company has reviewed other recently issued, but not yet adopted, accounting standards in order to determine
their effects, if any, on our results of operations, financial position and cash flows. Based on that review, we believe
that none of these recent pronouncements will have a significant effect on our current or future earnings or operations.
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4.   Asset retirement obligations

The following is a description of the changes to the Company’s asset retirement obligations for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013:

December
31,

December
31,

2014 2013

Asset retirement obligations at beginning of year $3,515,898 $3,317,358
Loss on Settlement (926 ) —
Settlement of liabilities (3,314 ) (1,114 ) 
Revision of previous estimates (554,287 ) —
Accretion expense 185,773 148,364
Additions 46,447 51,290
Asset retirement obligations at end of year $3,189,421 $3,515,898
ARO classified as liabilities associated with assets held for sale 1,594,711 —
ARO, Non-Current $1,594,710 $3,515,898

5.   Property and equipment

Oil and natural gas properties

The following table sets forth the capitalized costs under the successful efforts method for oil and natural gas
properties:

December
31,

December
31,

2014 2013

Oil and natural gas properties $27,243,106 $56,561,040
Less accumulated depletion and impairment (11,956,319) (20,941,867) 
Net oil and natural gas properties capitalized costs $15,286,787 $35,619,173
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Capitalized costs related to proved oil and natural gas properties, including wells and related equipment and facilities,
are evaluated for impairment based on the Company’s analysis of undiscounted future net cash flows. If undiscounted
future net cash flows are insufficient to recover the net capitalized costs related to proved properties, then the
Company recognizes an impairment charge in income equal to the difference between carrying value and the
estimated fair value of the properties. Estimated fair values are determined using discounted cash flow models. The
discounted cash flow models include management’s estimates of future oil and natural gas production, operating and
development costs, and discount rates.

Uncertainties affect the recoverability of these costs as the recovery of the costs outlined above are dependent upon
the Company obtaining and maintaining leases and achieving commercial production or sale.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a $6.5 million impairment charge against its oil and
gas assets. Additionally, the Company reclassified half of its oil and gas assets to assets held for sale.

Other property and equipment

The historical cost of other property and equipment, presented on a gross basis with accumulated depreciation is
summarized as follows:

December
31,

December
31,

2014 2013

Other property and equipment $136,535 $130,470
Less accumulated depreciation (110,277) (95,828 ) 
Net property and equipment $26,258 $34,641
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6.   Stockholders’ equity and earnings per share

2011 Equity Financing

On May 26, 2011, the Company closed a private offering exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933
pursuant to Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder.  In the offering, the Company issued an aggregate of
3,600,000 units.  Each unit was sold at $1.50 and was comprised of one share of common stock and one five-year
warrant to purchase a share of common stock at an exercise price of $2.25 per share.   The warrants became
exercisable on November 26, 2011.  The Company agreed to use the net proceeds from the sale of the units for general
business and working capital purposes and not to use such proceeds for the redemption of any common stock or
common stock equivalents.

The investors in the offering (“Selling Stockholders”) received registration rights.  The Company agreed to file a
registration statement covering the resale of the common stock issued and the common stock underlying the warrants
issued to the Selling Stockholders within sixty days after the closing date.  If the registration statement was not
declared effective by the SEC within the time periods defined within the agreement, then the Company would have
made pro rata cash payments to each Selling Stockholder as liquidated damages in an amount equal to 1.0% of the
aggregate amount invested by such Selling Stockholder for each 30-day period or pro rata for any portion thereof
following the date by which such Registration Statement should have been effective.  If at the time of exercise of the
warrants there is no effective registration statement covering the resale of the shares underlying the warrant, then the
Selling Stockholders have the right at such time to exercise warrants in full or in part on a cashless basis. The
Company filed an S-1 registration statement registering the shares on July 25, 2011, which was declared effective on
August 5, 2011. In April 2015, the foregoing registration statement was terminated by the Company.

In addition to registration rights, the Selling Stockholders were offered a right of first refusal to participate in future
offerings of common stock if the principal purpose of which was to raise capital.  This right of first refusal terminated
upon the one-year anniversary of the closing date.

Warrants

In connection with the equity offering closed on May 26, 2011, the Company issued warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 3,600,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a per share price of $2.25 (the "$2.25
Warrants").  The Company also has outstanding warrants to purchase 3,125 shares of the Company’s common stock at
a per share price of $5.00.  The $2.25 Warrants became exercisable in November 2011 and expire in November
2015. On the date of issuance, the warrants were valued at $898,384. Management determined the fair value of the
warrants based upon the Black-Scholes option model with a volatility based on the historical closing price of common
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stock of industry peers and the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the OTCBB on the date of issuance.
The volatility and remaining term was 50% and 2.92 years, respectively. The Company does not expect the immediate
exercise of these warrants as the exercise price exceeds the average closing market price for the Company's common
stock. Furthermore, no assurances can be made that any of the warrants will ever be exercised for cash or at all.

Stock Options

In 2011, the Company issued options to purchase 87,500 shares of its common stock at $4.80 to its directors.  For the
year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, there was no stock based compensation.

Stock option activity summary is presented in the table below:

Weighted-
average

Weighted- Remaining
average Contractual

Number of Exercise Term
Shares Price (years)

Outstanding and exercisable December 31, 2012 87,500 $4.80 4.08
  Granted — — —
  Cancelled — — —
  Exercised — — —
  Forfeited — — —
  Expired — — —
Outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2013 87,500 $4.80 3.08
  Granted — — —
  Cancelled — — —
  Exercised — — —
  Forfeited — — —
  Expired — — —
Outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2014 87,500 $4.80 2.08
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There is no intrinsic value in the outstanding options since the option price is in excess of the market price of the
Company's common stock.

The fair value of the options granted during 2011 was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following assumptions:

Closing market price of stock on grant date $3.11
Risk-free interest rate 2.43%
Dividend yield 0.00%
Volatility factor 50%
Expected life 2.5 years

The Company elected to use the “simplified” method to calculate the estimated life of options granted to employees. The
use of the “simplified” method has been extended until such time when the Company has sufficient information to make
more refined estimates on the estimated life of its options. The expected stock price volatility was calculated by
averaging the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock over a term equal to the expected life of the
options.

Issuance of Common Shares to Settle Creditors Payable

The Company entered into settlement agreements with two of the creditors payable arising out of the 2002
bankruptcy. The Company paid the creditors $633,975 in cash and the Company’s largest shareholder, Red Mountain
Resources, Inc. (“RMR”), issued approximately 750,000 shares of its common stock to the creditors in settlement of the
claims. In return for RMR issuing its shares to the creditors payable, the Company issued RMR 422,650 shares of its
common stock.

Conversion of Notes Payable

On February 28, 2013, RMR, the holder of the Green Shoe and Little Bay notes, elected to convert the outstanding
notes and accrued interest into common shares. The board of directors of the Company had previously resolved to
change the conversion feature from $4.00 per common share to $1.50 per common share. As a result, the Company
issued 611,630 common shares to RMR.
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7.   Related party transactions

The Company and RMR are party to a Technical Services Agreement under which RMR incurs costs on behalf of the
Company, primarily related to wells in the Company’s Tom Tom and Tomahawk fields. During the year ended
December 31, 2014, RMR incurred approximately $1,880,000 on behalf of the Company. During the period ended
December 31, 2014, the Company advanced RMR $5,880,000 to use for its general and administrative and operating
costs. Effective June 30, 2014 and December 31, 2014 RMR assumed $3,000,000 and $1,000,000, respectively, of the
Company’s obligation under the Credit Facility

The net amount of $0 is shown on the Company’s balance sheet under the caption Accounts Receivable – Related Party.

8.   Long term debt

Operating Line of Credit

On February 5, 2013, the Company entered into a Senior First Lien Secured Credit Agreement with RMR, Black Rock
Capital, Inc. and RMR Operating, LLC, as borrowers (the “Borrowers”) and Independent Bank, as Lender, providing for
an up to $100,000,000 credit facility (the “Credit Facility”). RMR owns approximately 83% of the outstanding common
stock of Cross Border, and Black Rock and RMR Operating are wholly owned subsidiaries of RMR. On February 5,
2013, the Company drew $8,900,000 on the line of credit and used those funds to pay off its prior line of credit and
associated accrued interest. On February 29, 2013, the Company drew $2,000,000 and on May 24, 2013, the Company
drew a further $1,300,000 on the line of credit and used those funds to pay accounts payable related to the drilling
program. Effective June 30, 2014, RMR assumed the Company’s obligations with respect to $3,000,000 of the
Company’s outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility in exchange for the satisfaction and discharge of a
$2,900,000 intercompany payable from RMR to the Company. Effective December 31, 2014, RMR assumed the
Company’s obligation with respect to $1,000,000 of the Company’s outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility in
exchange for the satisfaction and discharge of a $1,000,000 intercompany payable from RMR to the Company.

The borrowing base under the Credit Facility is determined at the discretion of the Lender based on, among other
things, the Lender’s estimated value of the proved reserves attributable to the Borrowers’ oil and natural gas properties
that have been mortgaged to the Lender, and is subject to regular redeterminations on September 30 and March 31 of
each year, and interim redeterminations described in the Credit Agreement and potentially monthly commitment
reductions, in each case which may reduce the amount of the borrowing base.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s outstanding borrowings under the line of credit were $8,200,000 and the
Company was not in compliance with all debt covenants. The Company received waivers from the lenders for
covenants that were not in compliance.
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On March 11, 2015, the Company entered into an amendment and waiver (the “Third Amendment”) to the Senior First
Lien Secured Credit Agreement, dated February 5, 2013, as amended (the “Credit Agreement”), with RMR, Black Rock
and RMR Operating (together with the Company, the “Borrowers”) and Independent Bank (“Lender”). Pursuant to the
Third Amendment, (i) the Lender waived any default or right to exercise any remedy as a result of the failure by the
Borrowers to be in compliance with the requirements of Section 6.18 of the Credit Agreement with respect to the
permitted ratio of consolidated current assets to consolidated current liabilities of Borrowers for the fiscal quarter
ended September 30, 2014; and (ii) the borrowing base was decreased from $30 million to $27.8 million, effective as
of March 1, 2015, and the commitment amount was decreased to $27.8 million, subject to monthly commitment
reductions of $350,000 beginning March 1, 2015.

On April 21, 2015, the Company entered into an amendment (the “Fourth Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement, with
the other Borrowers and the Lender. Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, the borrowing base was decreased from
$27.8 million to $12.4 million, effective as of April 21, 2015, and the commitment amount was decreased to $12.4
million. In addition, the monthly commitment reduction amount was set to $0 as of April 1, 2015.

9.   Commitments and contingencies

Litigation

The Company, the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer, and the Company’s former Chief Operating Officer are
party to a lawsuit with a former employee. On May 4, 2011, Clifton M. (Marty) Bloodworth initially filed a lawsuit in
the State District Court of Midland County, Texas, against Doral West Corp. d/b/a Doral Energy Corp. (the
predecessor entity of Cross Border) (“Doral Energy”) and Everett Willard Gray II, the Company’s former Chief
Executive Officer. Mr. Bloodworth later amended his lawsuit to name Horace Patrick Seale, the Company’s former
Chief Operating Officer, as an additional defendant. Mr. Bloodworth generally alleges that Mr. Gray and Mr. Seale, as
agents of the Company, made false representations which induced Mr. Bloodworth to enter into an employment
contract that was subsequently breached by the Company. The claims that Mr. Bloodworth has alleged are: breach of
his employment agreement with Doral Energy, fraud in the inducement and common law fraud, civil conspiracy,
breach of fiduciary duty, and violation of the Texas Deceptive Trade Practices Act. Mr. Bloodworth is seeking
damages of approximately $280,000. Mr. Gray, Mr. Seale and the Company deny that Mr. Bloodworth’s claims have
any merit. 

The Company was previously party to an engagement letter, dated February 7, 2012 (the “Engagement Letter”) with
KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc. (“KeyBanc”) pursuant to which KeyBanc was to act as exclusive financial advisor to the
Company’s board of directors in connection with a possible “Transaction” (as defined in the Engagement Letter). The
Engagement Letter was formally terminated by the Company on August 21, 2012. The Engagement Letter provided
that KeyBanc would be entitled to a fee upon consummation of a Transaction within a certain period of time following
termination of the Engagement Letter. On May 16, 2013, KeyBanc delivered an invoice to the Company representing
a fee and out-of-pocket expenses purportedly owed by the Company to KeyBanc as a result of the consummation of a
purported Transaction that KeyBanc asserts had been consummated within the required time period. The Company
disputed that any Transaction was consummated and that KeyBanc was entitled to any fees or out-of-pocket expenses.
The Company filed a complaint seeking (i) a declaration that it was not liable to KeyBanc for any amounts in

Edgar Filing: CROSS BORDER RESOURCES, INC. - Form 10-K

130



connection with the Engagement Letter, (ii) attorneys’ fees, and (iii) costs of suit. KeyBanc filed a counterclaim
seeking (i) compensatory damages, (ii) interest, (iii) expenses and court costs, and (iv) reasonable and necessary
attorneys’ fees. The matter was originally filed in the 44th Judicial District Court for the State of Texas, Dallas County
but was subsequently removed to the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division.
On August 26, 2014, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with KeyBanc, settling a lawsuit between the
parties. In connection with the settlement, the Company agreed to pay KeyBanc $900,000 in three equal installments
of $300,000 each on or before August 28, 2014, October 31, 2014 and December 31, 2014, and the parties agreed to
mutual releases of liability related to the Engagement Letter. This balance was paid in full at December 31, 2014.

In addition to the foregoing, in the ordinary course of business, the Company is periodically a party to various
litigation matters that it does not believe will have a material adverse effect on its results of operations or financial
condition.

Environmental Contingencies

The Company is subject to federal and state laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment.
Environmental risk is inherent in all oil and natural gas operations, and the Company could be subject to
environmental cleanup and enforcement actions. The Company manages this environmental risk through appropriate
environmental policies and practices to minimize the impact to the Company.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had approximately $2.1 million in environmental remediation
liabilities related to the Company’s operated Tom Tom and Tomahawk fields located in Chaves and Roosevelt counties
in New Mexico. In February 2013, the Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) accepted the Company’s remediation plan
for the Tom Tom and Tomahawk fields. The Company is working in conjunction with the BLM to initiate remediation
on a site-by-site basis. This is management’s best estimate of the costs of remediation and restoration with respect to
these environmental matters, although the ultimate cost could differ materially. Inherent uncertainties exist in these
estimates due to unknown conditions, changing governmental regulation, and legal standards regarding liability, and
emerging remediation technologies for handling site remediation and restoration. Pursuant to the PSA dated April 21,
2015 between the Companies and the Buyer, the Companies retained certain obligations and covenanted to bear and
pay all costs attributable to the Tom Tom and Tomahawk fields as further defined in the PSA. The Company expects
to incur the remaining costs during the next fiscal year.
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10.   Price risk management activities

ASC 815-25 (formerly SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”) requires that all
derivative instruments be recorded on the balance sheet at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of each derivative
are recorded each period in current earnings or other comprehensive income, depending on whether the derivative is
designated as part of a hedge transaction and, if it is, the type of hedge transaction. When choosing to designate a
derivative as a hedge, management formally documents the hedging relationship and its risk-management objective
and strategy for undertaking the hedge, the hedging instrument, the item, the nature of the risk being hedged, how the
hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the hedged risk will be assessed, and a description of the method of
measuring effectiveness. This process includes linking all derivatives that are designated as cash-flow hedges to
specific cash flows associated with assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific forecasted transactions.
Based on the above, management has determined the swaps noted below do not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment.

At December 31, 2014, the Company had a net derivative asset of $0, as compared to a net derivative liability of
$38,109 at December 31, 2013.  The change in net derivative asset/liability is recorded as non-cash mark-to-market
income or loss.  Mark-to-market income of $0 was recorded in the twelve months ended December 31, 2014 as
compared to mark-to-market income of $283,831 during the year ended December 31, 2013.  Net realized hedge
settlement loss for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $3,479 as compared to net realized hedge settlement loss of
$14,062 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013.  The combination of these two components of derivative
expense/income is reflected in "Other Income (Expense)" on the Statements of Operations as "Gain (loss) on
derivatives."

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had not crude oil swaps in place remaining.

Price Volumes

Fair Value of Outstanding

Derivative Contracts (1)

as of
Transaction Per Per December 31, December
Date Type (2) Beginning Ending Unit Month 2014 31, 2013
November 2011 Swap 12/01/2011 11/30/2014   $93.50 2,000 — (62,730)
February 2012 Swap 03/01/2012 02/28/2014 $106.50 1,000 — 24,621

$— $(38,109)

(1) The fair value of the Company's outstanding transactions is presented on the balance sheet by counterparty. All of
our derivatives were with the same counterparty. The balance is shown as current or long-term based on our estimate
of the amounts that will be due in the relevant time periods at currently predicted price levels. Amounts in parentheses
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indicate liabilities.

(2) These crude oil hedges were entered into on a per barrel delivered price basis, using the NYMEX - West Texas
Intermediate Index, with settlement for each calendar month occurring following the expiration date, as determined by
the contracts.

11.   Fair Value Measurements

Fair value measurements are based upon inputs that market participants use in pricing an asset or liability, which are
classified into two categories: observable inputs and unobservable inputs. Observable inputs represent market data
obtained from independent sources, whereas unobservable inputs reflect a company’s own market assumptions, which
are used if observable inputs are not reasonably available without undue cost and effort. These two types of inputs are
further prioritized into the following fair value input hierarchy:

Level 1 –quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level
2 –

quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or
liability (e.g. interest rates) and inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by
correlation or other means.

Level 3 –unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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The fair value input hierarchy level to which an asset or liability measurement in its entirety falls is determined based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the measurement in its entirety.

The following tables summarize the valuation of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at December 31, 2014
and December 31, 2013:

 Fair Value Measurements at Reporting
Date Using
Quoted
Prices
in
Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets
or
Liabilities

 (Level
1)

Significant
or Other
Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs

(Level 3)

Fair Value
at

December
31, 2014

Liabilities
Environmental liability $—$ — $ (2,057,175 ) $(2,057,175)
Assets associated with liabilities held for sale — — (1,594,711 ) (1,594,711)
Asset retirement obligations (non-recurring) $—$ — $ (1,594,710 ) $(1,594,710)

Total $—$ — $ (5,246,596 ) $(5,246,596)

 Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date
Using
Quoted
Prices
in
Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets
or

Significant
or Other
Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs

(Level 3)

Fair Value
at  December
31, 2013
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Liabilities

 (Level
1)

Assets:
Commodities derivatives $—$ 3,504 $ — $ 3,504
Total $—$ 3,504 $ — $ 3,504

Liabilities:
Environmental liability $—$ — $ (2,086,973 ) $ (2,086,973 )
Commodities derivatives — (38,109 ) (38,109 )
Asset retirement obligations (non-recurring) — — (3,514,898 ) (3,514,898 )
Total $—$ (38,109 ) $ (5,601,871 ) $ (5,639,980 )

12.   Supplemental information relating to oil and natural gas producing activities (unaudited)

Costs incurred in oil and natural gas property acquisition, exploration and development

Set forth below is certain information regarding the costs incurred for oil and gas property acquisition, development
and exploration activities:

Year Ended December
31,
2014 2013

Property acquisition costs:
Unproved properties $—  $—  
Proved properties —  —  
Exploration costs —  —  
Development costs (1) 4,360,946 8,312,662
Total costs incurred $4,360,946 $8,312,662

(1)For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, development costs included ($508,711) and $51,290,
respectively, in non-cash, asset retirement costs.
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Results of operations for oil and natural gas producing activities

Set forth below is certain information regarding the results of operations for oil and gas producing activities:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013

Revenues $12,352,299 $13,125,960
Production costs 2,287,908 2,300,899
Depletion and impairment 9,154,536 4,941,614
Accretion expense 185,773 148,364
Natural gas marketing 102,736 78,211
Production taxes 999,395 1,246,153
Results of operations $(378,049 ) $4,410,719

Proved reserves

Cawley, Gillespie and Associates, Inc, independent petroleum engineers estimated 100% of the proved reserve
information for the Company properties as of December 31, 2014 and 2013. Each year’s estimate of proved reserves
and related valuations were also prepared in accordance with then-current provisions of ASC 932, Extractive
Activities.

Estimates of proved reserves are inherently imprecise and are continually subject to revision based on production
history, results of additional exploration and development, price changes and other factors. All of the Company’s
estimated oil and natural gas reserves are attributable to properties within the United States. A summary of the
Company’s changes in quantities of proved oil and natural gas reserves for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013 are as follows:

Oil
(MBbl)

Natural
Gas
(MMcf)

Total
(Mboe)

December 31, 2012 1,271 1,695 1,554
Acquisitions —  —  —  
Extensions and Discoveries 371 817 507
Revisions to Previous Estimates 11 906 161
Production (123 ) (283 ) (170 )
December 31, 2013 1,530 3,135 2,052
Acquisitions —  —  —  
Extensions and Discoveries 250 477 330
Revisions to Previous Estimates 43 503 127
Production (128 ) (375 ) (190 )
December 31, 2014 1,695 3,740 2,319

Proved Developed Reserves
December 31, 2013 804 2,215 1,173
December 31, 2014 916 2,691 1,364

Proved Undeveloped Reserves
December 31, 2013 726 920 879
December 31, 2014 780 1,050 955
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Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved reserves

Future cash inflows were computed by applying the average on the closing price on the first day of each month for the
12-month period prior to December 31, 2014 to estimated future production. Future production and development costs
are computed by estimating the expenditures to be incurred in developing and producing the proved oil and natural
gas reserves at year end, based on year-end costs and assuming continuation of existing economic conditions.

Future income tax expenses are calculated by applying appropriate year-end tax rates to future pre-tax net cash flows
relating to proved oil and natural gas reserves, less the tax basis of properties involved.

Future income tax expenses give effect to permanent differences, tax credits and loss carryforwards relating to the
proved oil and natural gas reserves. Future net cash flows are discounted at a rate of 10% annually to derive the
standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows. This calculation procedure does not necessarily result in an
estimate of the fair market value of the Company’s oil and natural gas properties.
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The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved oil and natural gas reserves are as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013

Future cash inflows $172,561,969 $153,544,250
Future production costs (48,818,696 ) (41,381,543 )
Future development costs (18,080,062 ) (18,821,422 )
Future income tax expense (26,902,690 ) (20,243,102 )
Future net cash flows 78,760,521 73,098,179
10% annual discount for estimated timing of cash flows (41,988,630 ) (36,817,148 )
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows $36,771,891 $36,281,031

Changes in standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows

The changes in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved oil and natural gas
reserves are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013

Balance, beginning of year $36,281,031 $28,147,572
Net change in sales and transfer prices and in production (lifting) costs related to future
production 1,728,874 9,374,986 )

Changes in estimated future development costs 5,076,840 4,042,730
Sales and transfers of oil and natural gas produced during the period (8,962,260 ) (10,825,061)
Net change due to extensions and discoveries 8,255,840 12,107,955 )
Net change due to revisions in quantity estimates 3,182,507 3,883,464
Previously estimated development costs incurred during the period (4,360,946 ) (8,312,662 )
Accretion of discount 4,899,710 2,747,142
Other (2,791,193 ) (672,750 )
Net change in income taxes (6,538,512 ) (4,212,345 )
Balance, end of year $36,771,891 $36,281,031

13.   Income Taxes

Total income tax expense (benefit) differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. Federal statutory tax
rates to pre-tax income:

Year Ended
December 31,

in thousands 2014 2013

Income taxes at U.S. statutory rate (838) 1,140
State taxes, net of federal impact (65) 88
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Change in valuation allowance 937 (1,229) 
Permanent differences 0 1
Other differences (34 ) 0
Total 0 0

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) consist of the following:

Year Ended
December 31,

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Derivatives (0 ) (34)
Valuation allowance (6,909 ) (5,972)
Difference in depreciation and capitalization methods-natural gas properties, (8,826 ) (3,444)
Accrued expenses 776 765
Net operating losses 14,959 8,685
Total 0 0

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the result of temporary differences between the financial statement carrying
values and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The Company’s net deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded as a
long-term liability of $0 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had net operating loss carryfowards (“NOLs”) of approximately $40.8 million
which will begin to expire, if unused, in 2026.

The Company continually assesses both positive and negative evidence to determine whether it is more likely than not
that deferred tax assets can be realized prior to their expiration.  Management monitors Company-specific, oil and
natural gas industry and worldwide economic factors and assesses the likelihood that the Company's NOLs and other
deferred tax attributes in the United States, state, and local tax jurisdictions will be utilized prior to their
expiration.  The Company establishes a valuation allowance to reduce any deferred tax asset for which it is determined
that it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. At December 31, 2014,
and 2013 the Company had a valuation allowance of $6.9 million and $6.0 million, respectively, related to its deferred
tax assets.

The company recognizes the financial statement effects of tax positions when it is more likely than not, based on the
technical merits, that the position will be sustained upon examination by a taxing authority. Recognized tax positions
are initially and subsequently measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is more likely than not of being
realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority. We have not taken a tax position that, if challenged, would
have a material effect on the financial statements or the effective tax rate for the periods ended December 31, 2014
and December 31, 2013. There were no interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax positions for the periods
ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013. The tax years subject to examination by tax jurisdictions in the
United States are 2008 through 2014.
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14.   Assets and Liabilities Associated with Assets Held for Sale

On April 21, 2015, the Company entered into a purchase and sale agreement (the “PSA”) with RMR Operating, LLC
(“RMR Operating”), Black Rock Capital, Inc. (“Black Rock”), RMR KS Holdings, LLC (“RMR KS”) and Black Shale
Minerals, LLC (“Buyer”). Each of the Company, RMR Operating, Black Rock and RMR KS is an operating subsidiary
(together, the “Operating Subsidiaries”) of Red Mountain Resources, Inc. (“RMR,” and together with the Operating
Subsidiaries, the “Companies”).

Pursuant to the PSA the Operating Subsidiaries sold, assigned, transferred and conveyed to Buyer, effective as of
April 1, 2015, fifty percent (50%) of their right, title, and interest in and to certain oil and natural gas assets and
properties (the “Assets”), including their oil and natural gas leasehold interests, wells, contracts, and oil and natural gas
produced after April 1, 2015 (the “Sale”). The aggregate purchase price for the Assets under the PSA was $25.0 million,
subject to certain adjustments, including post-closing adjustments for any title or environmental benefits or title or
environmental defects resulting from Buyer’s title and environmental reviews.

As of December 31, 2014, the carrying values of the Company’s ownership in half of its interest in its oil and gas
properties, mineral interests, and leaseholds were included in assets and liabilities held for sale in the accompanying
balance sheet and were comprised of the following (the Company had no assets held for sale as of December 31,
2013):

December
31,
2014

Composition of assets included in assets held for sale:
    Oil and Gas Properties, Net $15,617,472

Composition of liabilities included in liabilities held for sale:
    Asset Retirement Obligations $1,594,711

Non-current assets and liabilities held for sale are presented in current assets and current liabilities, respectively,
within the balance sheet. Assets held for sale are not depreciated, depleted or amortized and they are measured at the
lower of the fair value less costs to sell and their carrying amount. Comparative period balance sheets are not restated.

15.   Subsequent Events
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Purchase and Sale Agreement

On April 21, 2015, the Company entered into a purchase and sale agreement (the “PSA”) with RMR Operating, LLC
(“RMR Operating”), Black Rock Capital, Inc. (“Black Rock”), RMR KS Holdings, LLC (“RMR KS”) and Black Shale
Minerals, LLC (“Buyer”). Each of the Company, RMR Operating, Black Rock and RMR KS is an operating subsidiary
(together, the “Operating Subsidiaries”) of Red Mountain Resources, Inc. (“RMR,” and together with the Operating
Subsidiaries, the “Companies”).

Pursuant to the PSA the Operating Subsidiaries sold, assigned, transferred and conveyed to Buyer, effective as of
April 1, 2015, fifty percent (50%) of their right, title, and interest in and to certain oil and natural gas assets and
properties (the “Assets”), including their oil and natural gas leasehold interests, wells, contracts, and oil and natural gas
produced after April 1, 2015 (the “Sale”). The aggregate purchase price for the Assets under the PSA was $25.0 million,
subject to certain adjustments, including post-closing adjustments for any title or environmental benefits or title or
environmental defects resulting from Buyer’s title and environmental reviews.

The PSA contains customary representations, warranties and covenants. Pursuant to the PSA, the Operating
Subsidiaries and Buyer have agreed to indemnify each other, their respective affiliates and their respective employees,
officers, directors, managers, shareholders, members, partners, or representatives from and against all losses that such
indemnified parties incur arising from any breach of representations, warranties or covenants in the PSA and certain
other matters.

The Companies intend to use the cash consideration from the Sale to repay a portion of the outstanding balance on the
Credit Agreement (as defined below), pay accounts receivable and for working capital.

Third Amendment and Waiver to the Credit Agreement

On March 11, 2015, the Company entered into an amendment and waiver (the “Third Amendment”) to the Senior First
Lien Secured Credit Agreement, dated February 5, 2013, as amended (the “Credit Agreement”), with RMR, Black Rock
and RMR Operating (together with the Company, the “Borrowers”) and Independent Bank (“Lender”). Pursuant to the
Third Amendment, (i) the Lender waived any default or right to exercise any remedy as a result of the failure by the
Borrowers to be in compliance with the requirements of Section 6.18 of the Credit Agreement with respect to the
permitted ratio of consolidated current assets to consolidated current liabilities of Borrowers for the fiscal quarter
ended September 30, 2014; and (ii) the borrowing base was decreased from $30 million to $27.8 million, effective as
of March 1, 2015, and the commitment amount was decreased to $27.8 million, subject to monthly commitment
reductions of $350,000 beginning March 1, 2015.

Fourth Amendment to the Credit Agreement
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In conjunction with the PSA, on April 21, 2015, the Company entered into an amendment (the “Fourth Amendment”) to
the Credit Agreement, with the other Borrowers and the Lender. Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, the borrowing
base was decreased from $27.8 million to $12.4 million, effective as of April 21, 2015, and the commitment amount
was decreased to $12.4 million. In addition, the monthly commitment reduction amount was set to $0 as of April 1,
2015.

The Company has evaluated its subsequent events through the date of the financial statements that were available for
filing with the SEC.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: May 19, 2015

CROSS BORDER
RESOURCES, INC.

By:/s/ Earl M. Sebring
Earl M. Sebring
Interim President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Alan W. Barksdale Chairman of the Board of Directors May 19, 2015
Alan W. Barksdale

/s/ Earl M. Sebring Interim President May 19, 2015
Earl M. Sebring (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Kenneth S. Lamb Chief Accounting Officer, Secretary, and Treasurer May 19, 2015
Kenneth S. Lamb (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Paul N. Vassilakos Director May 19, 2015
Paul N. Vassilakos

/s/ Richard F. LaRoche, Jr. Director May 19, 2015
Richard F. LaRoche, Jr.

/s/ John W. Hawkins Director May 19, 2015
John W. Hawkins
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
No. Name of Exhibit

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger entered into on December 2, 2010 among Doral Energy Corp., Doral
Acquisition Corp., Pure Gas Partners II, L.P. and Pure Energy Group, Inc. (14)

2.2
Agreement and Plan of Merger entered into on December 24, 2010 between Doral Acquisition Corp. (as
subsidiary merging entity) and Doral Energy Corp. (as parent surviving entity) with the surviving entity
changing its name to Cross Border Resources, Inc. (16)

3.1 Articles of Incorporation. (1)

3.2 Certificate of Change Pursuant to NRS 78.209 increasing the authorized capital of common stock to
2,500,000,000 shares, par value $0.001 per share (25-for-1 Stock Split). (3)

3.3 Articles of Merger between Language Enterprises Corp. (as surviving entity) and Doral Energy Corp. (as
merging entity). (4)

3.4 Certificate of Change Pursuant to NRS 78.209 decreasing the authorized capital of common stock to
400,000,000 shares, par value $0.001 per share (1-for-6.25 Reverse Split). (5)

3.5 Certificate of Change Pursuant to NRS 78.209 increasing the authorized capital of common stock to
2,000,000,000 shares, par value $0.001 per share (5-for-1 Stock Split). (6)

3.6 Certificate of Change Pursuant to NRS 78.209 decreasing the authorized capital of common stock to
36,363,637 shares, par value $0.001 per share (1-for-55 Stock Split). (15)

3.7 Certificate of Merger between Doral Acquisition Corp. (as merging entity) and Doral Energy Corp. (as
surviving entity). (16)

3.8 Articles of Merger between Doral Acquisition Corp. (as merging entity) and Doral Energy Corp. (as
surviving entity). (16)

3.9 Amended and Restated Bylaws as amended by Amendments No. 1 and No. 2.
4.1 Trust Indenture of Pure Energy Group, Inc. and Pure Gas Partners II, L.P. assumed by the Company. (16)
4.2 Form of Common Stock Warrant. (23)

10.1 Loan and Cancellation of Convertible Note Agreement between Doral Energy Corp. and Edward Ajootian
dated March 3, 2010. (7)

10.2 Debt Settlement Agreement with War Chest Multi-Strategy Fund, LLC dated March 8, 2010. (7)

10.3 Amendment Agreement dated March 12, 2010 to Debt Settlement Agreement with War Chest Multi-
Strategy Fund, LLC. (7)

10.4 Release and Settlement Agreement between Doral Energy Corp. and Macquarie Bank Limited dated March
8, 2010. (7)

10.5 Purchase and Sale Agreement dated April 30, 2010 between Doral Energy Corp. and Alamo Resources LLC.
(8)

10.6 Purchase and Sale Agreement dated June 14, 2010 between Doral Energy Corp., John R. Stearns and John
R. Stearns Jr. (9)

10.7 Amended and Restated 2009 Stock Incentive Plan. (10)

10.8 Debt Settlement Agreement dated September 16, 2010 between the Company and War Chest Multi- Strategy
Fund, LLC. (11)

10.9 Debt Settlement Agreement dated September 16, 2010 between the Company and Barclay Lyons, LLC. (11)
10.10† Separation Agreement dated June 15, 2010 between Doral Energy Corp. and H. Patrick Seale. (12)

10.11† Debt Settlement Agreement dated November 24, 2010 between the Company and WS Oil & Gas Limited.
(13)

10.12
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Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between Cross Border Resources, Inc. and Texas Capital Bank,
N.A. dated January 31, 2011. (18)

10.13† Employment Agreement with Everett Willard “Will” Gray II. (19)
10.14† Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement with Everett Willard “Will” Gray II. (19)
10.15† Employment Agreement with Lawrence J. Risley. (19)
10.16† Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement with Lawrence J. Risley. (19)
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10.17†Employment Agreement with P. Mark Stark.  (19)
10.18†Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement with P. Mark Stark.  (19)
10.19†Consulting Agreement with BDR, Inc. (19)
10.20†Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement with BDR, Inc. (19)
10.21 Loan Agreement by and between Green Shoe Investments Ltd. and the Company.  (20)
10.22 Promissory Note to Green Shoe Investments Ltd.  (20)
10.23 Loan Agreement by and between Little Bay Consulting SA and the Company.  (20)
10.24 Promissory Note to Little Bay Consulting SA. (20)
10.25†Separation Agreement and Release with BDR, Inc.  (22)

10.26 Consent Waiver and First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Texas Capital Bank,
N.A. (25)

10.27†First Amendment to Employment Agreement with Everett Willard “Will” Gray II.  (25)
10.28†First Amendment to Employment Agreement with Lawrence J. Risley.  (25)
10.29†Letter Agreement with Nancy S. Stephenson.  (25)
10.30 Letter Agreement with American Standard Energy Corp.  (21)

10.31
Senior First Lien Secured Credit Agreement, dated February 5, 2013, among Cross Border Resources, Inc., Red
Mountain Resources, Inc., Black Rock Capital, Inc. and RMR Operating, LLC, as borrowers, and Independent
Bank, as lender (*) (26)

10.32
Amendment and Waiver, effective as of September 12, 2013, by and among Independent Bank, as Lender, and
Red Mountain Resources, Inc., Cross Border Resources, Inc., Black Rock Capital, Inc. and RMR Operating,
LLC, as Borrowers. (*)

10.33
Amendment and Waiver, effective as of March 1, 2015, by and among Independent Bank, as Lender, and Red
Mountain Resources, Inc., Cross Border Resources, Inc., Black Rock Capital, Inc. and RMR Operating, LLC, as
Borrowers. (*) (27)

10.34
Amendment, effective as of April 21, 2015, by and among Independent Bank, as Lender, and Red Mountain
Resources, Inc., Cross Border Resources, Inc., Black Rock Capital, Inc. and RMR Operating, LLC, as
Borrowers. (*) (27)

21.1 List of Subsidiaries.  (23)
23.1 Consent of Darilek, Butler & Associates PLLC. 
23.3 Consent of Engineering Firm
24.1 Power of Attorney (included in signature block to this Annual Report on Form 10-K).
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  (*)
31.2 Certification of Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  (*)

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  (*)

32.2 Certification of Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

99.1* Evaluation of Oil and Gas Reserves of Cross Border Resources, Inc., Effective Date: January 1, 2015.  (*)
(1) Filed as an exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form SB-2 filed on September 11, 2006.

(2) Filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the year ended July 31, 2007 filed on October 30,
2007.

(3) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 9, 2008.
(4) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 28, 2008.
(5) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2009.
(6) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 14, 2009.

Edgar Filing: CROSS BORDER RESOURCES, INC. - Form 10-K

147



(7) Filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on March 22, 2010.
(8) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 6, 2010.
(9) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 18, 2010.
(10) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 30, 2010.
(11) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 1, 2010.
(12) Filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on November 15, 2010.
(13) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 1, 2010.
(14) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 6, 2010.
(15) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 29, 2010.
(16) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 7, 2011.
(17) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 19, 2011.
(18) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8, 2011.
(19) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 25, 2011.
(20) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 28, 2011.
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(21) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 23, 2011.
(22) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 3, 2011.
(23) Filed as an exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form S-1/A on August 2, 2011.
(24) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 16, 2011.
(25) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 6, 2012.
(26) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 11, 2013
(27) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 28, 2015

101.INS**
XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH**
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL**
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF**
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB**
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.

† Indicates a compensation contract or arrangement with management.

Edgar Filing: CROSS BORDER RESOURCES, INC. - Form 10-K

149


